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Key figures at year-end 2014 2013
KZT mln US$ mln* KZT mln US$ mln*

Loans to customers 1,648,013 9,038 1,482,245 9,621
Total assets 2,809,782 15,406 2,506,414 16,269
Amounts due to customers 1,848,213 10,136 1,766,648 11,467
Debt securities issued 311,009 1,706 189,515 1,230
Amounts due to credit institutions 107,192 588 107,395 697
Total equity 475,221 2,606 392,179 2,546

Key figures 2014 2013
KZT mln US$ mln** KZT mln US$ mln**

Net interest income 125,748 702 80,610 530
Fees and commissions, net 50,079 279 44,267 291
Operating expenses (62,410) (349) (54,820) (360)
Net income 114,377 638 72,409 476

Key ratios 2014 2013
Return on average common equity 27.1% 20.8%
Return on average assets 4.1% 2.9%
Net interest margin 5.8% 4.9%
Net interest spread 5.7% 4.8%
Cost-to-income 29.6% 31.4%
Cost-to-assets 2.2% 2.2%
Tier 1 capital adequacy ratio (BIS guidelines) 20.4% 17.2%
Total capital adequacy ratio (BIS guidelines) 21.0% 18.5%

Financial highlights

* Calculated using the official National Bank of Kazakhstan rate on the corresponding date 
** Calculated using the official National Bank of Kazakhstan rate for the corresponding period
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Distribution network

Halyk Bank 537 outlets, including:
22 regional branches
122 local branches
54 personal service centres
4 VIP centres
335 cash settlement units

2,270 ATMs
16,982 POS terminals
584 multi-service kiosks

Kazakhinstrakh 18 branches
231 points of sale

Halyk-Life 16 branches
Halyk Leasing 1 branch
Halyk Inkassatsiya 18 branch, 36 outlets
Altyn Bank 7 outlets, including: 

4 branches
3 cash settlement units 

Halyk Bank Kyrgyzstan 9 branches, 17 outlets
8 cash settlement units

Halyk Bank Georgia 5 branches
NBK Bank 1 branch

As of 31 December 2014, Halyk Group had 10,984 full-time equivalent employees.

Key figures 2014 2013
Retail accounts, mln 8.8 8.8
Corporate clients 1,521 1,488
SME clients 58,432 61,235
Payment cards, mln 4.7 4.3
Retail loans, mln 0.55 0.55
Mortgage loans 20,623 20,336
Consumer loans issued as part of payroll programmes, mln 0.52 0.52
Other consumer loans 12,982 12,984
Plastic cards of payroll programme customers (individuals), mln 2.4 2.1
Payroll programme customers (legal entities, including public organisations) 22,483 20,255
Internet banking users
- individuals 
- legal entities

442,439
14,074

194,000
11,999

Number of customers/accounts at year-end
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* (1) On 31 December 2014, the Board of Directors of Halyk Bank voted to voluntarily liquidate the subsidiary Halyk Pension Fund, registered at 96/98 Zheltoksan  
Street, Almaty.

(2) Following the decision by the Board of Directors of Halyk Bank on 30 September 2014 to voluntarily liquidate the subsidiary HSBK (Europe) B.V., in the Netherlands, on 23 
December 2014, HSBK (Europe) B.V. was removed from the Trade Register of the Netherlands Chamber of Commerce (the liquidation process took place from 9 October 
2014 to 23 December 2014).

International Credit Ratings of Halyk Bank as of 1 January 2015

Agency Long-term rating Outlook
Moody’s Investor Services Ba2 Stable
Fitch Ratings BB Stable
Standard & Poor’s BB+ Stable

Structure of Halyk Group*

Halyk Bank

NBK Bank, Russia Halyk Bank Kyrgyzstan

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100% 100% 100% 100%

Halyk Bank Georgia Altyn Bank

Halyk Leasing
(leasing)

Halyk Life
(life insurance)

Kazakhinstrakh
(insurance)

Halyk Finance
(brokerage and asset management)

Kazteleport
(telecommunications)

Halyk Inkassatsiya
(cash collection services)

Halyk-Project
(distressed asset management)

Halyk Pension Fund
 (undergoing liquidation)*
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Shareholders of Halyk Bank with at least 5% of shares issued as of 31 December 20141 

No Name Total shares
Proportion of 
total shares 
in circulation

Common shares
Proportion of 
common shares 
in circulation

Preferred shares
Proportion of 
preferred shares 
in circulation

1 Holding Group ALMEX 8,024,149,068 72.3% 8,003,381,500 73.4% 20,767,568 11.0%

2 Single Accumulated Pension Fund 869,738,261 7.8% 710,233,299 6.5% 159,504,962 84.3%
3 GDRs (ISIN: US46627J3023, US46627J2033) 1,848,929,480 16.7% 1,848,929,480 17.0% - -

4 Total shares issued 11,518,603,103 - 11,128,518,451 - 390,084,652 -

5 Shares bought back by the Bank (413,594,260) - (217,361,861) - (196,232,399) -

6 Shares retained by companies in the Group (5,947,785) - (1,257,877) - (4,689,908) -

7 Total shares in circulation (consolidated basis, EPS) 11,099,061,058 - 10,909,898,713 - 189,162,345 -

“Holding Group ALMEX” (“ALMEX”) is a holding company that, in addition to its con-
trolling interest in the Bank, has an interest in “Insurance broker AON Kazakhstan”.

The Single Accumulated Pension Fund (“SAPF”) collects obligatory pension pay-
ments, obligatory professional pension payments and voluntary pension payments 
and disburses pension payments and is one of the leading institutional investors 
on the Kazakhstan stock market. Its assets are held, accounted and managed by 
the National Bank of the Republic of Kazakhstan.

The sole shareholder of the SAPF is the State Property and Privatisation Committee 
of the Ministry of Finance of Kazakhstan (100%).

In line with the national pension reform, whereby the SAPF assumed responsibili-
ty for managing pensions in Kazakhstan, the assets and liabilities of accumulation 
pension funds were transferred in accordance with the timeframe and procedures 
stipulated in the corresponding legislation.

1Shares of the Bank have been listed on the Kazakhstan Stock Exchange since 1998 and common shares in the form of global depositary receipts on the London Stock 
Exchange since 2006.
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Solid financial position

•	 High level of capitalisation (according to BIS guide-
lines): Tier 1 capital adequacy ratio of 20.4% and total 
capital adequacy ratio of 21.0%

•	 Sufficient liquidity: liquid assets to total assets ratio 
of 25.6%

•	 High-quality funding base: loans to deposits ratio of 
89.2%

•	 Sufficient provisioning: the share of non-perform-
ing loans (overdue by 90 days or more) has been 
reduced to 11.9% and the provision coverage ratio 
is 114.6%

•	 Highest long-term credit ratings among second-tier 
Kazakh banks with no major overseas shareholders:

 — Moody’s Investor Services – Ba2
 — Fitch Ratings – BB
 — Standard & Poor’s – BB+

Systemically important financial group in Kazakhstan 
with a strong market position

•	 High-quality assets, rising profitability, high level of 
capitalisation

•	 Kazakhstan’s leading universal financial group, with 
the largest client base and branch network in the 
country

•	 The leader in terms of total equity, retail deposits, 
retail current accounts, net income, payment cards, 
portfolio of letters of credit and guarantees, and pay-
roll programmes

•	 Active participant in government business-support 
programmes

Market share

•	 Largest branch network, with 537 outlets, 2,270 ATMs 
and 16,982 POS terminals

•	 Market share among second-tier banks is 20.4% of 
retail deposits, 19.1% of term deposits and 32.7% of 
demand deposits

•	 Share of the retail lending market is 13.2%

•	 Share of total cards issued is 47.6%

Solid and low-cost funding base

•	 ‘Safe haven’ for deposits during a crisis

•	 One of the lowest deposit rates among second-tier 
banks

•	 79.2% of the funding base consists of deposits, of 
which 38.0% pay 0% interest

•	 13.3% of total liabilities are debt securities on which 
no major repayments are due until 2017

Diversified sources of income and high cost efficiency 
ratio

•	 High profitability is supported by diversified stream 
of commission income, which generated 22.0% of 
total revenues in 2014

•	 Strict control of operating expenses: cost to income 
ratio of 29.6%
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Dear shareholders,

In 2014, a whole host of events affected the market 
in Kazakhstan, including structural imbalances in the 
global economy, the situation in Ukraine, the sanctions 
relating to Russia, and the devaluation of the Russian ru-
ble. There was also the tenge devaluation in February 
and the fall in prices for traditional exports that gener-
ate revenues for Kazakhstan's budget: oil dropped be-
low US$50 a barrel and prices of nonferrous and ferrous 
metals declined. The National Bank's fixed rate for the 
tenge partly added to the losses of Kazakh producers, 
given the deteriorating trading conditions and sectoral 
sanctions against Russia.

The fiscal policy was more countercyclical. Thanks to the 
National Fund, the government was able to adjust the 
budget for 2015-17, smoothing the effect of expected 
lower fiscal revenues. Amid falling demand, despite the 
tenge devaluation early in the year, inflation remained 
in the target range, at 7.4%. Loan growth slowed mark-
edly, to 7.2%, or 1.4% taking into account the devalua-
tion. While pressure on the national currency caused 
funding conditions to deteriorate, it also acted as a cat-
alyst for changes in monetary policy, whereby new in-
struments for stabilising interest rates appeared. In 2014 
overall, national GDP growth decelerated to 4.3%.

During 2014, the transfer of pension assets into the 
Single Accumulation Pension Fund was completed, a 
new “Concept for Developing the Financial Sector of 
Kazakhstan Through 2030” was devised, and consolida-
tion intensified in the banking sector.

Halyk Bank was involved in this process. In 2014, we 
completed the acquisition of the Kazakh subsidiary of 
HSBC Bank plc, rebranding it with a new name, Altyn 
Bank. The transaction was unique, marking the first 
time that a Kazakh bank had concluded such a deal 
with a high-profile international bank. 

Overall, despite the external environment, the Group 
delivered solid results for 2014. We increased our loan 
portfolio and improved our indicators for non-per-
forming loans (NPLs). Over the year, we reduced the 
share of NPLs overdue by 90 days or more (NPL 90+) 
from 16.3% to 11.9%, in accordance with the rec-
ommendations of the National Bank of Kazakhstan. 
Halyk-Project, a subsidiary that specialises in working 
with problem loans, came into full force. Particular em-
phasis was placed on providing a personal service to 
each problem borrower. As matters stand, there is no 
cause for concern about the quality of our loan port-
folio, as it is well provisioned.

Thanks to the successful work of the management 
team, the Group made significant achievements in 
many areas of the business; reported net income of 
more than KZT114 billion (some US$636 million), which 
is unprecedented for Kazakhstan’s banking sector; and 
reinforced its market positions. Halyk Bank remains the 
sector leader in terms of net income, retail current ac-
counts and deposits, and total equity. We are the larg-
est provider of foreign currency banknotes nationwide 
and the only second-tier bank that does so in some 
regions.

In 2014, the Group remained actively involved in var-
ious government business-support programmes. 
At the year-end, our portfolio of loans to our clients 
participating in such programmes totalled more than 
KZT177 billion.

Over the year, we moved to expand our network con-
siderably, opening a new regional branch in Pavlodar 
and beginning construction of a new office in South-
ern Kazakhstan.
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In addition, we began an international project with 
UnionPay International (UPI, China) to launch co-brand-
ed payment cards: Altyn UnionPay and Altyn UnionPay 
Gold. They are unique in uniting the brands of local 
and international payment systems, Altyn and Union-
Pay. The cards can be used in all ATMs of Kazakh and 
overseas banks that are part of the UPI system.

Two developments of particular significance were the 
decisions by rating agencies Fitch Ratings and Stan-
dard & Poor’s to raise Halyk Bank’s ratings, confirming 
the success of the Group’s strategy.

The strong net income and the solid results of 2014 in 
general enabled the Bank to fulfil its pledge to share-
holders and adhere to the dividend policy approved 
by the Board of Directors.

From 2015, amid growing competition in the banking 
sector, second-tier banks face increasing capital ade-
quacy and various other requirements in accordance 
with the Basel III guidelines. We will need to adapt to 
and operate in these conditions, while maintaining our 
ambitious strategic objectives for the future.

Our main aims for this year are to take concrete steps to 
strengthen the balance sheet and ensure loan growth 
in all areas of our business – including the corporate, 
SME and retail segments – of at least 10% a year. The 
Bank will remain active in government programmes 
to support SMEs. In retail, we will focus on developing 
and expanding remote sales channels and rolling out a 
new branch format that takes into account the various 
business segments and client types.

Customers have ever-greater needs for high-quality 
service, standards and high-tech financial services, and 
this shapes the objectives and targets that we are set-
ting for our subsidiaries.

In 2015, we aim to approve a Group-wide development 
strategy for 2016-18 and to begin preparations for im-
plementing it. As the leading universal bank in Kazakh-
stan, the expansion of each of the Group’s business di-
visions is vital.

The priority for the new addition to the Group, Altyn 
Bank, is to retain and attract clients used to Western-style 
banking. Given the existing client base, the subsidiary 
will focus on private and internet banking and will pi-
lot new, innovative banking technologies and services, 
which will then be rolled out across the Group.

Despite the difficult market environment, we will chan-
nel our efforts into expanding our subsidiaries in Russia, 
Georgia and Kyrgyzstan, which reported decent results 
for 2014, including net income. Given the ongoing inte-
gration of the Eurasian Economic Union, we will focus 
particularly closely on developing our business in Rus-
sia and Kyrgyzstan.

In 2014, the insurance market awaited major legislative 
changes. In 2015, the Group will undertake efforts to de-
velop its insurance subsidiaries: Kazakhinstrakh, which 
will continue to expand its retail business, and Halyk 
Life, which will concentrate on savings life insurance 
products.

As a leader of Kazakhstan’s investment banking sector, 
Halyk Finance will play an active role in expanding its 
range of services on the stock market, including broker-
age, asset management, market research and analysis, 
consulting and underwriting.

We intend to exploit the capabilities of the Kazteleport 
subsidiary, which provides financial automation and 
telecommunications services. We are also expanding 
the facilities and resources of Halyk Inkassatsiya to focus 
on developing the core business, primarily by attracting 

third-party clients and providing secure cash transpor-
tation services.

Overall, the Group will invest more in employee de-
velopment, training and education, the development 
and upgrade of its facilities, and the refinement and 
rearrangement of its branch network. These measures 
will drive business growth and enhance service quality 
across all of our subsidiaries.

The Group will remain committed to supporting a 
wide range of social responsibility initiatives. Last year 
alone, we allocated more than KZT570 million for 
various social projects. The funds helped to support 
sponsored orphanages, specialist organisations, talent-
ed students, and veterans’ and health care organisa-
tions, as well as to promote culture, business and sport 
among the population. In particular, we sponsored 
the Atameken Startup business-ideas competition, the 
Dos Mukasan music group, the Astana Opera theatre, 
the Ayala fund, and many others.

Through the management team’s efforts, and the 
close and productive relationships with shareholders, 
investors, rating agencies, analysts and clients, I have 
every confidence that Halyk Group will achieve its ob-
jectives successfully.

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I would like to 
thank our shareholders, colleagues and partners for 
their fruitful cooperation, trust, understanding and 
support of the Group’s strategic development plans.

Alexander Pavlov
Chairman of the Board of Directors
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Dear shareholders, investors and partners,

I am pleased to present Halyk Group's annual report  
for 2014.

Last year was one of many challenges. The tenge deval-
uation in February had a significant impact on the mar-
ket. After the merger of pension assets into the Single 
Accumulated Pension Fund was completed, trading on 
the Kazakh stock market declined, as the institutional 
investor pool had shrunk substantially. In addition, con-
solidation in the banking sector continued, there was 
turbulence on global markets, and sanctions were im-
posed on Russia, Kazakhstan’s main trading partner in 
the Eurasian Economic Union (EEU). Together with the 
slump in prices of our traditional exports and a poor 
harvest, all of these factors affected Kazakhstan’s GDP 
growth and financial system.

In this difficult external environment, and amid the on-
going contraction and monopolisation in some seg-
ments of Kazakhstan’s financial market, Halyk Group 
again proved its ability to perform. Concentrating our 
efforts on the objectives laid out in our medium-term 
development strategy, we delivered outstanding results.

The Group made two outstanding achievements in 
2014. The first was the acquisition of 100% of HSBC Bank 
plc’s Kazakh subsidiary, which we rebranded as Altyn 
Bank. This complex transaction involved a great deal of 

effort by a specially created internal team of experts in 
line with international standards. The second achieve-
ment was to strengthen the partnership with Union-
PayInternational (UPI), the international division of the 
China Union Pay (CUP) transaction system, which led 
to the launch of co-branded payment cards, Altyn 
Union Pay and Altyn Union Pay Gold.

Throughout the year, Halyk Bank continued lending ac-
tively in the SME segment as part of joint business-sup-
port programmes with the government. We made 
available in full and on time all of the funds allocated 
through the government scheme to support SMEs in 
the processing industry, becoming the leading partic-
ipant in terms of projects financed. We signed a mem-
orandum of cooperation with the National Chamber 
of Entrepreneurs of Kazakhstan. Over six months, we 
organised various regional events to raise awareness in 
the business community about the wealth of possibil-
ities presented by the government SME programmes 
and the ease of accessing them. Overall, at the year-
end, our portfolio of loans to private businesses in-
volved in such programmes exceeded KZT 177 billion.
Thanks to a clearly defined strategy, considered and 
realistic objectives, and the professional work of the 
whole team, Halyk Group generated net income of 
more than KZT114 billion (some US$636 million), a re-
cord in the Kazakh banking sector.
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The Bank’s achievements last year received recogni-
tion from more than one international rating agency. 
In January, Fitch Ratings upgraded its long-term issuer 
default rating to ‘BB’. In July, Standard & Poor’s also up-
graded its long-term credit rating from ‘BB’ to ‘BB+’. Cur-
rently, these are among the highest ratings awarded to 
second-tier banks (with no major overseas sharehold-
ers) in Kazakhstan. They reconfirm our leadership in the 
domestic banking sector and underscore our solid po-
sitions and stability amid various external factors.

At the same time, we fully understand that our achieve-
ments are not grounds for resting on our laurels. Like 
any other commercial financial organisation, we are 
operating in rapidly changing macroeconomic con-

ditions, particularly given the somewhat unfavourable 
outlook for the Kazakh economy this year. For 2015, the 
European Bank for Reconstruction and Development 
forecasts GDP growth of just 1.5%.

In this light, while pursuing its business this year, the 
Group will need to take into account Kazakhstan’s 
EEU membership, the low oil prices, the tenge liquidi-
ty shortage, and the growing pressure from the Russia 
sanctions.

As a major business pursuing stable growth, we un-
derstand clearly the need to adapt as we expand. As 
the leading financial group in Kazakhstan, we intend 
to offer our clients a comprehensive range of banking 

and other financial products and services, as well as 
develop new ones based on cutting-edge IT solutions. 
Given our new flexible and modern strategies, existing 
base, underlying strength and capitalisation, I believe 
that we can achieve this goal.

By pursuing all of our plans, and with the support of 
our clients, partners and shareholders, I am confident 
that the Bank will succeed in meeting all of its objec-
tives and reconfirm its vast capabilities and reputation 
as the leader of Kazakhstan’s financial industry.

Umut Shayakhmetova
Chairperson of the Management Board
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Alexander Pavlov (b. 1953)
Chairman, Independent Director

Mr. Pavlov was appointed Chairman of the Board in 
March 2004. Between 1994 and 2000, he was Minis-
ter of Finance, then Deputy Prime Minister, and finally 
First Deputy Prime Minister of the Republic of Kazakh-
stan. From 2000 to 2002, he was Vice Chairman of the 
Management Board and Vice Chairman of the Board 
of Directors of copper mining company Kazakhmys. 
Between 2002 and 2004, he was First Deputy Prime 
Minister of the Republic of Kazakhstan. From 2006 to 
2008, Mr. Pavlov was a member of the Board of Direc-
tors of Kazakhstan Holding for Management of State 
Assets “Samruk”. Mr. Pavlov is a graduate of the Belarus 
State Institute of People’s Economy, where he special-
ised in economics and of Academy for social sciences 
at the Central Committee of the Communist Party of 
the USSR where he specialised in political sciences. He 
is an honorary professor at Karaganda State University.

Ulf Wokurka (b. 1962)
Independent Director

Mr. Wokurka was appointed to the Board in April 2011. 
Between 1990 and 1999, he held various positions both 
in the head office and foreign offices of Deutsche Bank. 
From 2006 to 2008, Mr. Wokurka was Deputy CEO and 
CFO of Kazakhstan Holding for Management of State 
Assets “Samruk” and Chairman of the Board of Directors 
of Kazpochta. From 2007, Mr. Wokurka has been a mem-
ber of the Board of Directors and Independent Director 
of Kazyna Capital Management, as well as a member 
of the Kazakhstan Independent Directors Association. 
From 2008 to 2010, he served as Managing Director of 
Metzler Asset Management, Frankfurt-am-Main, and 
Independent Director of the Board of Directors of BTA 
Bank. In 2010, Mr. Wokurka was appointed a Manag-
ing Director of Deutsche Bank, Frankfurt-am-Main and 
head of Deutsche Bank’s representative office in Ka-
zakhstan; in the same year, he was elected a member of 
the Board of Directors of Sekerbank T.A.S., Turkey. Since 
June 2012, Mr. Wokurka has been Independent Direc-
tor of National Investment Corporation of the National 
Bank of Kazakhstan. He graduated from Martin Luther 
University (Germany) and Moscow State Institute of In-
ternational Relations.

Arman Dunaev (b. 1966)
Independent Director

Mr. Dunaev was appointed to the Board in September 
2013. From June 2003 to March 2004, he was the Chair-
man of the Management Board of National Innovation 
Fund. From March 2004 to April 2004, he was the First 
Deputy Minister of Finance of the Republic of Kazakh-
stan. From April 2004 to January 2006, he was the Min-
ister of Finance of the Republic of Kazakhstan. From 
January 2006 to January 2008, he was the Chairman 
of the Agency of the Republic of Kazakhstan for Reg-
ulation and Supervision of the Financial Market and Fi-
nancial Organisations. From January 2008 to October 
2008, he was the Chairman of the Board of Sustainable 
Development Fund Kazyna. From November 2008 to 
May 2011, he was the Deputy CEO of Sovereign Wealth 
Fund Samruk-Kazyna. From December 2011 to Febru-
ary 2012, he was the Adviser to the CEO of Sovereign 
Wealth Fund Samruk-Kazyna. From November 2014, 
Mr. Dunaev was appointed the Chairman of the Board 
of Altyn Bank. Mr. Dunaev is a graduate of Kazakh State 
University named after S. Kirov with a degree in po-
litical economy and Moscow State University named 
after M. Lomonosov with a Ph.D. degree.
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Franciscus Cornelis Wilhelmus  
(Frank) Kuijlaars (b. 1958)
Independent Director

Mr. Kuijlaars was appointed to the Board in April 2009. From 1990 to 2007, Mr. Kuijlaars 
served at ABN AMRO Bank and later at RBS as a Head of Corporate and Investment 
Banking in Belgium, Regional Manager in Brazil and Country Manager in Russia and 
Argentina. Mr. Kuijlaars was a Member of the Supervisory Board in Russia, Kazakh-
stan and Uzbekistan. After his appointment as Corporate Executive Vice President 
in 2001, in addition to supervision of global energy issues, he was a member of 
the Executive Committees of the countries of Europe, Central and Eastern Europe, 
the Middle East and Africa, as well as a member of the Corporate and Investment 
Banking Committee. He is an adviser to several international organisations, and for 
a long time was a member of the Foreign Investor Council of the President of the 
Republic of Kazakhstan. Since 2006, Mr. Kuijlaars has been an Independent Director 
and member of the Board of Directors and from March 2014, Chairman of the Board 
of Directors of National Company KazMunayGas. Mr. Kuijlaars received a Masters 
degree in Law from Erasmus University, Rotterdam, the Netherlands. He studied at 
the Dutch Institute of Banks and Insurance Companies and studied in a number 
of postgraduate programs in such international institutions as the Fontainebleau 
(France), Cambridge (UK) and Harvard Business School (US).

Mazhit Yessenbayev (b. 1949)
Member of the Board of Directors, Representative of Holding Group ALMEX

Mr. Yessenbayev was appointed to the Board in April 2014. From October 1972 to Novem-
ber 1975, he was an economist at the Economic Research Institute, part of the State Plan-
ning Committee of the Kazakh SSR. From January 1979 to September 1981, he held various 
positions at Karaganda Pedagogical Institute. Mr. Yessenbayev served in various positions 
on the Karaganda Regional Executive Committee from August 1989 to February 1992 and 
then Karaganda Regional Administration from February 1992 to December 1994. From De-
cember 1994 to July 1997 he held various positions in State tax authorities. From July 1997 to 
October 1999, he served as the Governor of Karaganda Region. From October 1999 to Janu-
ary 2002, he was Minister of Finance of the Republic of Kazakhstan. From November 1999 to 
September 2002, he was a Director for Kazakhstan at the Islamic Development Bank. From 
November 1999 to September 2002, he was a Member of the Board of the National Bank 
of Kazakhstan. From January to August 2002, he served as Minister of Economy and Trade 
of the Republic of Kazakhstan; and from August 2002 to March 2004, as Minister of Industry 
and Trade of the Republic of Kazakhstan. From July 2003 to March 2004, Mr. Yessenbayev 
was an Adviser to the President of the Republic of Kazakhstan. From March 2004 to Janu-
ary 2008, he was the Governor of Akmola Region. From January 2008 to February 2012, he 
was Chairman of the Agency for Protection of Competition of the Republic of Kazakhstan. 
From February 2012 to September 2013, he served as Chairman of the Customs Control 
Committee of the Ministry of Finance of the Republic of Kazakhstan. From November 2013 
to February 2014, he was Adviser to the Chairman of the Board of Directors and General 
Representative of Halyk Bank. In February 2014, he became Chairman of the Management 
Board and a Member of the Board of Directors of Holding Group ALMEX. Mr. Yessenbayev 
graduated from the Kazakh Polytechnic Institute named after V.I. Lenin with a degree in 
Economics and Mining Industry.
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Christof Ruehl (b. 1958)
Independent Director

Mr. Ruehl was appointed to the Board in June 2007. He previously worked at the 
University of California, Los Angeles, where he was an Assistant Professor of Eco-
nomics. From 1998 to 2005, he worked for the World Bank Group, as Senior Econ-
omist in Washington from 1998 to 2001, Chief Economist in Moscow from 2001 to 
2004, and Lead Economist and Sector Leader in Brazil from 2004 to 2005. In 2005, 
he became Deputy Chief Economist of British Petroleum and in 2007 he became 
Group Chief Economist and Vice President of British Petroleum. In 2008, he be-
came Chairman of the British Institute of Energy Economics, London. In July 2014, 
Mr. Ruehl was appointed First Global Head of Research by Abu Dhabi Investment 
Authority. He holds an MBA from the University of Bremen, Germany.

Umut Shayakhmetova (b. 1969)
Member of the Board of Directors, Chairperson of the Management Board

Ms. Shayakhmetova was elected CEO of Halyk Bank in January 2009 and a member 
of the Board of Directors in April 2009. In 1997, she began working at ABN AMRO 
Bank Kazakhstan, where she held a number of positions in structured finance before 
becoming Chairperson of the Management Board of ABN AMRO Asset Manage-
ment in 1998 and, in 2000, Deputy Chairperson of the Management Board of ABN 
AMRO Bank Kazakhstan. She became Deputy Chairman of Halyk Bank in November 
2004. Ms. Shayakhmetova is an economics graduate of the University of People’s 
Friendship, Moscow, and holds an MBA from Rutgers University, New Jersey, US. 
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Umut Shayakhmetova (b. 1969)
Chairperson of the Management Board
See above

Marat Almenov (b. 1976)
Deputy Chairman: Retail Banking

Mr. Almenov started his career at Halyk Bank in 1997 as 
a corporate lending banker. He then held the positions 
of Risk Manager and Head of the Retail unit in the Credit 
Risk Department. In 2003, he served as Deputy Direc-
tor responsible for retail banking in the Astana regional 
branch of the Bank. Between 2004 and 2009, he was 
Deputy Director of the Retail Sales Department, Direc-
tor of the Retail Sales Support Department and Director 
of the Banking Products and Agency Services Depart-
ment. In 2009, he was appointed Director of the Almaty 
regional branch of the Bank. In June 2010, Mr. Almenov 
was appointed Deputy Chairman. He is an economics 
graduate of the Kazakh State Academy of Management.

Dauren Karabayev (b. 1978)
Deputy Chairman: International Activities, Treasury and 
Subsidiaries

Mr. Karabayev was appointed Deputy Chairman on 1 
March 2007. He has been working at the Bank since 
2004 and has held the positions of Managing Direc-
tor – Director of the Investment Banking and Interna-
tional departments. He previously held a number of 
positions in credit analysis and project finance at ABN 
AMRO Bank Kazakhstan from 2001 to 2004. Mr. Kara-
bayev is an economics graduate of the Kazakh State 
Academy of Management and holds an MBA from the 
University of Texas (US).
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Aliya Karpykova (b. 1970)
Deputy Chairperson: Finance, Accounting and Property

Ms. Karpykova has worked in the Kazakh banking sys-
tem since 1992. She held various positions in the Op-
erational Division and Accounting and Budget De-
partment of the National State Bank of the Republic 
of Kazakhstan and later became Deputy Head of the 
division for reform in second-tier banks. From 1996 to 
1997, Ms. Karpykova worked in Barents Group as an ad-
viser on a USAID project on accounting reform in the 
Kazakh banking system. From 1998 to 2001, she was 
Chief Accountant of Citibank Kazakhstan. From 2001 to 
2004, she was Managing Director and then First Depu-
ty Chairman of the Management Board of Nauryz Bank 
Kazakhstan. In 2004, she became Managing Director 
responsible for risk management at Halyk Bank, before 
becoming Head of Risk Management and then Finance 
Director of Halyk Bank. On 15 October 2011, she was 
appointed as Deputy Chairperson of Halyk Bank. Ms. 
Karpykova is a graduate of Al-Farabi Kazakh National 
University, where she specialised in political economy.

Murat Koshenov (b. 1973)
Deputy Chairman: Corporate Banking

Mr. Koshenov joined Halyk Bank in January 2010 as Chief 
Risk Officer and then became Compliance Controller. 
On 8 September 2014, he was appointed as Deputy 
Chairman in charge of Corporate Banking.
Mr. Koshenov has been working in the banking sector 
since 2000. Between 2000 and 2002, he was Head of 
Broker-Dealer Operations at ABN AMRO Asset Manage-
ment. From 2002 to 2010, he worked at SB ABN AMRO 
Bank Kazakhstan (later SB RBS (Kazakhstan)), first as Risk 
Manager, then as Head of the Risk Management Divi-
sion, before becoming Deputy Chairman of the Man-
agement Board.
In 1996, Mr. Koshenov graduated from the Al-Farabi 
Kazakh National University with a degree in Physics. In 
1998, he obtained an MBA from the Kazakhstan Institute 
of Economics, Management and Strategic Research.

Stanislav Kosobokov (b. 1978)
Deputy Chairman: SME Banking

Mr. Kosobokov started his career in 2000 in the Opera-
tional Division of the Almaty branch of Kazkommerts-
bank. In 2002, he joined Halyk Bank and worked as a 
manager and then senior manager of the Retail Sales 
Department and as Deputy Director – Head of Coordi-
nation of the Sales Channels Division of the Retail Sales 
Department. In 2006, he became Director of the Retail 
Sales Department. He was appointed Deputy Chair-
man in June 2010. Mr. Kosobokov is an economics grad-
uate of the Kazakh State Academy of Management.
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Askar Smagulov (b. 1975)
Deputy Chairman: Operations and IT

Mr. Smagulov started his career at ABN AMRO Bank 
Kazakhstan in 1998 and served as a Treasury Deal-
er, Head Dealer, Director of the Trade Division of the 
Treasury, and Director of the Treasury. In 2005, Mr. Sma-
gulov joined Halyk Bank as Director of the Treasury. In 
September 2007, he became Deputy Chairman of the 
Management Board. In November 2014, Mr. Smagulov 
was appointed a Chairman of the Management Board 
and was elected a member of the Management Board 
of Altyn Bank. Mr. Smagulov graduated from Al-Farabi 
Kazakh National University with a degree in econom-
ics. In 1998, he received an MBA from the William Si-
mon School of Business, University of Rochester (US).

Kozhamurat Uskimbayev (b. 1954)
Deputy Chairman: Security and Problem Loans

Major General Uskimbayev graduated from the Almaty 
School of Militia of the Ministry of Internal Affairs (MIA) 
of the USSR in 1980, from Karaganda High School of 
the MIA of the USSR in 1986, and from the Academy of 
the MIA of the USSR in 1991. In 1994, he was appoint-
ed Deputy Head of the Internal Affairs Department of 
Almaty. From 1995 to 2002, Major General Uskimbayev 
served in various positions in the MIA of the Republic 
of Kazakhstan. In 2002, he was appointed Head of the 
Internal Affairs Department of Aktobe Region. He has 
held the rank of Major General since 2003. That year, 
Major General Uskimbayev became Deputy Minister 
of Internal Affairs of the Republic of Kazakhstan. He 
has been Deputy Chairman of Halyk Bank since Sep-
tember 2007.

Zhannat Satubaldina (b. 1961)
Deputy Chairperson: Interactions with Large Companies

Ms. Satubaldina was appointed Deputy Chairperson of Halyk 
Bank on 1 July 2014. She started her career in 1982 as a Junior 
Associate in the Research Institute of Planning and Governance 
Process Automation, part of the State Planning Committee of 
the Kazakh SSR. From 1983 to 1986, she worked as a research 
assistant at Moscow State University. From 1987 to 1993, she 
worked in different positions at the Kazakh State Academy of 
Management (formerly Alma-Ata Institute of National Econ-
omy). From 1993 to 1994, Ms. Satubaldina was Head of the 
Planning Department and of the Depositary of Kazmetalbank. 
From 1994 to 1999, she held various positions at Metalinvest, 
investment privatisation fund. From 1999 to 2001, she worked 
at the National Securities Commission of the Republic of Ka-
zakhstan as Executive Director and Member of the Committee, 
and Head of Licensing and Supervision. From 2001 to 2002, Ms. 
Satubaldina was Deputy Director of the Department of Securi-
ties Market Regulation of the National Bank of Kazakhstan. From 
2002 to 2006, she held numerous positions at Kazakhstan Temir 
Zholy, the national railways operator, namely Finance Manag-
ing Director, Vice President and Chief Accountant. From 2006 
to 2007, she was Deputy CEO for Economics and Finance at 
KazTransOil, as well as a Member of the Board of Directors of 
Halyk Bank’s Accumulation Pension Fund and of North-West 
Pipeline Company MunaiTas. From 2007 to 2009, she served as 
Managing Director of National Company KazMunayGas and a 
Member of the Board of Directors of Exploration and Produc-
tion KazMunayGas and KazTransOil. From 2009 to 2014, Ms. Sat-
ubaldina was Deputy Finance Director and Deputy Director of 
KMG-Kashagan B.V. She is a graduate from Almaty Institute of 
People’s Economy and Moscow State University named after 
M. Lomonosov with Ph.D. degree.
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January

•	 Fitch Ratings upgraded its long-term issuer default rating for Halyk Bank from 
‘BB-’ to ‘BB’, the outlook ‘stable’.

•	 Expert RA Kazakhstan confirmed its credit rating for Kazakhinstrakh at A++ ‘Su-
perior’.

•	 As part of measures by Halyk Project, a subsidiary that specialises in managing 
distressed assets, to resuscitate some problem assets owned by Halyk Bank, a 
retail complex was opened in Almaty. This marked the subsidiary’s debut project 
to improve the quality of the Bank’s loan portfolio.

•	 A new Halyk Bank branch was opened at 144/99 Muratbayeva Street in Almaty. 
Members of the Management Board, clients and local people attended the cer-
emony.

March

•	 Halyk Bank began a campaign to attract deposits for education as part of the 
Government Education Savings System.

•	 Halyk Bank signed a memorandum of cooperation with the Court Funding De-
partment of the Supreme Court of the Republic of Kazakhstan. It details a plan 
for implementing the “Self-service Payment Network” project, as part of which a 
system for collecting administrative, state and other such fines through payment 
terminals will be launched in 2014-18.

April

•	 A.M. Best Europe - Rating Services Limited confirmed its financial strength rating 
of ‘B++’ (Good) and issuer credit rating of ‘bbb’ for Kazakhinstrakh.

•	 Halyk Bank, other second-tier banks and the Damu Entrepreneurship Develop-
ment Fund signed an agreement to allocate funds for subsequent lending to 
SMEs in the processing industry under the Damu Ondiris II programme.

•	 With the Board of Directors of the Bank reaching the end of its term, the Annu-
al General Meeting of Shareholders elected Arman Dunayev, Mazhit Yessenba-
yev, Christof Ruehl, Alexander Pavlov, Ulf Wokurka, Franciscus Cornelis Wilhelmus 
(Frank) Kuijlaars and Umut Shayakhmetova to the Board for three years.

June

•	 Halyk Bank announced that it had reduced the share of non-performing loans 
overdue by 90 days or more (NPL 90+) from 16.5% of the overall loan portfolio on 
1 May 2014 to 14.8% on 1 June 2014. This made Halyk Bank one of the first major 
Kazakh banks to reduce its NPL 90+ to less than 15%.

•	 Halyk Bank and the National Chamber of Entrepreneurs of Kazakhstan signed a 
memorandum of cooperation on providing consultancy services to SMEs.

July

•	 Zhannat Satubaldina was elected a Member of the Management Board of Halyk 
Bank.

•	 Standard & Poor’s upgraded its long-term credit rating for Halyk Bank from ‘BB’ to 
‘BB+’, the outlook ‘stable’.

•	 Fitch Ratings awarded Halyk Finance a long-term credit rating (foreign and na-
tional currency) of ‘BB’, the outlook ‘stable’, and a short-term credit rating of ‘B-3’, 
making it the first investment bank in Kazakhstan to receive an international credit 
rating.

•	 Halyk Bank opened a new building in its regional branch in Pavlodar.

September

•	 A new point of sale, Personal Service Centre 12, was opened in the Dostyk Plaza 
retail and entertainment complex in Almaty.

•	 A new point of sale, Personal Service Centre 13, was opened in the Mega Park 
Alma-Ata retail and entertainment complex in Almaty.
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•	 Saule Kishkimbayeva voluntarily tendered her resignation as Deputy Chairper-
son of the Management Board.

•	 Murat Koshenov was elected a Member of the Management Board, effective 8 
September.

October

•	 Halyk Bank and Kazakhstan Temir Zholy, the national railways operator, signed a 
memorandum on exchanging experience and knowledge in their sectors and 
providing organisational and IT support when carrying out joint projects.

•	 A new branch of Halyk Bank Georgia, named Gldani, was opened in Tbilisi.

•	 Halyk Bank Georgia announced the purchase of premises in Batumi.

November

•	 On 18 November, Halyk Bank placed its seventh bond issue, totalling KZT100 
billion, within the framework of its third bond programme.

•	 Halyk Bank and UnionPay International (UPI, China) began a joint project to 

launch unique co-branded payment cards, Altyn UnionPay and Altyn UnionPay 
Gold.

•	 Halyk Bank completed the transaction to acquire 100% of SB HSBC Bank Kazakh-
stan, HSBC Bank plc’s subsidiary in the country.

December

•	 HSBK (Europe) B.V. was removed from the Trade Register of the Netherlands Cham-
ber of Commerce due to its voluntary liquidation.

•	 In accordance with the minutes of the Extraordinary General Meeting of Share-
holders no. 35 of 5 December 2014, changes were made to the Charter, Corporate 
Governance Code and Regulations on the Board of Directors to align them with 
the requirements given in the Decree no. 29 of the National Bank of Kazakhstan, 
“On Approving the Rules for Creating a Risk Management and Internal Control 
System for Second-Tier Banks”, of 26 February 2014.

•	 On 31 December, the Board of Directors voted to voluntarily liquidate the subsid-
iary Accumulation Pension Fund of Halyk Bank of Kazakhstan. The period set was 
from 31 December to the full completion of all liquidation procedures, in accor-
dance with Kazakh legislation.
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January

•	 Halyk Bank won the “Best Local Bank 2013 Kazakhstan” nomination in the annual 
awards held by Global Financial Market Review, an international financial news 
portal.

•	 Halyk Finance came first in two prestigious Cbonds rankings of underwriters in 
2013:

 — For Eurobonds, following its four issues totalling US$1.2 billion in 2013

 — For investment banks that underwrite corporate bonds, following its eight 	
 issues totalling KZT66.8 billion in 2013.

•	 In international consultancy Brand Finance’s annual Banking 500 rating, Halyk 
Bank finished in 231st place, up from 334th place in the previous year, which 
confirms that it has reinforced its position as the leader of Kazakhstan’s banking 
sector in terms of business value.

February

•	 Halyk Finance won the “Best Corporate Bond in EMEA” category of international 
magazine EMEA Finance’s 2013 Achievement Awards.

•	 In awards held by the Damu Entrepreneurship Development Fund, Halyk Bank 
won “Best Bank” in two nominations:

 — for outstanding results in its subsidy programmes

 — for outstanding results in its loan guarantee programmes.

•	 Based on the results of a 2014 survey by international financial publication Global 
Finance, Halyk Finance won the “Best Investment Bank in Kazakhstan 2014” nomi-
nation, the third time that it has done so.

April

•	 Halyk Finance won the “Best Investment Bank in Kazakhstan” nomination in the 
“Europe Banking Awards 2013”, organised by EMEA Finance. This marked the 
fourth time in a row that it has won the title.

June

•	 In the Kazakhstan Stock Exchange (KASE) annual awards, Halyk Bank received an 
award for “Efforts to Ensure Transparency” in the “Listed Companies in the Finan-
cial Sector” category, as the leading financial group in Kazakhstan, for its positive 
reputation among international investors and experts, and for building its busi-
ness in accordance with principles of transparency.

July

•	 In the Cbonds ranking of underwriters in the first half of 2014, Halyk Finance came 
first in the “corporate sector” category for its four issues totalling KZT13.7 billion.

•	 In the Cbonds ranking of Eurobond organisers in the first half of 2014, Halyk Fi-
nance finished in the top 20, following its three issues totalling US$144 million, 
making it the only Kazakh investment bank to place in the ranking.

August

•	 In awards held by international financial publication Asian Banking & Finance, 
Halyk Bank won “Best Retail Bank in Kazakhstan in 2014”.

September

•	 In awards organised by Global Brands, Halyk Bank won “Best Leading Bank in Ka-
zakhstan in 2014”.

October

•	 In a global report by international publication Nilson Report called “Largest Pay-
ment Card Issuers and Merchant Acquirers”, Halyk Bank was again named the lead-
ing card issuer in Kazakhstan.

December

•	 In the second “Annual Report: Leaders’ Experiences and New Standards” confer-
ence organised by Expert RA Kazakhstan, Halyk Bank received a laureate diploma 
in the “Best Annual Report in the Financial Sector” nomination.
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Kazakhstan's economy

The external environment for the Kazakh economy was turbulent in 2014: the out-
look for the global economy deteriorated, geopolitical tension increased in the CIS, 
oil prices fell, the ruble devalued and the dollar strengthened.

As a result, Kazakhstan’s GDP grew by 4.3% in 2014, compared with 5.0-7.5% in 2010-
13. The country produced 80.8 million tonnes of oil in the year, and Kashagan is 
now expected to come on stream in 2017.

Kazakhstan's fiscal policy in 2014, % of GDP

Source: Ministry of Finance, HF estimates

In late 2014, the foreign-currency assets of the National Fund, which acts as a fiscal 
saving mechanism, began to decline, as oil revenues fell and more emergency 
withdrawals from the National Fund were made. During 2014, government bodies 
and development institutions allocated some KZT1.5 trillion for supporting eco-
nomic growth.

Assets of the National Fund, US$ bln

*Including assets in tenge
Source: Ministry of Finance, National Bank of Kazakhstan, Bloomberg, HF estimates

In February, the National Bank of Kazakhstan devalued the tenge by 19% to sup-
port the competitiveness of the Kazakh economy. Over the year, it made available 
non-market tenge funding instruments to banks. These included long-term cur-
rency swaps, backed by its own balance sheet, to transform foreign currency fund-
ing into tenge funding, tenge deposit auctions, and purchases of tenge bonds by 
the Single Accumulated Pension Fund (SAPF), managed by the National Bank of 
Kazakhstan.
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In 2014, Kazakhstan's external debt rose slightly overall. After falling early in the 
year as Alliance Bank was restructured again, the country's debt increased as the 
government, state-controlled companies and Eurasian Bank issued Eurobonds. In 
the autumn, the government sector placed US$4.0 billion in Eurobonds, including 
US$2.5 billion in sovereign Eurobonds. By the year-end, Kazakhstan's external debt 
equalled US$7.9 billion.

The budget had a deficit of KZT471 billion (1.2% of GDP), while internal and external 
government debt amounted to KZT31 billion (14.6% of GDP).
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In 2014, the National Bank of Kazakhstan’s gold and foreign-exchange reserves in-
creased. Inflation reached 7.5%, higher than the 4.8% in 2013, but within the range 
set by the National Bank. Inflation accelerated following the tenge devaluation in 
February and the resulting pay rises in the public sector.

In 2015, the National Bank of Kazakhstan began actively making rates on the one-
day repo and foreign-currency swap markets, stabilising them at 15%. This was a 
clearly positive development in terms of monetary policy.

Kazakhstan's banking sector

Last year was one of consolidation for Kazakhstan's banking sector. Halyk Bank 
completed the acquisition of HSBC Bank's local subsidiary. Kazkommertsbank con-
cluded the purchase of BTA Bank and began to consolidate it. Forte Bank also be-
gan to consolidate Alliance Bank and Temir Bank under its brand.

In 2014, the banking sector expanded by 18%. Loans rose by 23% and liquid assets 
by 18%. Liabilities increased by 19%, driven mainly by deposits, which climbed by 
15%, including those of legal entities, up 17%, and individuals, up 12%. Client de-
posits account for the majority of overall liabilities of second-tier banks, at 71.5%.

Total equity in the sector grew by 14% in 2014. The market share of the five largest 
banks in terms of assets, loan portfolio and client deposits declined by 3% on av-
erage.

The share of foreign-currency deposits held by individuals rose from 44% to 67% 
over the year, while for legal entities the figure increased from 33% to 52%.

To provide tenge liquidity and maintain the country's foreign-exchange reserves, 
the government introduced requirements to repatriate assets from overseas; ex-

horted state-controlled companies to hold deposits in tenge; increased the spread 
on marginal rates for retail deposits; and made long-term tenge funding available to 
banks in the form of deposits, swaps and bond purchases. In particular, the National 
Bank of Kazakhstan began to offer foreign-currency swaps, providing US$1.8 billion 
in tenge liquidity in doing so. The SAPF, which the National Bank manages, provided 
KZT 750 billion in long-term funds, two thirds of which were placed at auctions of 
10-year deposits and the remainder was invested in bonds of second-tier banks.

In December, the government and the National Bank announced a plan to increase 
the role of the tenge in the economy. It included raising the coverage of Kazakhstan 
Deposit Insurance Fund guarantees from KZT5 million to KZT10 million and reduc-
ing rates on guaranteed dollar deposits for individuals from 4% to 3%.

While corporate lending rose as the regulator made more long-term funding avail-
able, borrowers continued to use it to finance working capital. Retail lending slowed 
considerably amid regulatory restrictions. Consumer lending increased by 19.0%, 
significantly less than in 2013, due to the same reason. Mortgage lending also de-
celerated, and its share in banks' loan portfolios continued to decline. Towards the 
year-end, as the risk of further devaluation increased and the funding situation de-
teriorated, the dollarisation of loan portfolios resumed. The share of tenge loans 
issued in December 2014 equalled 46%, compared with an average of 79% for the 
preceding months of the year.

Profitability rose and loan quality improved substantially due to write-offs and trans-
fers of non-performing loans (NPLs) off balance sheet. Following the write-off of 
around KZT847 billion in NPLs, we estimate that their share fell by 7.9% to 23.5%. 
Profitability in the banking sector increased due to a record share of high-margin 
consumer lending in loan portfolios and a reduction in provisions. Excluding BTA 
Bank and Alliance Bank, return on equity in the sector reached 15.7%, compared 
with 13.1% in 2013 and 8.6% in 2012.
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Consolidated statement of profit or loss review

Interest income increased by 15.4% for year-on-year 
mainly due to increase in average balances of net loans 
to customers by 10.9% and in average interest rate on 
net loans to customers to 12.1% p.a. for 12m 2014 from 
11.7% p.a. for 12m 2013. Interest expense increased by 
2.0% for year-on-year mainly due to increase in average 
balances of FX term deposits. The increase in interest 
expense was partially offset by decrease in average bal-
ances of KZT term deposits and debt securities issued 
as well as decrease of average interest rates on debt se-
curities issued to 7.5% p.a. for 12m 2014 from 8.1% p.a. for 
12m 2013. As a result, net interest income before impair-
ment charge increased by 24.9% to KZT133.1 billion for 
year-on-year.

Interest income increased by 12.0% for 4Q 2014 com-
pared with 4Q 2013 mainly due to increase in average 
balances of net loans to customers by 7.0% and in aver-
age interest rate on net loans to customers to 12.3% p.a. 
for 4Q 2014 from 11.7% p.a. for 4Q 2013. Interest expense 
decreased by 0.4% for 4Q 2014 compared with 4Q 2013 
mainly due to decrease in average interest rate on term 
deposits to 2.7% p.a. from 3.3% p.a. The decrease in in-
terest expense was partially offset by increase in aver-
age balances of FX term deposits and debt securities 
issued. As a result, net interest income before impair-
ment charge increased by 19.9% to KZT35.4 for 4Q 2014 
compared with 4Q 2013.

Impairment charge decreased by 71.6% for year-on-year, 
mainly due to repayment of indebtedness overdue by 
some corporate clients in the first three quarters of 2014. 
During 3Q 2014 and 2Q 2014 the Bank wrote-off (trans-
ferred off balance sheet) fully provisioned non-perform-
ing loans for KZT14.3billion and KZT57.8 billion, respec-
tively, without legally forgiving claims on the borrowers. 
As a result, allowances for loan impairment decreased by 
11.5% compared with 31 December 2013, whereas pro-
visioning level decreased to 14.8% as at 31 December 
2014 compared with 17.9% as at 31 December 2013. The 
Bank will continue collection of these written-off loans 
in accordance with its normal business procedures.

Impairment charge for 4Q 2014 increased to KZT7.0 bil-
lion compared to KZT0.9 billion provision recovery for 
3Q 2014 mostly due to impairment revaluation for one 
of the corporate borrowers. Allowances for loan impair-
ment increased by 3.4% compared with 30 September 
2014, whereas provisioning level decreased to 14.8% as 
at 31 December 2014 compared with 15.4% as at 30 Sep-
tember 2014.

Provisions against letters of credit and guarantees recov-
ered by KZT4.2 billion as at 31 December 2014 mainly 
due to expiry of several large-ticket LCs and guarantees 
during 1Q 2014.

Fee and commission income from transactional banking 
(i.e. excluding pension fund and asset management) in-
creased by 11.7% for year-on-year as a result of growing 
volumes of transactional banking business.

Net pension fund and asset management fees increased 
by 24.4% for year-on-year mainly due to revaluation gains 
on FX-denominated pension assets as a result of one-
off devaluation of KZT in February 2014. On 26 of March 
2014 JSC “APF of Halyk Bank of Kazakhstan” completed 
transfer of assets under management to the JSC “Single 
Accumulative Pension Fund”. Starting from 26 March the 
Bank does not earn any income from managing pension 
assets.

Other non-interest income (excluding insurance) in-
creased by 52.2% for year-on-year mainly as a result of 
increase in net gain from financial assets and liabilities 
at fair value through profit or loss and increase in other 
income. Decrease in net gain on foreign exchange oper-
ations was offset by an increase in net gain on derivative 
operations in 4Q 2014 which was mainly attributable to 
increased volumes of FX swaps with the National Bank 
of Kazakhstan and positive revaluation gain on those 
as a result of change in KZT exchange rate in Q4 2014. 
Growth in other income from KZT1.8 billion for 12m 2013 
to KZT5.4 billion for 12m 2014 was mainly attributable to 
growing volumes of business at one of the Bank’s sub-
sidiaries.

Insurance underwriting income (net of reinsurance) 
increased by 6.5% for year-on-year mainly due to the 
launch of a new life insurance product in 2Q 2014 and 
increased volumes of pension annuity in 2H 2014 af-
ter release of earlier imposed regulatory restrictions on 
pension annuity contracts underwriting. The increase 
in insurance underwriting income was partially offset 
by several contracts in general insurance made in 2013 
and not extended in 2014. Insurance expense (the sum 
of insurance payments, insurance reserves and com-
missions to agents) increased by 16.2% for year-on-year 
mainly as a result of increase in agency fees during 3Q 
2014 and 2Q 2014 in life insurance due to the launch of 
a new life insurance product in May 2014. As a result, in-
surance underwriting income, less insurance expense, 
decreased by 18.2% for 12m 2014 compared with 12m 
2013.

Operating expenses increased by 13.8% for year-on-
year mainly due to increase in salaries of the Bank’s 
employees starting from 1 July 2014, as well as incen-
tive bonuses paid to the Bank’s employees in 4Q 2014. 
The increase in operating expenses was partially offset 
by 12.6% decrease in depreciation and amortisation 
expenses due to increase of amortisation period for 
some classes of fixed assets.

The Bank’s cost-to-income ratio decreased to 29.6% for 
12m 2014 compared with 31.4% for 12m 2013 and in-
creased to 34.2% for 4Q 2014 from 30.3% for 4Q 2013.

Consolidated statement of financial position review

Total assets increased by 12.1% compared with year-
end 2013 mainly in property and equipment (25.1%), 
loans to customers (11.2%), cash and cash equivalents 
(11.2%) and available-for-sale investment securities 
(10.2%).

Loans to customers increased by 7.1% on a gross basis 
and by 11.2% on a net basis compared with year-end 
2013. Gross loan portfolio increase was in corporate 
loans (3.6%) and retail loans (23.1%), partially off-set by 
decrease in loans to SME (-1.9%).
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Loans to customers increased by 7.9% on a gross basis and by 8.7% on a net basis 
compared with 30 September 2014. Gross loan portfolio growth was attributable to 
increase in loans across all types of businesses: corporate loans by 8.4%, SME loans by 
2.8% and retail loans by 9.3%.

90-day NPL ratio decreased to 12.9% as at 31 December 2014 compared with 14.1% 
as at 30 September 2014. The decrease in 90-day NPL ratio was mainly due to re-
payment of several delinquencies in October and December 2014. The Bank’s IFRS 
provisions covered 90-day NPLs by 114.6% as at 31 December 2014.

Term deposits of legal entities decreased by 31.6% and current accounts of legal en-
tities increased by 32.6% compared with year-end 2013, mainly as a result of partial 
transfer of KZT funds into FX by the Bank’s corporate clients as a result of turbulence 
on financial markets.

Terms deposits and current accounts of individuals increased by 18.6% and by 4.6%, 
respectively, compared with year-end 2013 mainly as a result of turbulence on finan-
cial markets and flight to quality.

Amounts due to credit institutions remained almost flat compared with year-end 
2013 and decreased by 17.6% compared with 30 September 2014 due to decrease 
in REPO-transactions with the Kazakhstan Stock Exchange and partial withdrawal 
of funds by financial institutions in the normal course of their business activities. In 
3Q 2014 the Bank drew KZT51.5 billion loan from JSC National management holding 
“KazAgro” to improve loan quality of the borrowers operating in agricultural sector 
through refinancing existing loans at lower interest rates. In 2Q 2014 the Bank drew 

KZT20 billion loan from JSC Entrepreneurship Development Fund “Damu” to support 
small and medium businesses operating in processing industries.

Debt securities issued increased by 64.1% compared with year-end 2013 mainly due 
to KZT100 billion 7.5% coupon rate senior unsubordinated local bonds issued by the 
Bank on 18 November 2014 maturing in November 2024, as well as recalculation of 
USD-denominated Eurobond issues at new KZT exchange rate after KZT devaluation 
in February 2014.
 
On 12 February 2015 and on 3 March 2015, the Bank placed with JSC Single Accumulat-
ed Pension Fund two other tranches of senior unsubordinated local bonds for KZT21.1 
billion and KZT30.0, respectively, both bearing 7.5% coupon rate and maturing in Feb-
ruary 2025.

Total equity increased by 21.2% compared with year-end 2013 mainly on the back of 
net profit earned during 12m2014, partially offset by payment of dividends in amount 
of KZT18,547 million to common shareholders (or KZT1.70 per common share) and 
dividends in amount of KZT1,757 million to preferred shareholders (or KZT9.28 per 
preferred share).

Regulatory Tier 1 capital adequacy ratios k1-1 and k1-2 and total capital adequacy ratio 
k2 were at 12.4%, 15.0% and 21.2%, respectively as at 31 December 2014 compared 
with 11.8%, 15.0% and 20.3%, respectively, as at 30 September 2014 and compared with 
9.5%, 11.2% and 18.2%, respectively, as at 31 December 2013. Basel Tier 1 capital ade-
quacy ratio and total capital adequacy ratio were at 20.4% and 21.1%, respectively, as at 
31 December 2014 compared with 19.8% and 21.0%, respectively, as at 30 September 
2014 and 17.2% and 18.5%, respectively, as at 31 December 2013.
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On 26 February 2014, Halyk Bank concluded an agreement with HSBC Bank to buy 
100% of its subsidiary in Kazakhstan, Subsidiary Bank “HSBC Bank Kazakhstan” (“the 
transaction”). This followed all of the necessary regulatory approvals and the fulfil-
ment of certain conditions (including a successful data migration).

In September, Halyk Bank received approval from the National Bank of Kazakhstan 
to purchase the subsidiary and acquire the status of a bank holding. Permission 
from the Agency for Protection of Competition was received in May.

On 28 November 2014, the transaction was completed: the Single Registrar of Se-
curities registered the purchase and sale of common shares in HSBC Bank Kazakh-
stan between Halyk Bank and HSBC Bank. As a result, Halyk Bank acquired 100% of 
the 70,500 common shares issued.

On 27 November 2014, the Ministry of Justice re-registered the subsidiary following 
a change in its name to Altyn Bank.

The transaction totalled KZT30.9 billion. The plan is that Altyn Bank will exist as a 
separate legal entity.

Over three non-working days, Halyk Bank replaced Altyn Bank’s IT and transaction 
platforms, which belonged to HSBC and could not be transferred to the new owner. 
The move had been preceded by months of joint preparatory work by the IT and 
transaction teams at Halyk Bank and HSBC and external developers. Various tests 
and trial migrations were conducted. The full transfer of Altyn Bank to Halyk Bank’s 
IT and transaction platforms makes the transaction unique for the Kazakh market.

As of 31 December 2014, Altyn Bank had assets of KZT136.7 billion, liabilities of 
KZT109.3 billion and total equity of KZT27.4 billion. The quality of its loan portfolio is 
high: at the year-end, its NPL 90+ was 5.5%.

Altyn Bank is a universal bank, providing a wide range of goods and services to retail 
and corporate clients. Its main areas of focus are corporate banking, retail banking, 
treasury operations and global markets.
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Halyk Bank’s core business focuses on retail, corporate 
and SME banking. Through subsidiaries, the Bank also 
provides insurance, leasing, asset management and 
brokerage services.

Retail banking

Retail deposits

Halyk Bank continues to hold leading positions on Ka-
zakhstan’s retail deposit market. At the end of 2014, its 
share of deposits held by second-tier banks was 20.4%, 
compared with 20.3% a year earlier. Its share of term 
deposits was 19.1%, compared with 18.6% at the end of 
2013, while the figure for demand deposits was 32.7%, 
compared with 33.0% at the end of 2013.

The Bank remains the leader among second-tier banks 
in terms of absolute growth of its retail portfolio, which 
expanded by KZT105.5 billion in 2014. 

Halyk Bank is actively involved in government and so-
cial programmes. Within the framework of a proper-
ty legalisation programme it has established a special 
savings deposit, “Halyk-Legalisation-2014” (Law “On an 
Amnesty for Citizens of the Republic of Kazakhstan, 
Repatriates and People with Residency Permits Re-
garding the Legalisation of Property”), and promotes 
it on its website and in branches. As part of its work 
to financially support charities, within the government 
educational savings system, the Bank and the “Bobek” 
private fund opened around 7,000 accounts for young 
people who have grown up in orphanages, and trans-
ferred money from Bobek to them.

Retail lending

The retail loan portfolio of Halyk Bank grew by 14.3% in 
2014. In the meantime, overall retail lending in the sec-
tor decreased due to regulatory restrictions imposed 
on consumer lending by second-tier banks. The main 
driver of retail lending, including last year, has been con-
sumer lending, which accounted for more than 70% of 
overall loan portfolio growth in 2013 and 2014.

In 2014, the Bank’s share of the retail lending market was 
13.2%, while the amount of retail loans issued exceeded 
KZT238 billion, higher than in 2013.

Payment cards

As of the year-end, Halyk Bank remained the leader in 
the Kazakh banking sector in terms of payment card 
services. The number of active payment cards issued 
by second-tier banks was 7,219 thousand, of which the 
Bank accounted for 47.6% (3,437 thousand).

In November 2014, Halyk Bank and UnionPay Interna-
tional, the global payment system, began a project to 
launch unique co-branded payment cards, Altyn Union-
Pay and Altyn UnionPay Gold, which offer greater secu-
rity during transactions.

One of the Bank’s main strategic services is payroll pro-
grammes. In 2014, the volume of payroll transfers in-
creased by 13.6% year-on-year, while the number of ac-
tive cards in circulation rose by 14.3%.

To offer the best possible service, the Bank is expand-
ing its payment card network (ATMs, POS terminals and 
multi-kiosks) and developing its services in this area.

In 2014, Halyk Bank continued to develop its Pay-me 
mobile POS terminal project. At the year-end, more than 
4,800 merchants had joined the network. Over the year, 
more than 20,000 transactions exceeding KZT241 mil-
lion had been made using Pay-me terminals, while the 
number of POS and mobile POS terminals rose by 53.4% 
compared with 2013. 

At the year-end, Halyk Bank accounted for 6.4% of the 
banking kiosks and payment terminals, 27.4% of the POS 
terminals and 25.6% of the ATMs in Kazakhstan. 

In addition, there were more than 8,600 Visa PayWave 
contactless payment cards in circulation nationwide. In 
2014, around 2,500 transactions totalling some KZT23 
million were conducted with Visa PayWave cards 

through the Bank’s network, while 199 POS terminals 
that accept contactless cards were installed. By the end 
of 2015, the plan is to have up to 5,000 such terminals in 
place. PayWave contactless technology is now in use at 
payment collection points on the Astana-Shchuchinsk 
toll road and in many other retail and service outlets.

Social payments

As one of the main financial institutions that disburse 
social payments in Kazakhstan since 1996, Halyk Bank 
serves more than 1.5 million pensioners and recipients 
of benefits. It accounts for 56.0% of social payments in 
Kazakhstan.

Payments

The Bank has extensive experience of handling utility, 
tax and other payments from individuals, and it is sys-
tematically developing IT, telecommunications, termi-
nals and software products. One of the main drives to 
improve customer service quality in this area involves 
offering payment services through remote sales chan-
nels. In 2014, the number of payments made through 
these rose to 2,018 thousand, up 16.8%, while the over-
all amount reached KZT6.2 billion, up 29.3%.

Remote services for individuals

Internet banking for individuals

In May 2014, the Bank made it possible to manage the 
SMS Banking service (add or remove mobile phone 
numbers, change service packages and activate the 
Midlet mobile application).

In 2014, the number of service providers increased by 
393 to more than 1,000, while the number of users 
soared by 127% to 442 thousand customers. Over the 
year, the internet banking service handled more than 
2.7 million payments and transfers.

Over the year, the number of users of the SMS Banking 
service increased to 1,289 thousand, up 45.3% year-on-
year.
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Payment terminals

In 2014, Halyk Bank bought another 141 payment terminals, taking the total to 289 
across its 22 regional branches. More than 150 service providers were added to the 
network. The number of payments handled exceeded 766 thousand, up 99.2% 
year-on-year.

SME banking

Halyk Bank’s SME services include lending, transactional banking, leasing, insur-
ance, plastic card issuance and trade finance. Although the Bank does not treat its 
SME business as a separate segment for accounting purposes, a separate dedicat-
ed division, the SME Sales Department, oversees it.

At the year-end, the Bank had 58,432 active SME clients, including 6,564 borrowers, 
and had issued 17,185 SME loans. In addition, there were 58,432 active SME clients 
using its cash settlement services, of which:

•	 14,879 were using more than one product1, up 12.5%

•	 12,569 were using more than two products, up 11.7%

•	 2,310 were using more than three products, up 16.9%

The following trends were visible in SME lending:

•	 Loans to medium-sized businesses increased monthly, totalling around KZT 
208.9 billion in 2014, up 5.7% from the KZT197.6 billion in 2013;

•	 Loans to small businesses rose by 5.5% year-on-year, in line with the 5.2% target 
in the SME development strategy for 2013-15.

1Cash settlement services, loans, payroll programmes, acquiring, corporate cards and internet banking
* The SME loan portfolio shrank due to KZT17.6 billion in loans being transferred from the SME to the corporate business.
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At the year-end, the breakdown of the SME loan portfolio by regional branch 
was as follows:
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The largest shares were 17.5% for Almaty Region, 7.3% 
for each of Astana and West Kazakhstan regions, and 
6.5% for South Kazakhstan Region.

Halyk Bank remains actively involved in government 
programmes to support business in the country. As of 
the end of 2014, it was the leading second-tier bank in 
the “Business Roadmap – 2020” programme in terms 
of loan portfolio and number of borrowers which re-
ceived loan approvals under the initiative. Halyk Bank’s 
portfolio of loans under the initiative equals KZT150.7 
billion, or 14.6% of overall loans from second-tier banks 
in the programme, placing it second. Of the 5,168 
participants in the programme, the Bank works with 
14.7%, or 760 borrowers (projects). The Bank has signed 
142 deeds of guarantee for its guarantee projects, or 
17.5% of the 811 applications approved by the DAMU 
fund. In addition, the overall amount of guarantees al-
located to the Bank by the DAMU fund was KZT2,498 
billion, or 14.9% of the overall volume of guarantees 
provided by the fund to second-tier banks. For each of 
these indicators and overall, the Bank ranks second in 
the programme.

In addition to “Business Roadmap – 2020”, Halyk Bank 
is involved in numerous other joint programmes to fi-
nance private business with the Damu fund. As of the 
year-end, as part of the ongoing Damu-Ondiris pro-
gramme, established in 2009, the Bank had allocated 
more than KZT2.97 billion to 12 projects.

Halyk Bank also secured the full amount of funding 
made available under the government programme to 
support SMEs in the processing industry. The Bank is 
the undisputed leader among second-tier banks in the 
programme, having financed 104 projects, or 24% of 
the total. It has allocated KZT20 billion to these, while 
approval has been received for 110 projects exceed-
ing KZT21.5 billion. The Bank is among the top three in 
terms of allocated and disbursed funds.

There is also a programme whereby second-tier banks 
and other financial organisations provide conditional 
funding for subsequent lending to joint private busi-
nesses in the city of Zhanaozen. As part of this, Halyk 
Bank has financed eight projects totalling KZT292.2 mil-
lion. Through the overall programme to develop mo-
no-cities over 2012-20, the Bank has channelled KZT1.4 
billion into 72 projects.

In March 2014, Halyk Bank signed an agreement on pro-
viding KZT800 million in conditional funding for further 
lending to female entrepreneurs. This initiative focuses 
on women who have registered as individual entrepre-
neurs or established legal entities. By the year-end, 60 
projects had received KZT438 million.

In 2014, to increase lending to SMEs, Halyk Bank con-
ducted a three-stage marketing campaign to raise 
awareness about the financing available to such busi-
nesses. As a result, the volume of SME loans that it is-
sued rose by 20.2% year-on-year.

Corporate banking

Halyk Bank’s Corporate Banking division offers clients 
traditional financing, payroll, cash settlement, trade fi-
nance, foreign-exchange risk hedging and investment 
banking services (in conjunction with the Bank’s subsid-
iary). The Bank continues to focus closely on develop-
ing remote service technologies, adding new features 
to its internet banking. For most corporate clients, the 
features of the system have been customised to spe-
cific needs. Cash flow management services, including 
an overdraft facility, are being introduced for groups of 
companies.

Halyk Bank’s corporate clients include large national en-
terprises, as well as large and medium-sized companies 
that hold leading positions in their industries or specific 
niches. In terms of its scope, corporate banking remains 

one of the Bank’s core activities. Halyk Bank supports 
and develops partnerships with corporate clients in 
various industries, focusing on attracting and servicing 
first-tier clients.

As of 2011, the Bank began concentrating on estab-
lishing and maintaining long-term relationships with 
such clients, strengthening partnerships with exist-
ing clients and attracting large companies to join the 
Bank. The Bank offers its clients a range of solutions 
that cover almost all financial matters faced by large 
companies of various types. This approach to corpo-
rate clients is based on partnership and was chosen 
to maintain the Bank’s image, as well as to meet large 
companies’ demands for customised solutions to cer-
tain problems. Halyk Bank carefully examines custom-
ers’ needs, taking into account their activities, seeking 
a deep understanding of the specifics of their busi-
nesses, and looking to improve the structure and con-
tent of the products and services provided. As a result 
of this work in 2014, the Bank signed several new co-
operation agreements with well known large foreign 
companies operating in Kazakhstan that did not have 
accounts in local banks.

Halyk Bank has maintained its share of the financing of 
domestic companies operating in non-resource sec-
tors. In 2014, the Bank’s clients operating in the trade 
sector continued to increase sales volumes. In the re-
porting year, the quality of the Bank’s loan portfolio in 
this sector increased significantly, as it divested some 
borrowers’ assets and large-ticket repayments were 
made early.

After restarting lending for commercial property con-
struction in the previous year, Halyk Bank successfully 
completed two large-scale projects in 2014. They are 
expected to have full occupancy in the near future. 
Some of its corporate borrowers are also working on 
major transport infrastructure projects. The Bank con-
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The Corporate Business delivered solid results overall 
in 2014. We retained all major corporate clients, at-
tracted new, reliable borrowers and increased the loan 
portfolio by over 10%. By the year-end, our corporate 
client base had reached 1,521 corporate clients, includ-
ing 220 borrowers. Amid fierce competition, we main-
tained our market share in the corporate business by 
offering the most comprehensive range of services, 
providing an extensive regional network and maintain-
ing strong relationships with our clients.

Subsidiaries

Insurance

Kazakhinstrakh and Halyk-Life

Kazakhinstrakh is a non-life insurance company that 
provides a comprehensive range of insurance services 
to all types of legal entities and individuals in numer-
ous sectors. 

At the end of 2014, Kazakhinstrakh was one of the larg-
est insurance companies in Kazakhstan, with a share of 
gross premiums of 13.6%, according to National Bank 
of Kazakhstan statistics.

As of 31 December 2014, Kazakhinstrakh had total as-
sets of KZT43.5 billion, while its net income for the year 
was KZT3.1 billion. At the year-end, it had 231 points 
of sale.

Halyk Life offers various types of personal insurance 

tinues to exercise caution when participating in trans-
actions for new properties, focusing on those with a 
competitive advantage and engaging reliable devel-
opers that are well established, have a good reputation 
and are sufficiently stable.

Unfortunately, the low quality of the harvest in 2013 
and the poor weather during the harvest in 2014 affect-
ed the quantity and quality of the grain collected. This 
impacted the whole of Kazakhstan’s agricultural sector, 
including some of the Bank’s borrowers. In general, 
companies in this market are working on ways to re-
cover, including through instruments of state support.

Many of Halyk Bank’s clients are already feeling the ef-
fect of state support and continue to recover due to 
participation in such initiatives as Business Road Map 
2020 and the Post-Crisis Recovery Programme. In ad-
dition, given the limited tenge liquidity and change in 
the cost of tenge funding, the National Fund provided 
substantial financial support to enterprises in the pro-
cessing industry.

In the reporting period, the number of corporate bor-
rowers participating in various programmes increased 
to 47, while subsidised debt rose to KZT196 billion and 
the “Agrobusiness-2020” agriculture business support 
programme was launched. This year, there are plans to 
increase the number of projects under such initiatives 
further.

The Bank is carrying out individual work with all dis-
tressed borrowers to improve their financial position. 
In the reporting year, these financial rehabilitation 
measures yielded good results, as in 2013. At the end of 
2014, Halyk Bank’s NPL 90+ portfolio equalled KZT86.7 
billion, down by KZT73 billion from a year earlier, in-
cluding KZT48.2 billion in write-offs of bad debt with-
out legally forgiving claims against the borrowers. 
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products, including life, annuity and accident and 
medical insurance products. As of 31 December 2014, 
Halyk Life had total assets of KZT22.3 billion. In 2014, it 
generated net income of KZT171 million. At the year-
end, its share of insurance premiums was 16.9%, ac-
cording to the National Bank of Kazakhstan.

Banking

Altyn Bank 

Altyn Bank is a universal bank that offers a wide range 
of products and services to both retail customers and 
corporate clients. It focuses mainly on corporate bank-
ing, retail and treasury services. As of 31 December 
2014, it had four branches and three cash settlement 
units in Almaty, Astana, Aktau and Atyrau.

At the year-end, Altyn Bank had assets of KZT136.7 bil-
lion, liabilities of KZT109.3 billion and total equity of 
KZT27 billion.

Overseas banks

The Bank provides banking services in Georgia, Kyrgyz-
stan and Russia through subsidiaries. 

Halyk Bank Georgia

Halyk Bank Georgia is a commercial bank incorpo-
rated in Georgia that focuses on corporate and SME 
banking. As of 31 December 2014, it had total assets of  
GEL 179 million (KZT17.5 billion), a gross loan portfolio 
of GEL 121 million (KZT11,869 million) and total equity 
of GEL 42.6 million (KZT1.2 billion). In 2014, it generat-
ed net income of GEL 1.8 million (KZT186 million). Last 
year, there were two significant events for Halyk Bank 
Georgia: it bought its own office for the Batumi branch 
and opened the new Gldani branch, its fifth, close to a 
metro station in the densely populated district of the 
same name in Tbilisi.

Halyk Bank Kyrgyzstan

Halyk Bank Kyrgyzstan is a commercial bank incorpo-
rated in Kyrgyzstan that positions itself as a universal 
bank. As of 31 December 2014, it had total assets of 

Change in Halyk Bank’s corporate portfolio (KZT bln)
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SOM3.6 billion (KZT11.2 billion), SOM878.5 million (KZT 
2,723 million) higher than a year earlier, while its total 
equity was SOM1.2 billion (KZT3.6 million). In 2014, it re-
ported net income of SOM87 million (KZT70.5 million) 
according to Kyrgyz accounting standards and SOM 
164 million (KZT508 million) in its IFRS unaudited finan-
cial statements.

Among the banks in Kyrgyzstan, Halyk Bank Kyrgyz-
stan ranks 13th in terms of assets and 10th in terms of 
loan portfolio (as of 1 October 2014).

NBK Bank

NBK Bank is a regional Russian bank with its head office 
in Moscow and one office in the Chelyabinsk industrial 
region. As of 31 December 2014, it had total assets of 
RUB 6.3 billion (KZT19.6 billion) and total equity of RUB 
1.2 billion (KZT3.6 billion). In 2014, its gross loan port-
folio increased by 20% year-on-year to RUB2.9 billion 
(KZT9.0 billion). 

Leasing

Halyk Leasing

In 2014, Halyk Leasing financed projects totalling 
KZT15.8 million in Kazakhstan and RUB40.6 million  
(KZT192.5 million based on the average RUB/KZT rate 
of 4.74 in 2014) in Russia.

At present, Halyk Leasing operates in Russia through 
its branch in Chelyabinsk. As of 31 December 2014, the 
subsidiary had total assets of KZT6,717 million.

Investment banking

Halyk Finance

Halyk Finance provides a full range of investment 
banking and asset management services, including 
sales and trading (with market-making on the KASE), 
investment portfolio management, consulting, under-
writing, M&A advisory, debt restructuring and research. 
As of 31 December 2014, Halyk Finance had total as-
sets of KZT24,117 million. Its net income in 2014 was  
KZT2,246 million. 

As of 31 December 2014, the total securities portfolio 
of clients who have brokerage service agreements with 
Halyk Finance was KZT143.8 billion.

Halyk Finance is the market leader by the number of 
listed instruments (68). In 2014, it was assigned mar-
ket-maker status on instruments of the following issuers: 
KEGOC, Kcell, Kazakhmys, Halyk Bank, ATF Bank, Eurasian 
Development Bank, Eurasian Bank, Home Credit and 
Finance Bank, VTB Bank, Food Contract Corporation, 
Kazakhtelecom, KazMunayGas, Agrarian Credit Corpo-
ration, Kazakhstan Engineering, Kazakhstan Mortgage 
Company and Zhaikmunai.

In 2014, Halyk Finance won the following awards:

•	 “Best Investment Bank in Kazakhstan 2015” (Global Fi-
nance)

•	 “Best Investment Bank in Kazakhstan 2014” (EMEA Fi-
nance)

•	 “Best Privatization IPO” — JSC KEGOC (EMEA Finance 
Achievement Awards 2014)

•	 “Best Swiss Franc Bond” — JSC Kazakhstan Temir Zho-
ly (EMEA Finance Achievement Awards 2014)

•	 “Best Supranational Bond” — Eurasian Development 
Bank (EMEA Finance Achievement Awards 2014)

•	 “Dealmaker of the Year” — Mr. Arnat Abzhanov (EMEA 
Finance Achievement Awards 2014)

•	 “Best Investment Bank in Kazakhstan 2014” (Global Fi-
nance)

•	 “Best Investment Bank in Kazakhstan 2013” (EMEA Fi-
nance)

•	 “Best Corporate Bond in EMEA” — JSC KazMunaiGas 
(EMEA Finance Achievement Awards 2013)

•	 “Best Investment Bank in Kazakhstan 2014” (Cbonds)

•	 “Ranking Leader among Underwriters of Corporate 
Bonds in Kazakhstan 2014” (Cbonds)

In 2014, Halyk Finance became the first and only in-
vestment bank in Kazakhstan to receive an interna-
tional issuer default credit rating (foreign and national 
currency) of ‘BB’, the outlook ‘stable’, and a short-term 
issuer default credit rating of ‘B-3’ with support rating 
affirmed at “3“ from Fitch Ratings.

In 2014, in a rating by Cbonds, Halyk Finance was the 
leading investment bank that underwrote tenge cor-
porate bonds in Kazakhstan in terms of both number 
and overall volume of placements. According to infor-
mation from Cbonds, in the year, Halyk Finance placed 
10 issues totalling KZT158 billion, or 23.0% of the to-
tal number and 41.0% of the overall nominal value of 
tenge corporate bonds placed on the primary market 
through the KASE’s platform. The overall volume of pri-
mary bond placements made by Kazakh underwriters 
on the KASE in 2014 was KZT389.7 billion.

In addition, in another rating by Cbonds for 2014, Halyk 
Finance was the leading investment bank that acted 
as a bookrunner for tenge corporate bonds and for-
eign-currency Eurobonds in Kazakhstan in terms of 
both number and overall volume of placements. Ac-
cording to information from the rating, in the year, 
Halyk Finance placed 13 issues totalling the equiva-
lent of US$1.1 billion, or 28.3% of the total number and 
16.8% of the overall nominal value of corporate bonds 
placed on the market.

Telecommunications

Kazteleport

Kazteleport provides a wide range of telecommunica-
tion services for automating the activity of Halyk Bank 
and its subsidiaries, processing services and services to 
route authorisation requests among banks connected 
to Kazteleport through an H2H channel. Kazteleport is 
the main provider of connection channels to the Ka-
zakhstan Interbank Settlement Centre, KASE and the 
First Credit Bureau in Kazakhstan.
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In addition, in 2014, Kazteleport expanded in various 
areas:

•	 data processing centre services using JSC Kaztele-
port equipment;

•	 IP telephony services for the Group;

•	 technical support for the Colvir RS banking system 
(Halyk Bank Georgia and NBK Bank);

•	 technical support in the connection and mainte-
nance of the Bank’s POS terminals;

•	 installation of a video surveillance system, fire pro-
tection system and structured cabling system;

•	 supply of consumables for printing equipment.

As of 31 December 2014, Kazteleport had total as-
sets of KZT1,599 million. Its net income in 2014 was  
KZT304 million. 

Cash collection

Halyk Inkassatsiya

Halyk Inkassatsiya provides collection services for 
banknotes, coins and valuables. While it is positioned 
in Halyk Group as a subsidiary providing services in-
dependently, its activity is closely related to the core 
business in that it provides cash to sales channels of 
the Bank — retail banking, which is the financial and 
consolidating centre of Halyk Group.

Halyk Inkassatsiya is the market leader in various as-
pects of cash collection in Kazakhstan. In 2014, its fleet 
of 283 vehicles were all fully armoured. To track their 
movement, a GPS monitoring system was launched in 
the year.

As of 31 December 2014, Halyk Inkassatsiya had total 
assets of KZT2,683 million. Its net income for 2014 was 
KZT1,322 million. As of the year-end, its branch network 
included a City cash collection division (in Almaty),  
18 branches and 36 outlets.

Pensions

Halyk Pension Fund

As a result of the national pension reforms, on 31 De-
cember 2014, the Board of Directors of Halyk Bank vot-
ed to voluntarily liquidate Halyk Pension Fund. This was 
done in accordance with the procedures stipulated in 
the corresponding legislation. The liquidation period 
shall be from 31 December 2014 until the full comple-
tion of the process.

Specialist organisations

Halyk Project

According to Resolution No. 308 of the National Bank 
of Kazakhstan dated 21 September 2012, Halyk Bank has 
been granted Permit No. 1 dated 4 October 2012 to es-
tablish a subsidiary to manage distressed assets, Halyk 
Project.

Halyk Project was established in accordance with the 
Concept on Improving the Quality of Second-Tier 
Bank Assets, approved by a resolution of Kazakhstan’s 
Council for Financial Stability and Development of the 
Financial Market.

On 12 October 2012, Halyk Project was registered with 
the authorised body of the Ministry of Justice of Ka-
zakhstan and founding documents were received. 
Halyk Bank was the first second-tier bank in Kazakhstan 
to receive the regulator’s permission to establish a sub-
sidiary to manage doubtful and bad assets.

Halyk Project’s main objective is to deal with the dis-
tressed assets in Halyk Bank’s loan portfolio. It aims to 
do this by acquiring them from Halyk Bank using bor-
rowed funds and seeking to turn them around before 
selling them and repaying its loan to Halyk Bank.

As of 31 December 2014, Halyk Project had assets of 
KZT9.7 billion. In the year, it undertook a major project 
to resuscitate distressed assets of both the Head Office 
and regional branches. 

HSBK (Europe) B.V.

Following the decision by the Board of Directors of 
Halyk Bank on 30 September 2014 to voluntarily liqui-
date the subsidiary HSBK (Europe) B.V., in the Nether-
lands, on 23 December 2014, HSBK (Europe) B.V. was 
removed from the Trade Register of the Netherlands 
Chamber of Commerce (the liquidation process took 
place from 9 October 2014 to 23 December 2014).
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Introduction

Halyk Bank’s risk management policy is focused on 
creating an integrated risk management system in line 
with the scope and scale of Halyk Group’s activity and 
accepted risk profile, as well as on supporting its busi-
ness development requirements. Halyk Group con-
tinuously develops its risk management system and 
implements measures to improve its risk identification 
methods, as well as risk management, assessment and 
control.

Credit risk management

To ensure effective credit risk management, the Bank 
has implemented a risk management system and busi-
ness processes that take into account the segregation 
of the sales and risk management functions. It has also 
created an organisational structure that facilitates cred-
it risk management, including collegiate bodies and 
subdivisions that take part in the credit risk manage-
ment process.

The Bank manages credit risk by:

•	 adhering to the principle of “three lines of defence”, 
namely initial analysis of credit risk by the primary 
subdivision, analysis by the risk management func-
tion, and monitoring by the internal audit function;

•	 setting limits for counterparts depending on the 
type of (credit) transactions or products;

•	 diversifying the loan portfolio with a view to miti-
gating an concentration of risk related to any one 
borrower, sector or geographical area; 

•	 monitoring the loan portfolio to identify any deteri-
oration in quality at an early stage;

•	 maintaining adequate provisioning to cover poten-
tial losses.

For the purposes of integrated credit risk assessment 
of corporate borrowers, the Bank uses an internal rat-
ing model based on quantitative (financial ratios of 

the borrower) and qualitative indicators, including the 
borrowers’ business assessment, industry and manage-
ment quality.

To assess its exposure to adverse changes in foreign 
and domestic macroeconomic conditions and deter-
mine the effect of stress scenarios (level of provisions, 
migration of credit ratings, ratio of non-performing 
loans), the Bank conducts regular stress tests on its loan 
portfolio, including annual bottom-up stress tests re-
quired by the regulator.

To ensure effective risk control and monitoring in the 
retail and SME segments, the Bank relies on an ap-
proach based on comprehensive and systematic moni-
toring of lending programmes. This includes analysis of 
loan portfolio quality and financing parameters, as well 
as adjustment of lending models to current changes in 
the competitive/social and economic environment or 
in exposure to specific groups of borrowers.

The Bank’s system of making lending decisions is based 
on the delegation of certain powers by the Board of 
Directors to appropriate collegiate bodies and the es-
tablishment of credit limits for each body. For corporate 
borrowers, loan applications are reviewed by the Head 
Office Credit Committee. Loan applications that exceed 
the limits set for the Head Office Credit Committee, as 
well as transactions with related parties, require further 
approval by the Board of Directors. For SME borrowers, 
lending powers are delegated to Credit Committees in 
the braches and the Credit Committee of the branch 
network, while retail banking decisions are delegated 
to the Centre for Decision-Making and the Retail Credit 
Committee of the Head Office (hereinafter referred to 
as “RCC”). Standard loans under unsecured retail lend-
ing programmes are approved automatically after be-
ing reviewed by the programme module, while appli-
cations for non-standard unsecured lending are subject 
to credit approval by the RCC.

In 2014, as part of the RCC’s development, the Bank con-
tinued to automate the procedures for making lending 
decisions. As a result, it strengthened control over deci-

sion making and reduced operational risks while accel-
erating the turnaround of loan applications.

To reduce the risk of power concentration and im-
prove the objectivity of lending limits, the Bank has im-
plemented a limit setting and revision methodology 
for SME loans in branches. The methodology is based 
on balanced qualitative and quantitative analysis of 
branch operations, including the development po-
tential of the region, experience of key managers and 
quality of the branch’s loan portfolio.

Credit committees of subsidiary banks are also autho-
rised to make lending decisions within specific lim-
its. Loan applications exceeding these are referred to 
an appropriate body of the Bank. The Bank regularly 
monitors independent decision-making limits and the 
authority of the credit committees in subsidiary banks 
and revises the limits, if necessary.

The Bank places great emphasis on developing the risk 
management system in the Group. Its efforts focus on 
the monitoring, detection and elimination of weak-
nesses in existing risk management procedures and 
internal controls, as well as on the professional devel-
opment of personnel in its subsidiaries and branches.
Halyk Bank continues its work to improve the quality 
of its loan portfolio by supporting borrowers under 
programmes stipulated by the government, which 
undertook various initiative to help businesses in 2014: 
“Female Entrepreneurship”, “Support for Businesses in 
the Agricultural Sector” and “Damu Ondyrys 2”.

In 2014, the Bank wrote off KZT67.2 billion in NPLs 
(without forgiving claims) using accumulated provi-
sions, which reduced the volume of overdue loans and 
improved the quality of the loan portfolio.

As of 31 December 2014, retail loans represented a sig-
nificant share of the loan portfolio (25.4%), with con-
sumer and mortgage loans accounting for 18.2% and 
7.2%, respectively. In terms of industry breakdown, the 
largest segments were wholesale trade (20.0%), ser-
vices (11.9%), construction (8.3%), and real estate (6.8%).
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Breakdown of the Bank’s loan portfolio by sector, %
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Asset/liability management

To create an optimal structure of bank assets that en-
sures a balanced approach to managing the risk-return 
ratio, the Group invests in a spread of domestic and 
overseas assets, diversified in terms of banking prod-
ucts, industry, currency and maturity.

In 2014, the breakdown of the Group’s assets changed 
insignificantly and was as follows:

Breakdown of the Bank’s assets, %
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In 2014, the Group’s total assets increased by 12.1%. This 
was mainly due to the tenge devaluation in February, 
which caused the tenge value of the Group’s assets 
denominated in foreign currency to soar. Another key 
factor was the major increase in the loan portfolio, 
which rose by KZT165.8 billion (up 12.4%) in absolute 
terms. As a result, the loan portfolio remains the largest 
item among the Bank’s assets: as of 31 December 2014, 
it accounted for 58.7% of the total. 

Other key assets are cash and equivalents (up 11.2%) 
and investments in securities (up 11.0%). The increase 
in the former was due to changes in Kazakh banking 
regulations, which obligated banks to place some of 
their funds (capital) domestically to boost lending 

in the country. As a result, Halyk Bank took steps that 
changed the composition of its balance sheet, notably 
increasing its correspondent account funds in the Na-
tional Bank of Kazakhstan and reducing its funds placed 
with overseas financial institutions. This was also done 
to enable Halyk Bank to meet the greater demand for 
foreign currency following the tenge devaluation and 
expectations of another similar move.

In 2014, investments in securities rose by KZT38.6 bil-
lion (up 11.0%) due to the Bank’s purchases of Euro-
bonds placed by mainly Kazakh issuers. Property and 
equipment also increased by KZT20.9 billion (up 28.9%), 
which was mainly related to the purchase of a land plot 
with an unfinished construction project.

The Group regularly checks its limits for counterparty 
banks for consistency with its risk appetite. Whenev-
er the Group identifies any negative factors affecting 
the operations of its counterparty banks and/or their 
countries of operation, relevant adjustments are made 
immediately to reduce the amount and term of such 
limits.

For liquidity management purposes, the Bank main-
tained a stable and diversified structure of liabilities, 
which consisted of borrowings and deposits with fixed 
maturities and liabilities payable on demand.

The breakdown of the Bank’s liabilities in 2014 and 2013 
was as follows:

Breakdown of the Bank's liabilities, %
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In 2014, the main items that changed in the breakdown of liabilities were debt se-
curities issued and amounts due to customers. In particular, in November, the Bank 
placed a KZT100 billion, 10-year bond carrying a fixed biannual coupon of 7.5%.

In 2014, the main sources of funding included deposits and current accounts from 
legal entities and individuals. At the year-end, amounts due to customers had in-
creased by KZT81.6 billion (up 4.6%) in absolute terms and remained the largest liabil-
ity item, accounting for 79.2% of total liabilities in 2014, compared with 83.6% in 2013.

At the same time, the breakdown of the deposit base changed significantly, as the 
share of current accounts of legal entities and retail deposits increased. In particular, 
term deposits decreased by 4.7%, while current accounts grew by 24.4%. Overall, 
the main change was in amounts due to legal entities, while the positive trend in 
retail deposits amid growing current accounts, seen in 2013, continued in the year. 

Amounts due to customers, KZT bln

In 2014, amounts due to individuals increased by KZT127.8 billion (up 15.8%), while 
amounts due to legal entities decreased by KZT46.2 billion (down 4.8%). These 
changes reduced the concentration of major sources of funding and, consequently, 
the liquidity risk.

The Bank’s focus on raising funds in the domestic market helped it to maintain the 
leading positions in the customer account market. For example, the Bank is the mar-
ket leader in terms of retail deposits with a market share of 20.4% as of 31 December 
2014 (compared with 20.3% a year earlier).

To assess its exposure to liquidity risk, the Bank conducts regular stress tests show-
ing the impact of the outflow of customers with the highest concentration on the 
Bank’s liquidity position, as well as annual bottom-up stress tests as required by the 
regulator.

Market share by amounts due to customers, %
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Market risk management

In 2014, the Bank adhered to its conservative policy on currency position manage-
ment, maintaining neutral positions in all currencies, except for US dollars.

In 2014, the breakdown of assets by currency changed insignificantly. By running 
its business and managing risk effectively, the Bank was able not merely to pre-
serve its assets in local currency, but also to increase them (by 12.4%). Among other 
factors, this was made possible by the Bank's use of instruments offered by the 

National Bank of Kazakhstan to support long-term tenge liquidity. Thus, tenge assets 
accounted for 57.1% of total financial assets, while the share of tenge loans rose from 
65.7% to 72.7%.

Following the tenge devaluation in February and given expectations of another 
similar move, the Group's deposits in foreign currency, particularly the US dollar, 
swelled by 53.9%, while those in tenge shrank by 34.5%.
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Breakdown of assets by currency, % Breakdown of net loans by currency, % Breakdown of amounts due to custom-
ers by currency, %
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The Group has identified the following sources of in-
terest rate risk: interest rate risk on securities portfolios 
and interest rate risk resulting from the mismatch of 
maturities (interest rate re-pricing) of assets and liabil-
ities sensitive to interest rate changes (risk of interest 
rate changes). The Group manages the risks of chang-
es in interest rates and market risk by adjusting its in-
terest rate position and maintaining a positive interest 
margin.

Internal limits that restrict the level of market risk (cur-
rency, interest rate, price risks) include the stop-loss lim-
it, expected shortfall and DVBP, and are monitored dai-
ly. The limits are regularly reviewed for relevance and 
correlation with market conditions and the Group’s risk 
appetite.

Operational risk management

In the normal course of its business, the Bank is ex-
posed to operational risk. The operational risk is de-
fined as the risk of losses resulting from inadequate 

internal processes, systems, human factors or external 
events. These include legal risk (and exclude strategic 
and reputational risk) and:

•	 risk related to uncertain inadequate organisational 
structure, including allocation of responsibility, re-
porting lines and management;

•	 risk related to ineffective IT strategies, policies and/or 
standards and software deficiencies;

•	 risk related to insufficient information or improper 
use of information;

•	 risk related to improper management of personnel 
and/or insufficiently qualified employees;

•	 risk related to ineffective business processes or weak 
supervision of internal documents and rules;

•	 risk related to unforeseen or uncontrollable external 
factors impacting the Bank’s operations;

•	 risk related to internal documents not complying 
with legislative requirements; 

•	 risk related to employees’ actions that might impact 
the Bank’s activities and fraud.

The operational risk management unit within the risk 
management function of the Bank has developed and 
implemented various operational risk management 
tools, such as: 

•	 The Bank performs operational risk assessments 
when launching new products/services, systems 
and business processes, or implementing major 
changes thereto, and also when there are significant 
changes in the organisational structure. ORAP is a 
fully functional and widely used tool, and it covers 
the most significant areas of the Bank’s operations. 
In 2014, the above projects covered such business 
areas as remote banking, retail lending, retail depos-
its, etc.
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•	 Assessments of existing risk management practices 
and systems were conducted at two subsidiaries. As 
a result, appropriate risk-mitigating measures have 
been developed to improve the efficiency of con-
trols over the most significant risks.

•	 The Bank regularly collects and analyses operation-
al risk events, which are registered and classified as 
appropriate in a special database. The information 
collected is used to generate management reports 
on operational risks to support decision about ap-
proving corrective actions to minimise overall oper-
ating losses.

•	 The Bank continues to develop an operational risk 
management tool, Key Risk Indicators (KRI). They and 
their levels are subject to periodic review/updating 
and represent an integral part of management re-
ports on operational risks.

•	 The Bank has developed and approved a method for 
identifying and calculating acceptable operational 
risk and evaluating the effectiveness of its opera-
tional risk management. It enables acceptable levels 
to be calculated for various divisions with a view to 
minimising the impact of any operational risks.

•	 The operational risk management unit is a perma-
nent member of working groups on various projects 
at the Bank, as well as focusing on fraud elimination, 
investigating the causes of damage to the Bank, and 
creating commissions to analyse problems and risk 
areas with a view to developing appropriate mitiga-
tion measures.

Business continuity management

To ensure that it can respond rapidly and effectively 
to emergency situations, the Bank maintains systems 
and resources to manage and support business con-
tinuity, which include legal documents, infrastructure, 
competent employees and other items.

The core of the Bank’s business continuity management 

infrastructure consists of a Disaster Recovery site in Asta-
na and two backup facilities in Almaty, which feature all 
of the necessary equipment and technology for dealing 
with incidents. In addition, following the results of an im-
pact analysis on the Bank’s activities in 2014, the Manage-
ment Board decided to open a regional data processing 
centre in the Pavlodar regional branch and transfer all 
of the critical business processes there. It also decided 
to launch a new embossing centre in Astana as part of 
measures to ensure continuity in issuing bank cards.

The Bank seeks to maintain a high level of business 
continuity management skills and knowledge among 
employees through training sessions. In particular, in 
2014, to raise awareness of business continuity among 
managers, the Bank and Ernst & Young organised a joint 
two-day training seminar on the subject.

To identify and develop the skills needed during inci-
dents, the Bank regularly conducts exercises and tests 
under its business continuity and recovery plan and 
its separate elements, whereby employees who are 
the members of special recovery teams relocate to the 
backup facilities. In addition, the Bank tests its ability to 
switch critical information systems to its backup servers. 
In 2014, more than 10 types of business continuity man-
agement drills and tests were conducted.

Compliance risk management

The Bank defines compliance risk as existing and po-
tential threats of adverse consequences for its business. 
These include expenses (losses), reputational impact, im-
plications arising from violations of or non-compliance 
with Kazakh legislation, rules, regulatory requirements, 
prescribed practices, internal procedures and policies of 
the Bank and ethical standards. These in turn include, but 
are not restricted to, standards of conduct on the market, 
resolution of conflicts of interest, honest customer ser-
vice, and a high quality of customer consulting.

To ensure an effective system of corporate governance 
and internal control, and to evaluate and monitor com-
pliance risk, the Bank has established a Compliance 

Service. It consists of the Compliance controller, who 
reports to and is elected by the Board of Directors, and 
other units whose daily work focuses on minimising 
compliance risks (compliance participants) and which 
report to the Compliance controller regarding the 
function’s performance. All communication between 
the Compliance controller and participants is coordi-
nated by the Compliance Division. The work of the 
Compliance Service is governed by the principle of in-
dependence, based on four interrelated pillars:

1.	The Compliance controller coordinates the work of 
the Compliance Service;

2. There are no conflicts of interests;

3. Free access to any information and employees is as-
sured (as part of their work responsibilities);

4. Official status is assured.

The Bank manages compliance risk by:

1. Continuously monitoring Kazakh legislation;

2. Monitoring the compliance of authorised persons 
and employees of the Bank with Kazakh legislative 
requirements;

3. Ensuring that employees and subdivisions correct-
ly understand and apply Kazakh legislation and the 
Bank’s internal documents;

4. Identifying, evaluating, monitoring and mitigating 
compliance risks, including when developing and 
structuring new banking products and services, 
introducing new business processes and technolo-
gies, and so on;

5. Ensuring that mandatory requirements of the regu-
lator and other official bodies are met on time and to 
the required standard;

6. Organising compliance monitoring (checks) of sub-
divisions’ activities by appropriate compliance staff;
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7. 	Controlling access to insider information and pre-
venting potentially illegal use of such information 
by insiders, including by keeping up to date a list of 
people with access to such information;

8. Ensuring that it complies with measures to combat 
money laundering and the financing of terrorism 
(AML/CFT);

9.	Ensuring that employees comply with the internal 
requirements on the prevention of conflicts of inter-
est, etc.

When carrying out its duties as the main compliance 
channel, to minimise and prevent potential compli-
ance risks, the Compliance Division:

1. Organises and coordinates self-assessments by sub-
divisions of their compliance with Kazakh legislation 
and the Bank’s internal documents. Self-assessment 
compliance risk reports are submitted to the Man-
agement Board for review. Based on the findings, 
action plans to mitigate the risks identified are pre-
pared and the Compliance Division oversees their 
implementation.

2. Identifies and evaluates the level of compliance risk 
faced by the Bank, appraises the effectiveness of the 
Bank’s control system, and evaluates the residual 
compliance risk. The results are sent to the Manage-
ment Board and the Board of Directors. To enhance 
control and mitigate residual compliance risks, an 

action plan is prepared and overseen by the Compli-
ance Division.

3. Organises regular compliance training for the Bank’s 
employees, including in AML/CFT. New recruits and 
existing employees in the subdivisions responsible 
undergo annual training. In 2014, both face-to-face 
and e-learning courses were held, in accordance with 
the approved training plan. Their aim was to raise 
awareness among the employees responsible about 
compliance and AML/CFT procedures, which also 
helps to minimise compliance risk.

	 In addition, one of the Compliance Division’s main 
objectives is to ensure that the Bank complies with 
Kazakh legislation on AML/CFT, for which the follow-
ing procedures have been established:

1. Before entering into a commercial relationship with a 
client, the appropriate checks are conducted (know-
your-client, or KYC), including politically exposed per-
son (PEP) and anti-terrorism checks. If such checks 
cannot be completed satisfactorily, a commercial re-
lationship will not be established.

2. In accordance with Kazakh AML/CFT legislation, the 
Bank has a duty to inform the relevant official bodies 
about client transactions that are subject to financial 
monitoring (threshold and suspicious). The Bank has 
implemented all of the necessary information systems 
to recognise transactions that are subject to financial 
monitoring, based on various identified types, schemes 

and scenarios, and to send the respective data to the 
authorised body. In addition, there are subdivisions 
responsible for identifying suspicious non-automated 
transactions, based on certain criteria.

Capital management

In 2014, the Bank continued to manage its capital to 
ensure the business continuity of all Group companies 
and optimise its debt-to-equity ratio. In the reporting 
period, the Bank ensured compliance with the capital 
requirements set by regulatory standards and Basel 
Accords.

From 2015 to 2019, banks are expected to implement 
a gradual capital reform under Basel III, driven by high-
er capital adequacy requirements for banks. The Basel 
III capital adequacy regime is risk-based and implies a 
reform of the banks’ capital. The Bank believes that the 
transition to new standards will not require an addi-
tional capitalisation of the Bank.

To assess its exposure to the risk of adverse changes 
in the macroeconomic situation, the Bank runs regular 
stress tests to test the sensitivity of capital adequacy 
ratios to changes in various macroeconomic factors, 
including annual bottom-up stress tests required by 
the regulator.
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As a systemically important financial institution in Ka-
zakhstan, Halyk Bank adheres to the principles of busi-
ness being actively involved in solving social issues. 
In particular, it promotes traditional social values, the 
country’s cultural heritage, education, sport and medi-
cine and supports disadvantaged social groups.

Halyk Bank places a special emphasis on sponsorship 
and charity. Accordingly, in April 2012, the Bank estab-
lished a Social Responsibility Committee under the 
Board of Directors, which controls and evaluates cor-
porate social responsibility policies. Proposals devel-
oped by the Committee are of an advisory nature. The 
Committee monitors the compliance of the Bank’s op-
erations with legislative requirements regarding corpo-
rate social responsibility, and prepares recommenda-
tions to the Board of Directors for decisions on issues 
within the Committee’s jurisdiction. Since its establish-
ment, the Committee has had four meetings to hear 
reports and approve action plans for the next year.

Over the last 13 years, the Bank has established a key 
objective in its social policy: to provide support to dis-
advantaged social groups (orphans, disabled people, 
veterans, and children with disabilities). The Bank has 
been following the above policy and recognises that 
it underpins the main social responsibility principles of 
a large financial institution that is working to increase 
the welfare and prosperity of Kazakh society.

Caring for the country’s future

One of the main objectives in the Bank social policy 
is to support orphans, children from disadvantaged 
families and children in care. Young people represent 
the future of Kazakhstan, so the Bank actively supports 
charitable projects that provide assistance to medical 
and social facilities for children.

1. Ayala Charity Fund projects

	 Halyk Bank has been a partner of the Ayala Charity 
Fund since 2008. Since 2011, all clients and employ-
ees of Halyk Bank have been able to make donations 

to the fund through the internet banking system for 
individuals.

	 In December 2012, the Bank signed a five-year memo-
randum on cooperation with the fund. The main ob-
jective is to develop cooperation in the implementa-
tion of the fund’s social projects to support children’s 
medical and educational institutions in Kazakhstan.

Since then, the Bank has participated in several large-
scale projects of the fund, namely:

•	 Health of a Nation Starts From Birth – a project to sup-
ply phototherapy equipment for the treatment of 
neonatal icterus in maternity hospitals and maternity 
units of central district hospitals in Almaty Region. 

•	 ‘I Also Want to Live’ – a project to develop children’s 
cardio surgery in Kazakhstan. Under the project, the 
Syzganov National Surgery Research Centre was giv-
en medical equipment for the surgical wing and the 
intensive care unit.

•	 ‘Breathe, Baby’ – a project to supply medical equip-
ment for intensive care units in maternity hospitals 
and perinatal centres across Kazakhstan.

•	 ‘Breathe the Life’ – a project to supply medical equip-
ment for the Akmola regional children’s hospital and 
the Uralsk regional children’s multi-purpose hospital.

In 2014, the Bank took part in various projects organised 
by the fund, including:

•	 the installation of a children’s playground at the 
Alatau children’s clinical sanatorium (more than  
KZT2 million)

•	 the “Saving Children’s Sight” project (more than  
KZT12.5 million)

In late 2014, Halyk Bank and the Ayala fund organised 
another “Letter to Father Christmas” charitable project 
in the reception of the Bank’s Head Office. As part of 
this, a Christmas tree was put up for children to hang 

their letters on. Employees could take an envelope, 
read a child’s letter to Father Christmas and make their 
wish come true by depositing an envelope with mon-
ey in a special box.

Overall, the Bank has allocated more than KZT520 mil-
lion to Ayala fund projects including KZT163 million in 
2014. 

2. Sabi Charity Fund projects

	 In 2012, the Bank signed a five-year memorandum 
on cooperation with the Sabi Charity Fund to assist 
it with social projects to support children’s medical 
and educational institutions in Kazakhstan. 

	 Projects include the “Educational Project”, “Alem Pro-
gramme to Support Young Talent”, the construction 
of the “Children’s Family Tree” in Astana, the con-
struction of sports and children’s facilities, the Invo 
Taxi, and others. 

	 Overall, the Bank has invested more than KZT440 
million in the fund’s projects. In 2014 alone, it allocat-
ed KZT148 million. 

3. Bobek private fund projects

	 Since 2012, the Bank has been helping to implement 
various projects organised by the Bobek private 
fund. In 2014, it donated KZT20 million to provide 
social help and training for children who are gifted, 
living in care, or from a large or disadvantaged fam-
ily. To date, the Bank has allocated more than KZT40 
million to Bobek.

4. Projects to sponsor children’s homes

	 Through its branches, the Bank provides as sistance 
to 35 orphanages, boarding schools and special-
ised children’s homes across the republic. Regular 
assistance includes the improvement of material 
and technical conditions: the purchase of furniture, 
equipment, clothes and office supplies; and the or-
ganisation of holidays, sports activities and educa-
tional events.
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To stimulate the creative initiative of children from 
these facilities, the Bank has introduced a Children’s 
Arts page on its corporate web site. Halyk Bank assists 
the sponsored facilities with selling handcraft items 
made by children and purchasing materials for lessons. 
In 2014, the Bank and the children’s facilities that it 
sponsors conducted various events for Nauryz (the 
spring equinox), Children’s Day, Knowledge Day and 
New Year. The Bank’s employees were particularly ac-
tive in helping to organise events and collect clothes, 
books, toys and donations, which were used to buy 
vital goods for the children facilities in Almaty and Al-
maty Region.

Nurturing the tree of knowledge

Halyk Bank has traditionally helped children from chil-
dren’s homes receive a higher education and proudly 
establish their own independent life.

Halyk Students (Narodniye Studenty), a project for 
graduates of sponsored children’s homes

Another large social project that Halyk Bank continued 
to sponsor in 2014 was the Halyk Students Programme, 
launched in September 2007. This special charity initia-
tive was designed for young people from sponsored 
children’s homes from different regions of Kazakhstan. 
It provides them with the opportunity to receive a 
higher education and receive a Kozhakhan Abenov 
scholarship, established by Halyk Bank.

In August 2014, the Bank organised the fourth tradi-
tional meeting with former participants of the Halyk 
Students Programme who had graduated from Kazakh 
universities. The programme has helped 39 young 
people from sponsored children’s homes and board-
ing schools to receive a university education, while 14 
graduates were employed by the Bank. At present, 6 
children participate in the programme. They have the 
unique opportunity of pursuing a career at Halyk Bank 
and other Halyk Group companies. 

Overall, the Bank had invested more than KZT45 mil-

lion in the Halyk Students Programme and around 
 KZT2.5 million in 2014-15 alone.

Encouraging creative potential

For several years, Halyk Bank has been providing various 
types of support to promote the culture and art of Ka-
zakhstan a key part of its heritage.

•	 In recent years, the Bank has helped to support opera 
and ballet, and it acted as the general sponsor of the 
second theatrical season at the Astana Opera Theatre 
in 2014-15, pledging KZT85.9 million.

•	 The Bank also supported a concert by the legend-
ary music group Dos Mukasan in Almaty, acting as 
the general sponsor, while Almaty Television and Ra-
dio organised the event. The amount donated was  
KZT10.4 million.

•	 In another contribution to developing the country’s 
culture, the Bank donated KZT 2 million towards pub-
lishing the photo album “Assy: the Silver Valley”. 

Conquering the heights of sport

Halyk Bank plays an active role in sponsoring Kazakh 
sportspeople who represent their country at interna-
tional events, sportspeople with disabilities and partic-
ipants from children’s homes. It also supports sporting 
events and helps to develop sport within the country 
where possible, as part of one of the main priorities in 
its social policy.

“Halyk League (Narodnaya Liga)”

1. Established in 2005, Halyk League is a social sport 
project to promote healthy lifestyle and support an 
active basketball movement involving young peo-
ple from sponsored children’s homes and boarding 
schools. The project promotes passion for the sport 
and helps to organise children’s free time. Given the 
growing level of team training and desire of children 
to participate in the Hope Cup Basketball Champion-

ship of Kazakhstan, in 2012, the Championship was 
reorganised into the official Basketball Champion-
ship of Kazakhstan among children’s homes and 
boarding schools, with the support of the National 
Basketball Federation of Kazakhstan. 

	 In April 2014, the Bank successfully organised the 
second leg of the 2013-14 Championship, supported 
by the National Basketball Federation of Kazakhstan. 
Eighteen children’s homes and boarding schools par-
ticipate in the project; more than 500 children from or-
phanages take part in training annually. Over the nine 
years of the project, the Bank has invested over KZT 
237.6 million in it. In 2014, the Bank pledged around 
KZT30 million towards developing the project.

2. Since 2011, the Bank has been sponsoring the Gym-
nastics Federation of Kazakhstan and has donated 
more than KZT55 million in that time. In 2014, the 
Bank pledged KZT20 million. The funds have helped 
professional gymnasts to excel at international level: 
at the second Youth Sport Games, the Kazakh team 
won the maximum number of medals.

3. Another major sports project aimed at promoting 
healthy lifestyle in 2014 was the third Courage to 
Win marathon in Almaty, of which Halyk Bank was 
an Honorary partner for the second year in a row. 
The event was organised with Sport Center, and as 
part of an official agreement KZT15.4 million in spon-
sorship was donated. The two parties also organised 
the Astana Motors Sprint Race, a cycling competi-
tion. An Honorary partner in the event, Halyk Bank 
gave KZT7.3 million in sponsorship.

4. The Bank also supports regional sports organisa-
tions. In 2014, it sponsored the OzenMunayGas foot-
ball club, pledging KZT10 million.

5. In 2014, Halyk Bank continued to support the 
Paralympian movement, giving financial aid to the 
Special Olympics Public Association. The Bank do-
nated KZT1 million in 2014, bringing the total for the 
last three years to KZT2.5 million.
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Honouring the heroes

The Bank seeks to support veterans of World War II 
through various initiatives, in recognition of their he-
roic deeds.

1. Victory Marathon is a traditional event organised by 
Halyk Bank on Victory Day each year. As part of the 
event, the Bank provides charitable assistance to key 
veteran organisations in Almaty every year. Regional 
branches of the Bank arrange food baskets for World 
War II veterans who are their customers.

	 Over the last six years, the Bank has donated more 
than KZT56 million to World War II veterans and vet-
eran organisations under the event. In 2014 alone, 
veteran organisations of Almaty, Astana and Talgar 
received more than KZT.8 million in charity aid. The 
amount includes KZT6.1 million spent by regional 
branches on food baskets for World War II veterans 
who are customers of the Bank. 

2. In recognition of the achievements and heroic 
deeds of Kazakhstan’s veterans, the Bank sponsored 
the publication of a three-volume book, Through 
the Flames of War, which is dedicated to the Kazakhs 
who served and worked on the front. The Bank spent 
KZT2.8 million on the project. The book provides a 
poignant insight into the hardships of the war years. 

Laying the foundations of a successful business

As the leading financial institution in Kazakhstan, Halyk 
Bank recognises the importance of contributing to 
economic development and entrepreneurship in the 
country.

As part of this, in 2014, the Bank was an official sponsor 
of the Atameken Startup business ideas competition. 
Held in 12 cities in Kazakhstan, it aims to promote en-
trepreneurship among young people. The Bank gave 
KZT10 million in sponsorship funds.

In 2014, the Bank also spent KZT4 million on other so-
cial projects.

Halyk Bank’s HR system

The Bank’s HR system is governed by the Kazakh La-
bour Code, Tax Code, and Law On Banks and Banking 
Activities in the Republic of Kazakhstan. 

Between 2007 and 2014, the Bank conducted a proj-
ect to optimise and automate its business processes, 
which resulted in a 9% optimisation in headcount and 
greater labour productivity.

In 2014, the Bank continued to implement software 
that standardises IT access for cash and settlement 
employees, rolling it out in district divisions and some 
units of the Operation Department. Various sales chan-

Headcount by business area at the year-end

Business area 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 Difference 2014/2007
Branches 8,253 8,306 7,792 7,725 7,470 7,394 7,395 7,308 (11%) (945)

Head Office 1,554 1,602 1,522 1,463 1,491 1,496 1,534 1,638 5% 84

Total 9,806 9,907 9,314 9,188 8,962 8,890 8,928 8,946 (9%) 861
Difference 687 101 (594) (126) (226) (72) 38 18
% branches 5% 1% (6%) (1%) (3%) (1%) 0% (1%)

% Head Office 23% 3% (5%) (3.9%) 2% 0.3% 2.5% 1%

Total 8% 1% (6%) (1%) (2%) (1%) 0.4% 0.2%

nels were moved to the Akmola, Astana, Zhezkazgan 
and Karaganda regional branches. As part of cost-cut-
ting measures, the Bank transferred various divisions 
to regional branches: a Card Issuance Division was es-
tablished in Astana; the Soft Collection Division was 
moved from the Almaty regional branch to Pavlodar; 
and preparations began to relocate the Head Office 
Call Centre from Almaty to Pavlodar.

Staff recruitment is governed by the Bank’s Staff Search 
and Recruitment Rules. To increase the efficiency and 
quality of its recruitment process, the Bank is constant-
ly looking for new and updating its existing interna-
tionally recognised personality tests and individual 
questionnaires.

The Bank has an active professional development and 
motivation programme for key employees. In accor-
dance with the programme, the most experienced 
employees are included in the Talent Pool ready to 
meet the Bank’s requirements for management per-
sonnel and quickly fill other key positions in the Bank’s 
units, as well as to improve the quality of staff required 
for the Bank to achieve its strategic goals. Members of 
the Talent Pool are entitled to financial support from 
the Bank for MBA and Masters degree programmes. In 
2014, 372 employees were added to the Talent Pool, 
48% of vacancies were filled from it, and 82% of open 
positions were filled internally.
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Staff motivation and loyalty

To reward staff for their achievements, the Bank has 
developed a system of employee motivation, which 
includes the following: 

1.	Regular salary revisions to reflect changes in the la-
bour market.

2.	Bonus payments for annual performance based on 
reviews.

3.	A one-off bonus for Tenge National Currency Day.

4.	A one-off bonus for Independence Day in Kazakh-
stan.

5.	Monthly performance-based bonuses for cash and 
settlement unit employees.

6.	Benefits and compensations:

•	 Various types of insurance, including health and life 
cover;

•	 Financial assistance in connection with certain per-
sonal events;

•	 Additional paid leave in connection with certain 
personal events;

•	 Seniority bonuses;

•	 Compensations for employment/transfer to other 
regional offices of the Bank and its subsidiaries;

•	 Sport and recreational activities for employees: 
gym membership, organisation of various sporting 
events at the local and national levels;

•	 Employee achievement recognition programme;

•	 Support for unemployed retirees of the Bank, hol-
iday events, and financial assistance in connection 
with holidays and certain personal events; 

•	 Organisation of corporate activities on Nauryz, In-
ternational Women’s Day, family summer outings, 
Tenge National Currency Day, New Year’s Eve;

•	 Initiative development programme;

•	 Parking spaces for managers of the Bank;

•	 Benefits for maternity leave;

•	 Subsidised mortgages for employees.

7.	Regular induction days for new recruits.

8.	To improve staff loyalty, the Bank has developed and 
implemented an action plan to promote its business 
strategy and corporate values. The plan includes 
regular meetings of senior managers and employ-
ees to explain the strategy, as well as various con-
tests.

9.	Continuous communication regarding the Bank’s 
operations, achievements, strategy and values to 
employees via meetings, virtual data rooms, confer-
ence calls, Q&A sessions with the Chairperson of the 
Management Board and personal addresses by se-
nior managers.

10. Continuous communication of the Bank’s events          	
 and news to employees via an intranet (Halyk Info)   	
 and a quarterly internal corporate newspaper (Halyk 
Janalyk)

11. The Bank holds a variety of contests to foster team  	
  spirit and corporate morale among employees.

12. Throughout the year, the Bank holds charitable 	
  events for orphans and children with disabilities, 	
 World War II veterans, labour veterans, and other  
  disadvantaged people. 

13. The Bank has developed and implemented a non- 
 financial recognition plan aimed at increasing the   
  corporate morale and loyalty of employees.

14. A quarterly internal employee engagement sur-
vey. 

15. A wider one-off employee engagement survey to  	
      identify what motivates and encourages staff.

Personnel development

As part of professional development and training, the 
Bank focuses on corporate training for Halyk Group 
employees to develop their abilities to cross-sell the 
full range of Halyk Group services, client-oriented 
operations and high-quality professional growth of 
employees and middle management. In 2014, which 
was declared the Year of Customer Service Quality, an 
emphasis was placed on customer service training for 
employees in the Retail and SME divisions.

To ensure a systematic approach to training and per-
sonnel development, since 2006, the Bank’s Person-
nel Development Unit has been organising training 
sessions with professional business coaches and 
professors of banking and finance, as well as training 
facilities (including specialised computer classes) in 
Head Office and the branches.

The Personnel Development Unit is responsible for 
systematic personnel training, including professional 
tests and exams; training programmes adapted to the 
technologies and practices in place at the Bank; and 
programmes to develop business skills and improve 
banking and financial knowledge across all branches.

Available through the Bank’s corporate IT network is 
a system of remote training, which allows employees 
of city, suburban and regional branches to enrol on 
training and development programmes.

Each area of corporate training is based on a staged 
approach, while learning material is structured by 
information complexity and depth of detail. The ap-
proach ensures a continuous improvement of profes-
sional knowledge and practical skills.
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Separate sets of learning materials and programmes 
have been produced for the professional develop-
ment of employees across all business areas, as well 
as for key personnel categories within each of those.

The Bank provides obligatory training and certifica-
tion for certain personnel categories as required by 
applicable regulations. Employees undergo profes-
sional training, professional certification and MBA 
programmes, and programmes related to new tech-
nologies. If necessary, the Bank can arrange training 
for employees in other divisions. Bank employees of-

ten participate in local and international forums, con-
gresses and conferences.

Corporate training is provided in the following key areas:

•	 Basic skills for line managers;

•	 Sales and effective customer service skills;

•	 Products offered by the Bank and its subsidiaries;

•	 Internal rules and standards;

•	 Financial analysis.

In addition, employees with work experience of more 
than 6 months are entitled to external training and 
professional certification in Kazakhstan and abroad, 
with all training, travel and accommodation expenses 
covered by the Bank.

In 2014, 511 employees participated in external train-
ing and professional certification programmes in Ka-
zakhstan and abroad (including compulsory training 
on health and safety in the workplace), while 1,778 
employees underwent corporate professional devel-
opment programmes in-house.
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The Bank recognises that high standards of corporate 
governance are vital for its success on a free and com-
petitive market. The Bank seeks to maintain an effec-
tive system of corporate governance that regulates 
interaction among the Board of Directors, the Man-
agement Board and shareholders, increases its capital-
isation, and generates returns for investors. 

Since the initial public offering (IPO) on the London 
Stock Exchange in 2006, the Bank has placed particu-
lar importance on these principles. The IPO was more 
than simply a way of raising finance: it was also an in-
dication of the Bank’s commitment to pursuing the 
standards expected of a modern financial institution 
of international standing.

The Bank develops and streamlines its corporate gov-
ernance system based on:

•	 New Kazakh legislative requirements relating to the 
risk management systems of second-tier banks;

•	 New risks that financial organisations might encoun-
ter in the current environment due to the slower 
economic growth in both Kazakhstan and the other 
member countries of the Eurasian Economic Union;

•	 Its ongoing efforts to build an efficient, transparent, 
stable and innovative financial institution that ad-
heres to the best practices in corporate governance 
observed in OECD countries.

UK Corporate Governance Code Compliance

This section has been prepared in accordance with 
section DTR 7.2. of the UK Financial Conduct Authori-
ty’s Disclosure and Transparency Rules (corporate gov-
ernance statements).

As a foreign company with global depository receipts 
admitted to the Official List of the London Stock Ex-
change, the Bank is not required to comply with the 
UK Corporate Governance Code published by the Fi-

nancial Reporting Council – the independent regula-
tor of the United Kingdom – in May 2010 and amend-
ed in April 2012. However, in accordance with DTR 7.2, 
the Bank is obliged to disclose information about its 
compliance with both the Kazakh Code of Corporate 
Governance and the existing corporate governance 
principles to which it adheres above those stipulated in 
Kazakh legislation.

The Bank considers the UK Corporate Governance 
Code a guideline for further development of corporate 
governance.

The Bank’s existing Corporate Governance Code differs 
from the UK Corporate Governance Code, as disclosed 
below. These differences are partly caused by require-
ments of the Kazakh Code of Corporate Governance, 
legal requirements and rules of the Kazakh regulator 
– the National Bank of Kazakhstan – and partly by the 
domestic environment of the Bank’s activities.

The Bank’s Code of Corporate Governance and the UK 
Corporate Governance Code

The Bank’s Code of Corporate Governance includes 
several distinctions from the UK Corporate Governance 
Code. Below are the main differences: 

•	 The Bank’s Code of Corporate Governance does not 
require a regular re-election of the Board. Instead, the 
scope of the General Shareholder Meeting covers de-
termining the Board’s term of authority.

The General Shareholder Meeting of 25 April 2014 set 
a three-year term for the current Board. This approach 
does not contradict the UK Corporate Governance 
Code, which stipulates a maximum three-year term for 
the re-election of Directors.

•	 The UK Corporate Governance Code provides for the 
appointment of one of the independent non-execu-
tive directors as the senior independent director.

The Bank’s Board has not appointed a senior indepen-
dent director. This issue will be considered in the future.

•	 The UK Corporate Governance Code provides for 
meetings of non-executive directors at least annu-
ally, in particular, to appraise the chairman’s perfor-
mance. 

In 2014, non-executive directors held informal meet-
ings, also attended by the corporate secretary, to dis-
cuss strategic issues, ways to improve corporate gov-
ernance processes, the Board’s activities, and to assess 
the work of the corporate secretary.

•	 The UK Corporate Governance Code stipulates that 
at least half of the Board, excluding the chairman, 
consist of independent non-executive directors.

The Bank’s Code of Corporate Governance does not 
directly require this due to Kazakh legal requirements, 
which state that at least one third of the Board’s mem-
bers must be independent directors. However, the 
composition of the Board, as appointed by the Gener-
al Shareholder Meeting on 25 April 2014, includes four 
independent non-executive directors out of seven (ex-
cluding the Chairman). 

•	 The UK Corporate Governance Code stipulates that 
non-executive directors should carefully analyse to 
what extent the Management Board’s work fulfils 
the aims and objectives set, monitor its activities, 
and check that financial information published is 
complete and that financial controls and the risk 
management system are effective and reliable.

Under the Bank’s Code of Corporate Governance, all 
members of the Board of Directors are responsible for 
this.

Kazakh Code of Corporate Governance and the Bank’s 
Code of Corporate Governance

The Kazakh Code of Corporate Governance means 
the Code of Corporate Governance approved by the 
Issuers Board in February 2005 and by the Council of 
the Financial Institutions’ Association of Kazakhstan in 
March 2005 (amended in July 2007). When developing 
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the Kazakh Code of Corporate Governance, extensive 
international and Kazakhstan experience was consid-
ered. This Code is typical for Kazakh companies. 

The Bank’s Code of Corporate Governance was de-
veloped taking into consideration the Kazakh Code 
of Corporate Governance, legal requirements, recom-
mendations of the Kazakh regulator, ethical norms and 
other factors. Therefore, the Bank’s Code of Corporate 
Governance includes more extended provisions com-
pared with the Kazakh Code of Corporate Governance, 
which promotes improvement of corporate gover-
nance practice.
 
In addition, the Bank implements similar corporate 
governance practices in other companies of Halyk 
Group, and believes that this also helps to improve and 
foster a common understanding of corporate gover-
nance principles throughout the Group.
 
The major differences between the Bank’s Code of 
Corporate Governance and the Kazakh Code of Cor-
porate Governance are: 

•	 Added restrictive criteria for candidates for the Board 
of Directors and Management Board in accordance 
with recommendations of the Kazakh regulator in-
tended to raise the quality of the Bank bodies and 
prevent conflicts of interest;

•	 Added principles of responsibility for Directors and 
the Management Board;

•	 Description of how the activities of the Board of Di-
rectors and Management Board are organised with 
a clear segregation of duties;

•	 Principles for consideration in determining the re-
muneration of the Directors and the Management 
Board.

The Bank’s Code of Corporate Governance can be 
found on the corporate website: www.halykbank.kz/
en/corporate-governance

Corporate governance events in 2014

•	 There were changes in the composition of the Board 
of Directors and the Management Board;

•	 A new Chairman of the Board of Directors was elected;

•	 The transaction to acquire 100% of HSBC Bank Ka-
zakhstan was completed (the entity was subsequent-
ly renamed Altyn Bank).

•	 Changes were made to the Bank’s Charter, Code of 
Corporate Governance and Regulations on the Board 
of Directors to bring them into line with the require-
ments in the Decree of the Management Board of 
the National Bank of Kazakhstan no. 29, “On Approv-
ing the Rules for Creating A Risk Management and 
Internal Control System for Second-Tier Banks”, of 26 
February 2014.

Corporate governance structure

Halyk Bank adheres to the following principles of corpo-
rate governance:

•	 giving shareholders a real opportunity to execute 
their right to participate in managing the Bank;

•	 giving shareholders a real opportunity to take part 
in distributing the net profits of the Bank (obtaining 
dividends);

•	 ensuring timely and full disclosure of reliable infor-
mation to shareholders regarding the financial posi-
tion of the Bank, economic indicators, performance 
results and management structure, to ensure that 
sound decisions are taken by the Bank’s shareholders 
and investors;

•	 ensuring that all categories of shareholders are treat-
ed equally;

•	 ensuring maximum transparency in the activities of 
Bank officials;

•	 ensuring that the Board of Directors carries out the 
strategic management of the Bank and controls the 
activities of the executive body effectively, and that 
the Directors are accountable to shareholders;

•	 ensuring that the Management Board duly carries 
out effective routine management of the Bank, and 
that the Management Board is accountable to the 
Board of Directors and shareholders;

•	 common ethical norms in the Bank;

•	 ensuring that the Bank’s system of internal control is 
efficient and makes objective assessments.

The diagram below shows the structure of account-
ability in the corporate governance system.

The Board of Directors has several Committees: Stra-
tegic Planning Committee, Audit Committee, Nomina-
tion and Remuneration Committee and Social Respon-
sibilities Committee. For more details on their work, 
please proceed to the respective subsection below.

The Management Board has created numerous work-
ing bodies: directorates, committees and working 
groups. This allows it to consider major issues in detail 
in separate segments. Where necessary and if required 
by the law, decisions made by the working bodies are 
brought to the Management Board or Board of Direc-
tors for approval.

To ensure best practice in corporate governance, the 
Board is assisted by internal and external auditors, a 
compliance controller (who is at the same time the 
chief risk officer), a corporate secretary, and others. 

For instance, the Bank carries out internal auditing, risk 
management and compliance control services (the 
Bank’s activities in these areas are described in more 
detail in the subsection “Risk Management and Inter-
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nal Control” below), while the institution of corporate 
secretary regulates issues of conflicts of corporate in-
terest, among other matters. 

The Bank engages ‘Big 4’ professional services firms to 
audit the financial statements of Halyk Group. In 2014, 
this was carried out by Deloitte. 

Functions between the Board of Directors and the 
Management Board are allocated in accordance with 
Kazakh law. For instance, the Board of Directors is re-
sponsible for the following important issues:

•	 defining the priority areas of the Bank’s activity; ap-
proving the Development Strategy; approving a 
development plan in situations stipulated in Kazakh 
legislation; as part of approving the Development 
Strategy, setting and approving acceptable levels of 
risk; overseeing the fulfilment of the Development 
Strategy and evaluating its suitability based on cur-
rent market and economic conditions, the Bank’s risk 

profile and financial potential, and Kazakh legislation; 
reviewing appraisals of acceptable risk levels and 
comparing them with existing risks;

•	 ensuring that the Bank’s Charter complies with Ka-
zakh legislation and keeping it up to date;

•	 preliminarily approving annual financial reports;

•	 monitoring, controlling and evaluating the activities 
of the Management Board;

•	 approving the Bank’s organisational structure and 
ensuring that it corresponds to the size, structure, 
character and complexity of the Bank’s activities;

•	 approving the Bank’s budget for the corresponding 
year and overseeing its execution;

•	 establishing a transparent and efficient system of cri-
teria and procedures for nominating Management 

Board members and employees reporting to the 
Board of Directors, and determining their remuner-
ation;

•	 ensuring effective risk management and internal 
control systems, including by: approving the cor-
responding internal documents defined by Kazakh 
legislation; reviewing information and reports on 
monitoring and control of risk management issues; 
auditing; ensuring compliance with Kazakh legisla-
tion and internal documents in cases stipulated by 
regulations on creating a system of risk manage-
ment and internal control, and compliance thereto;

•	 creating a system to identify and resolve conflicts of 
interest;

•	 analysing and evaluating applications for loans ex-
ceeding 5% of the Bank’s total equity;

•	 approving large and related-party transactions;
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•	 approving acquisitions of 10% or more of shares in 
other legal entities;

•	 maintaining an ongoing dialogue with the Bank’s 
shareholders;

•	 creating authorised collegiate bodies, in accordance 
with the law, to oversee the creation of a system of 
risk management and internal control; and approv-
ing internal documents governing their activities;

•	 ensuring that regulatory reports are submitted in 
full, accurately and on time.

The Management Board is responsible for managing 
the Bank’s day-to-day operations, including:

•	 implementing strategic decisions made by the 
Board of Directors;

•	 developing draft strategic documents for consider-
ation by the Board of Directors;

•	 determining limits for loans, guarantees and com-
mitments that do not constitute large transactions;

•	 appointing directors to the Bank’s branches;

•	 interacting with subsidiaries, branches and repre-
sentative offices of the Bank;

•	 implementing internal control and risk manage-
ment mechanisms in accordance with the strategy 
adopted by the Board of Directors;

•	 approving the structure and personnel of the Bank.

Name Position

Alexander 
Pavlov

Chairman, Independent non-executive 
director

Ulf Wokurka Strategic Planning Committee Chairman,
Independent non-executive director

Arman Dunaev Independent non-executive director

Frank Kuijlaars Nomination and Remuneration  
Committee Chairman,
Chairman of Social Responsibilities 
Committee,
Independent non-executive director

Mazhit  
Yessenbayev

Director, Representative of Holding 
Group ALMEX

Christof Ruehl Audit Committee Chairman, Indepen-
dent non-executive director

Umut  
Shayakhmetova

Chairperson of the Management Board

Total 7 Directors

Structure of the Board of Directors

In 2014, the Annual General Shareholder Meeting ap-
proved the composition of the Board of seven people.

In April 2014, Mr. Zh. Nurabayev exited the Board of Di-
rectors on his own initiative.

In April 2014, the Annual General Shareholder Meeting 
elected Mr. M. Yessenbayev to the Board of Directors a 
representative of Holding Group ALMEX.

Correspondingly, at the end of 2014, the composition of 
the Board of Directors was as follows:

Composition of the Board of Directors

When determining the independence of the Direc-
tors, the Board of Directors uses the criteria stipulated 
by Kazakh law.

Skills and experience of the Directors

Halyk Bank seeks the best balance of experience, skills 
and vision in its Directors. The presence of a variety of 
views when discussing issues allows the Board of Di-
rectors to exercise its duties and represent the interests 
of shareholders most effectively.
 
Independent Directors contribute international experi-
ence, strategic vision, insight into the largest industries 
where the Bank operates, corporate governance and 
risk management.
 

5

Independent directors

2

Directors

Composition of the Board of Directors
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At the same time, all Directors possess knowledge of 
banking activities, finance in general, and human re-
sources management, including issues of remunera-
tions. 

Information on the skills and experience of the Board 
of Directors is summarised below:

Skills and experience of the Board of Directors

Industry Number of directors

Banking 6 

Oil and gas and mining 4 

Other industries in the real economy 5 

Finance 7 

Leadership 7 

Risk management 4 

International experience 5 

Strategic vision 7 

Corporate governance 7 

Human resources management 7 

Total number of Directors 7 

Structure of the Management Board

In 2014, there were several changes in the Manage-
ment Board. In July, Ms. Zh. Satubaldina was elected to 
the Management Board. In September, Ms. S. Kishkim-
bayeva exited on her own initiative and Mr. M. Koshen-
ov was elected. The composition of the Management 
Board is as follows:

Composition of the Management Board

Name Position
Umut  
Shayakhmetova

Chairperson of the Management 
Board

Marat Almenov
Deputy Chairman 
Retail Banking

Dauren Karabayev
Deputy Chairman
International Activities,  
Treasury and Subsidiaries

Aliya Karpykova
Deputy Chairperson
Finance, Accounting and Property

Murat Koshenov
Deputy Chairman
Corporate Banking

Stanislav Kosobokov
Deputy Chairman
SME Banking

Zhannat  
Satubaldina

Deputy Chairperson
Interactions with Large Companies 

Askar Smagulov
Deputy Chairman
Operations and Information  
Technologies

Kozhamurat  
Uskimbayev

Deputy Chairman
Security and Problem Loans

Total 9 members

Board’s activities 

In general, the Board of Directors and its Committees 
work in accordance with the plans for respective pe-
riods.

In 2014, the Board of Directors held 430 meetings, in-
cluding six in person and 424 in absentia. 

At the meetings in person, the Board of Directors dis-
cussed the most important strategic issues, such as: 

•	 Results of the Group Strategy for 2013-14;

•	 Major projects of the Bank;

•	 2013 financial statements (preliminary approval) and 
quarterly performance reports of the Management 
Board;

•	 Stress-testing the loan portfolio;

•	 Approaches to tariffs policy;

•	 Analysis of loan portfolio quality;

•	 Internal audit issues;

•	 Analysis of related-party and other transactions and 
others.

Absentee voting was conducted for routine issues that 
are legally included in the Board of Directors’ duties, 
and most urgent issues that could not wait until the 
next ordinary meeting in person. 

Detailed reports of Committees

General provisions

The Committees of the Board of Directors are consult-
ing and advisory bodies to the Board of Directors. All 
of their suggestions are recommendations that are 
made for the Board of Directors’ consideration. 
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Under Kazakh law, Committee members are Board of 
Directors’ members and experts. More detailed infor-
mation on the composition of the Committees is pro-
vided below in the subsections on the activities of the 
respective Committees. 

All Committees act in accordance with their Statutes.

Audit Committee 

The Audit Committee was established in July 2005. 
The Committee consists of three Directors who are 
elected by a majority of Board of Directors’ votes. At 
least two of them should be independent non-execu-
tive directors. The members of the Committee are: 

Christof Ruehl 
Chairman, Independent non-executive director;

Alexander Pavlov 
Member, Independent non-executive director;

Arman Dunaev 
Member, Independent non-executive director.

All members of the Committee are independent 
non-executive directors and knowledgeable and ex-
perienced in accounting and tax accounting, internal 
and external auditing, and risk management. 

Committee functions

The Committee assists the Board of Directors on issues 
of the completeness and authenticity of financial re-
ports, compliance of the Bank and its subsidiaries with 
legal requirements and internal documents (compli-
ance control), selection and independence of the ex-
ternal auditor, adequacy and efficiency of internal con-
trol and risk management systems, and coordination 
of internal audit activities. 

Committee activities

In 2014, the Committee held three meetings in person 
(nine items considered) and 58 in absentia (64 items 
considered). 

To ensure the completeness and reliability of financial 
statements, the Committee considered interim (quar-
terly) reports of the external auditor and management 
letters to the Bank and subsidiaries in this respect, and 
approved and submitted the 2013 annual financial 
statements for consideration by the Board of Directors.
As part of this work, among other things, the Commit-
tee discussed principles of important accounting judg-
ments, policies and procedures with the external audi-
tor and the Bank’s financial division.
 
In 2014, internal audits were conducted regarding var-
ious business processes and in various divisions of the 
Bank and its subsidiaries, and the results were reviewed 
by the Committee. In addition, the Committee regular-
ly reviews reports on implementation of internal audit 
recommendations by the Management Board and by 
the Bank’s subsidiaries.

The Committee reviewed the report on the self-assess-
ment of the Internal Audit Department’s compliance 
with international best practices in internal audit, as de-
fined by the Institute of Internal Auditors, for 2013.

The Committee also reviewed the report on the effec-
tiveness of the internal control system in place at the 
Bank and subsidiaries over the first half of 2014.

When considering the work plan for internal audits 
for the next year and the long-term working plan for 
2016-18, the Committee assessed the resources of the 
Internal Audit Department. The Committee discussed a 
number of issues with the Internal Audit Director sepa-
rately from the executive body. In particular, the Com-
mittee was satisfied that the Internal Audit Department 
was granted access to all of the necessary information. 
The Committee reviewed a report from the Compli-
ance controller on the effectiveness of the compliance 
risk management system over the first half of 2014.

In 2014, the Committee reviewed quarterly reports on 
the quality of the loan portfolio from the risk manage-
ment team.
 

The Committee also reviewed the report on the sched-
uled comprehensive audit of the Bank by the Financial 
Market and Financial Organisations Committee as of 1 
February 2013, and declared that the subsequent ac-
tion plan had been fulfilled.

The Committee also approved numerous method-
ological regulations for internal audit and risk man-
agement services for further approval by the Board of 
Directors. The aim was to bring internal documents in 
line with Decree no. 29 of the National Bank of Kazakh-
stan, “On Approving the Rules for Creating a Risk Man-
agement and Internal Control System for Second-Tier 
Banks”, of 26 February 2014. 

Nomination and Remuneration Committee

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee was 
established in September 2007. 

The Committee consists of three Directors who are 
elected by a majority of the Board of Directors’ votes. 
At least two of them should be independent non-ex-
ecutive directors. The members of the Committee are:

Frank Kuijlaars 
Chairman, Independent non-executive director;

Alexander Pavlov 
Member, Independent non-executive director;

Umut Shayakhmetova
Member, Chairperson of the Management Board.

The majority of the Committee is independent 
non-executive directors, and all Committee members 
have extensive experience in human resources man-
agement, including issues of remunerations.

Committee functions

The Committee makes recommendations to the 
Board of Directors regarding candidates for the Board 
of Directors, the Management Board and the boards 
of directors of the Bank’s subsidiaries, on the remuner-



 65 

ations system for Board of Directors members and the 
Management Board, and on salaries of the boards of di-
rectors and executive bodies of subsidiaries.

Committee activities

In 2014, the Committee held 13 meetings in absentia (21 
items considered) and none in person.

Recommendations were made to the Board of Direc-
tors on the system of compensation for the Chairman 
of the Board of Directors, members of the Board of Di-
rectors and the Management Board, Internal Audit De-
partment and Corporate Secretary, as well as managers 
of the Bank’s subsidiaries.

The Board’s remuneration for 2014 was KZT 1.1 billion.

The Management Board remuneration is based on the 
following criteria: 

•	 The estimate of a job position, its importance for the 
company, as well as the Member’s of the Manage-
ment Board contribution to the Bank’s operating re-
sults; 

•	 Remuneration of similar positions on the job market 
region-wide; 

•	 The estimate of the Member’s of the Management 
Board working results, according to which annual bo-
nuses are paid. 

The Committee also made recommendations to the 
Board of Directors regarding the changes in the Man-
agement Board’s composition in July 2014 (the appoint-
ment of Ms. Zh. Satubaldina) and September 2014 (the 
departure of Ms. S. Kishkimbayeva and the appointment 
of Mr. M. Koshenov). The Committee also considered 
members of the Talent Pool for executive positions for 
2014.

Strategic Planning Committee 

The Strategic Planning Committee was established in 
April 2012.

The Committee consists of eight Directors who are 
elected by a majority of the Board of Directors’ votes. 
The members of the Committee are:

Ulf Wokurka 
Chairman, Independent non-executive director;

Arman Dunaev 
Member, Independent non-executive director;

Alexander Pavlov 
Member, Independent non-executive director;

Frank Kuijlaars 
Member, Independent non-executive director;

Mazhit Yessenbayev 
Member, Director;

Christof Ruehl 
Member, Independent non-executive director;

Umut Shayakhmetova 
Member, Chairperson of the Management Board;

Dauren Karabayev 
member of the Management Board, expert (silent 
member).

Committee functions

The Committee provides assistance to the Board of Di-
rectors in matters regarding Halyk Group’s Strategy, anal-
yses strategy implementation reports and monitors the 
external environment and its impact on the Group’s stra-
tegic plans.

Committee activities

In 2014, the Committee held three meetings in person 
(five items considered).

The Committee reviewed the results of the implementa-
tion of Halyk Group’s Strategy for 2013-15 in 2013. Analysis 
showed that the goals set had been achieved satisfacto-
rily. It also reviewed amendments to the Group’s Strategy 
for 2013-15 and made amendments to the Regulations 
on the Strategic Planning Committee of the Board of Di-
rectors.

The Committee also reviewed the results of the imple-
mentation of Halyk Group’s Strategy for 2013-15 in the 
first and the second half of 2014.

The Committee also analyses changes in the external 
environment (regulatory, economic, financial, etc.) and 

assesses their impact on the Group’s Strategy.

Social Responsibility Committee

The Social Responsibility Committee was established in 
April 2012.

The Committee consists of three Directors, who are 
elected by a majority of the Board of Directors’ votes, 
and one expert, a Management Board member super-
vising issues of sponsorship and charity.

All of the Members, apart from the expert, are indepen-
dent non-executive directors.

Frank Kuijlaars 
Chairman, Independent non-executive director;

Ulf Wokurka 
Member, Independent non-executive director;

Christof Ruehl 
Member, Independent non-executive director;

Stanislav Kosobokov 
Member of Management Board, expert (silent mem-
ber).

Committee functions

The Committee assists the Board of Directors in issues of 
Bank policy on corporate social responsibility and sus-
tainable development; Bank compliance with legislative 
requirements regarding corporate social responsibility; 
potential risks in corporate social responsibility and the 
minimisation thereof; the preparation and publication 
of the report on corporate social responsibility; and pre-
liminary consideration of the social expenses budget 
for the respective period. 

Committee activities

In 2014, the Committee held two meetings in person 
(three items considered).

The Committee approved plans to optimise corporate 
social responsibility performance in 2015. It also adopt-
ed the Bank’s draft budget for sponsorship and charity 
for 2015.

The Committee reviewed and approved the Bank’s re-
port on corporate social responsibility for 2014.
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Relations with minority shareholders

The Bank strives to continuously improve its system for 
dealing with minority shareholders, which allows them 
to ask questions and receive the necessary information 
conveniently (in writing and/or by email).
Communications from minority shareholders and their 
wishes are regularly analysed, after which existing 
channels are improved or new ones introduced where 
necessary. The Bank informs shareholders of all sub-
stantial news and planned events via its website and 
the websites of stock exchanges.

Results of 2014:

•	 The Bank organised and convened the Annual Gen-
eral Shareholders’ Meeting on 25 April 2014, at which 
13 resolutions were passed on issues under consid-
eration, including information about shareholder re-
sponses to actions of the Bank and its officials;

•	 The Bank also organised and held an Extraordinary 
General Shareholders’ Meeting on 5 December 
2014, where three resolutions were passed on issues 
under consideration; 

•	 Where necessary, employees of the Head Office pro-
vide consultations to employees of the branches on 
shareholder relations and to Bank shareholders on 
queries about accrued dividends, changes in bank-
ing details, and other matters; 

•	 In May 2014, the Bank paid dividends on preferred 
shares and convertible preferred shares to share-
holders as of the year-end 2013 totalling KZT1,799 
million, or KZT9.28 per preferred share and convert-
ible preferred share, to 40 shareholders; 

•	 The Bank is paying dividends on common shares for 
2013 of KZT1.70 per share, or KZT18,549 million in to-
tal. As of 1 January 2015, 7.1 thousand shareholders 
had received KZT18,504 million, or 99.8% of the ac-
crued amount. 

•	 The Bank considered 13 inquiries from shareholders 
regarding dividend payments, social welfare benefits, 
the share buy-back procedure, other issues regarding 
the Bank’s activities, and securities law provisions. 

Dividend policy 

Shareholders’ rights to dividends and the procedure for 
the payment thereof are stipulated by the Bank’s Char-
ter and the Code of Corporate Governance approved 
by General Shareholder Meetings. 

In September 2012, the Board of Directors approved 
the Dividend Policy of Halyk Bank. The resolution was 
based on the strategic plans of the Bank for 2013-2015 
regarding payment of dividends on common shares for 
a long-term period and the creation of a clear and trans-
parent mechanism for dividend payment, and because 
of the need for a separate, flexible internal regulatory 
document. 

The main purpose of the Bank’s Dividend Policy is to 
establish a transparent mechanism for dividend pay-
ments, considering the following limitations:

•	 maintaining (retaining) the Bank’s international credit 
ratings;

•	 the maximum size of dividends on preferred shares;

•	 growth of the Bank’s RWA in the medium term and 
its corresponding need for capital;

•	 average sector indicators for the capitalisation of 
banks in Kazakhstan and in the regions;

•	 compliance with covenants.

Concerning existing limitations on payments of divi-
dends on common shares (covenants), the Eurobond 
prospectus states the following:

•	 not more than 50% of net profits (as determined by 
audited IFRS statements) for the period for which 
the payment is made;

•	 not more frequently than once per calendar year;

•	 payment of dividends is restricted if the Bank is in 
default, or if such a payment may lead to a default 
on the Bank’s liabilities.

The documents are available on the Bank’s corporate 
website: www.halykbank.kz.

Shareholders owning common, preferred and con-
vertible preferred shares are entitled to dividends. The 
frequency of dividend payments and size of the divi-
dend per preferred share are established in the Bank’s 
Charter and Prospectus.

In accordance with the Bank’s Charter, dividends on 
common shares may be paid to shareholders annually 
from net profits. Decisions on the frequency and the 
size of dividend payments are made by the General 
Shareholder Meeting at the suggestion of the Board 
of Directors.
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Director awareness and training 

New members of the Board of Directors are provided 
with an introductory package with basic information 
about the history and current positions of the Bank 
and Halyk Group, an organisational chart of the Bank, 
a Director’s responsibilities, and the main reports from 
the consolidated financial statements as of the most 
recent reporting date. 

Members of the Board of Directors are also given infor-
mation about the main changes in banking law.

The Bank intends to further develop and improve the 
knowledge and qualifications of Board of Directors’ 
members. 

Risk management and internal control

Roles and responsibilities

For risk management and internal control, functions 
within the Bank are distributed as follows:

•	 The Board of Directors carries out strategic gover-
nance on internal control and risk management, and 

2014 (for 2013) 2013 (for 2012) 2012 (for 2011) 2011 (for 2010)
Per preferred share 1.80 2.24 5.24 5.49
Per common share 18.55 12.22 - -
Total 20.35 14.46 5.24 5.49

Dividends paid for previous financial years are as follows:

approves and periodically revises risk management 
policies. The working body of the Board of Directors 
for risk management and internal controls is the Au-
dit Committee. 

•	 The Board of Directors also considers large transac-
tions of the Bank, transactions where the Bank has 
an interest, and related-party transactions, including 
with respect to an absence of preferential conditions. 

•	 The Management Board is responsible for the im-
plementation of risk management policies. The Bank 
has the following key committees, reporting to the 
Management Board, that carry out various risk man-
agement and control functions: credit committees 
(Commercial Directorate (Credit Committee of the 
Head Office), Credit Committee of the Branch Net-
work, Retail Credit Committee, Bad Loans Commit-
tee, Committee for Managing Assets and Liabilities 
(ALCO). 

•	 Structural divisions of the Bank are directly respon-
sible for identifying and assessing inherent risks, the 
adequacy of controls and business continuity. 

•	 Independent risk management and compliance ser-
vices are responsible for organising the risk manage-
ment system, which ensures identification, assess-
ment, control and monitoring of credit, operational, 
market, compliance and liquidity risks. The risk man-
agement and compliance functions are headed by 
the Chief Risk Officer, the Compliance Controller, 
who reports to the Chairperson of the Management 
Board and is entitled to report directly to the Board 
of Directors. 

•	 The internal audit service (Department) provides 
independent and objective guarantees and con-
sultations aimed at improving Halyk Group’s perfor-
mance. The internal audit service helps to achieve 
the goals set for the Group using a systematic and 
consistent approach to assessing and improving the 
efficiency of risk management, control and corpo-
rate governance processes. 

•	 The diagram below shows the most active bodies 
and committees of the Bank that participate in risk 
management and internal control processes. 
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Board of Directors
• Approves policies

• Sets tone “from top
  to bottom”

• Large transactions

• Related party transactions

Management
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  mechanisms
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  management process
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Independent assurance of efficiency
of risk management, internal control
and corporate governance systems

Risk Management Service /
Compliance Division

• Organization of risk management
  system (credit, market, liquidity,
  operational, compliance)

• Ensuring identification,
  assessment and control over risks

• Development of policies and
  tools for detecting and
  control over risks

• Independent assessment of risks
  and existing controls, work out
  necessary recommendations

• Calculation and monitoring
  of limits

• Ensuring compliance with
  regulatory requirements

Credit risk

Credit risk
Liquidity risk
Market risk

Operational risks
Compliance risksStructural Divisions

Committee for Managing
Assets and Liabilities

Bad Loans Committee

Retail Credit Committees

Credit Committee
of the Branch Network

Commercial Directorate
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‘Three lines of defence’ risk management system

Risk management in the Bank is based on the ‘three 
lines of defence’ system. The first includes the top 
management and structural divisions, the second – risk 
management committees/risk management teams 
and Compliance, and the third – internal audit. 

•	 The first line of defence represents the controls de-
veloped to ensure correct day-to-day operations by 
various business divisions of the Bank. The controls 
are developed by the business divisions and are an 
integral part of business processes. Clearly delineat-
ed controls help to ensure an adequate level of risk 
minimisation and compliance with internal regula-
tions, as well as compliance with external regulatory 
requirements. Management and monitoring of the 
controls is carried out by the divisions themselves, 
enabling them to detect risks, weaknesses of busi-
ness processes and possible unforeseen events, and 
to react to them in a timely manner.

•	 The second line of defence is represented by risk 
management committees, the risk management 
function and Compliance. The committees and risk 
management function are responsible for manag-
ing risks within the set risk appetite. The main chain 
loop of the second line of defence is the risk man-
agement function. To ensure an adequate level of 
control, the risk management team determines 
procedures for assessing risks (credit, financial, oper-
ational), and risk monitoring. The risk management 
team carries out regular independent monitoring 
of risks, develops control methods for efficient risk 
management on the first line of defence and, along 
with the Compliance Division, assists business divi-
sions with regulatory requirements compliance in 
the respective areas.

•	 The third line of defence represents the function of 
independent assurance regarding internal control 
efficiency. The third line of defence is represented 
by the internal audit function. It carries out checks of 
the internal control system based on the audit plan, 

which is, in turn, based on the risk level inherent in var-
ious divisions. The audit plan covers both the first and 
second lines of defence, ensuring an efficiency assess-
ment of the Bank’s overall internal control system. 

The Bank acknowledges that it is impossible to totally 
exclude risks inherent to banking operations. However, 
the Bank is confident that its risk management system 
enables them to be minimised significantly. 

Code of Conduct

The Bank builds relations with employees and clients 
according to the principles of law, mutual respect and 
trust.

In 2013, the Bank approved Rules of Corporate Ethics, 
which aim to: 

1.	secure the mission, values, principles and standards of 
business ethics and behaviour; 

2.	develop a uniform corporate culture based on high 
ethical standards, support an atmosphere of trust, 
mutual respect and decency; 

3.	increase and maintain trust in the Bank from share-
holders, clients, business partners, public authorities, 
the public and other interested parties; and strength-
en its reputation as an open and honest player on the 
financial market; 

4.	assist in interacting effectively with stakeholders; 

5.	prevent violations of the current laws of Kazakhstan 
by Bank employees. 

These rules cover the professional behaviour of officials 
and employees of the Bank in discharging their duties, 
and in relationships with each other and shareholders, 
clients, business partners, public authorities, the public 
and other interested parties entering into relations with 
the Bank. 

Bank executives seek to set a personal example of 
commitment to the Bank. They allocate time to cre-
ate a talent pool for the Bank, consult and coach, and 
gather into the team employees united by a common 
mission, values and principles.
 
Every employee is obliged to maintain the image and 
business reputation of the Bank at a high level. 

Internal audit

To ensure the independence and objectivity of the 
internal audit, the Internal Audit Department function-
ally reports to the Board of Directors. Working inter-
action with the Directors is carried out via the Audit 
Committee and directly.
 
Selection of subjects for an audit plan is made in ac-
cordance with international standards and the require-
ments of the Kazakh regulator based on risk assess-
ment. The work plan of the Internal Audit Department 
is considered by the Audit Committee and approved 
by the Board of Directors. Where necessary, unsched-
uled audits may be undertaken.
 
The Internal Audit Department performs audits and 
consultations. Assessment of the efficiency of internal 
control, risk management and corporate governance 
systems is made during audits.
 
The results of audits and consultations and corre-
sponding recommendations are presented to the 
Management Board, Audit Committee and Board of 
Directors.
 
In addition, for each audit task, the Department makes 
recommendations on eliminating issues, which the 
Bank takes into account when undertaking appropri-
ate measures.

The Internal Audit Department periodically reports to 
the Audit Committee and the Board of Directors about 
the implementation of action plans.
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The Internal Audit Department also presents other re-
ports to the Audit Committee and the Board of Direc-
tors as required by the regulator and the international 
standards of professional internal audit practice of the 
Institute of Internal Auditors.
 
The Department periodically undergoes an external 
evaluation of compliance with the International Inter-
nal Audit Standards developed by the Institute of In-
ternal Auditors. 

Nomination and contracting of Directors (general in-
formation on procedures)

When nominated, Directors are subject to approval by 
the Kazakh regulator in accordance with the Rules for 
Granting Assent to the Appointment (Election) of Man-
aging Persons of Financial Institutions and Bank and In-
surance Holdings.
 
Contracts are concluded with Directors in accordance 
with the Bank’s Policy on Management Personnel Re-
munerations and Reimbursements and Creating An-
nual Performance Results Bonus Awards Reserve.

Decisions on payments and individual amounts of Di-
rectors’ remunerations (apart from the Chairman and 
the Chairperson of the Management Board) are made 
by the Chairman based on recommendations of the 
Board of Directors’ Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee.

Contracts with Directors, setting individual amounts, 
the frequency and the conditions for payment of re-
munerations and withholding of respective taxes in 
accordance with Kazakh law, (apart from that of the 
Chairperson of the Management Board) are conclud-
ed by the Chairperson of the Management Board on 
behalf of the Bank.

Insurance of fiduciary liability

The Board of Directors and the Management Board 
understand the risks arising from incorrect or mistaken 
management decisions or actions.

To safeguard shareholders from potential damage from 
such events, the Bank insures the liability of its Directors 
and officials.

The key areas for improving corporate governance at 
the Bank are as follows:

Acknowledging the need to further develop and 
streamline corporate governance, the Group has identi-
fied key areas for improvement over 2015-20:

To improve interactions and the exchange of informa-
tion between the Board of Directors and the Manage-
ment Board, it is necessary to:

•	 streamline the format and volume of material pre-
sented for review by the Board of Directors by pro-
viding brief overviews that summarise the issue;

•	 develop more detailed material that retains the 
current format for the Board of Directors, including 
opinions of key subdivisions about risks that could 
be linked and (or) arise as a result of decisions made 
by the Board of Directors regarding the issue under 
consideration and, where necessary, include in an ap-
pendix.

Expand the rights and responsibilities of the corporate 
secretary:

•	 Develop the institution of corporate secretaries with-
in Halyk Group in a high-quality way by reviewing 
their roles in the organisation and encouraging them 
to seek additional qualifications;

•	 Create an integrated corporate secretarial function 
for all companies within Halyk Group;

•	 Create a talent pool and a register of corporate sec-
retaries within Halyk Group;

•	 Coordinate the work of Halyk Group companies to 
develop the institution of corporate secretaries.

Introduce international best practices in corporate 
governance to ensure the effective functioning of the 
Board of Directors:

•	 Automate the corporate governance process in the 
Bank using the latest IT solutions;

•	 Develop and install a single database on corporate 
events in the Bank and Halyk Group companies.

Additional actions to develop corporate governance 
at the Bank:

•	 Develop the institution of corporate social responsi-
bility in the Group;

•	 Conduct periodic appraisals of the effectiveness of 
the Bank’s dividend policy;

•	 The Board of Directors needs to evaluate the effec-
tiveness of the Management Board’s work to ensure 
that the executive body is meeting legal require-
ments regarding creating a risk management and 
internal control system;

•	 Develop the practice of insuring Directors against 
fiduciary liability.
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We herewith confirm that, to the best of our knowledge

—

—

the consolidated financial statements in this annual report are pre-
pared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
and give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position 
and profit or loss of Halyk Bank and its subsidiaries included in the 
consolidated financial statements and taken as a whole; and 

the annual report includes a fair review of the development and per-
formance of the business and the position of Halyk Bank and its sub-
sidiaries included in the consolidated financial statements and taken 
as a whole and the principal risks and uncertainties Halyk Bank faces. 

Umut Shayakhmetova 
Chairperson of the Management Board
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Halyk Bank and its subsidiaries (“Halyk Group”) is the 
leading universal financial services group of Kazakh-
stan and has significant potential for development 
in the majority of financial market segments for both 
banking and associated services. Halyk Group’s key 
competitive advantages are its stable financial perfor-
mance, significant and stable client base, wide range of 
financial products including cross selling, extensive in-
frastructure, and business reputation, associated main-
ly with the utmost confidence of all types of clients.
 
The core of the Group is Halyk Bank, which has suc-
cessfully navigated unfavourable external conditions 
and has the highest international ratings among sec-
ond-tier banks in Kazakhstan with no major overseas 
shareholders.
 
The key priorities for the Bank in 2015 are as follows: 

•	 implement concrete measures to reinforce the bal-
ance sheet and drive loan growth across all types of 
businesses, including the corporate, SME and retail 
segments, of at least 10% a year;

•	 play an active role in government programmes to 
support SMEs;

•	 launch and expand remote sales channels in the re-
tail business and reconfigure branches so that they 
take into account the specifics of various business 
segments and client types.

In 2015, Halyk Group intends to approve a develop-
ment strategy for all of its companies for 2016-18 and 
prepare to implement it. 

Halyk Group’s strategic objective for the coming year 
will be to retain and reinforce its leading positions in all 
segments of the financial services market and, as the 
result, deliver higher growth rates in priority business 
areas than the Bank’s main peers. 

The key priorities of Halyk Group’s strategy for 2013-15 
are as follows:

Banking activities – “#1 Bank in Kazakhstan”

•	 Financial performance – maximise the Bank’s profit, 
maintain return on equity (ROE) and cost efficiency 
(cost/income ratio) at the optimal level, stabilise the 
net interest margin (NIM), ensure maximum interest 
income growth, and increase fee and commission in-
come and gains on foreign exchange operations for 
the Bank’s clients.

•	 Growth of shareholder value – increase shareholder 
capital value by maximising profit, which will ensure 
targeted business growth rates and strengthening 
of key positions on the main financial markets. In ad-
dition, the Bank intends to comply with the capital 
requirements set by the regulator and Basel capital 
guidelines, to ensure business continuity, and to con-
centrate on capital optimisation in order to increase 
return on equity. 

•	 Growth of loans to customers – increase lending annual-
ly and the share of the gross loan portfolio to 70% of 
the Bank’s total assets. 

•	 Improvement of asset quality – decrease the share of 
non-performing loans through restructuring, sales 
of pledged collateral and debt write-offs; ensure 
efficient performance of a company managing dis-
tressed assets and cooperation with the Distressed 
Asset Fund. 

•	 Development of new products – promote banking and 
financial non-credit products that increase opportu-
nities for clients and are risk-acceptable, primarily cash 
management, card business and foreign-exchange 
operations for the Bank’s clients with rapid individual 
conversion rates and tariffs tailored to clients’ needs. 

•	 Expansion of sales channels – focus on developing and 
expanding remote sales channels as high-tech, effi-
cient and easily scalable processes that better satisfy 
clients’ growing needs for banking services.

•	 Dividend policy – ensure dividend payments on com-
mon shares, in the absence of legislative limitations 

on dividend payments and subject to maintaining 
international credit ratings and capital adequacy ra-
tios at no less than minimum required standards.

•	 High ratings – maintain the best international ratings 
among Kazakh banks to promote the corporate im-
age and business reputation of the Bank as the most 
stable financial institution in the country, reliable for 
clients and creditors, and operating in accordance 
with international standards, as proved by the suc-
cess of its chosen business strategy. 

Subsidiaries – “Leading players in their markets”

•	 Retention and strengthening of market positions – 
achieve leading positions in terms of all main indica-
tors in insurance, broker-dealer, investment banking, 
leasing and cash transportation services, regardless 
of market growth dynamics and greater competition. 

•	 Expansion of the range of services – maximise the abili-
ty to provide the widest range of financial products 
and services through the wide branch network; de-
velop services that fully satisfy the needs of major 
client segments and ensure profitability growth in 
general.

For 2015, the following objectives, if fulfilled, should 
provide a basis for achieving the Bank’s strategic goals:

•	 Increase sales volumes and profits generated by both 
the corporate and SME segments by providing com-
petitive terms of financing and services, promoting 
new products, providing a full range of the Group’s 
existing services to its customers, and attracting po-
tential customers with stable financial positions.

•	 Retain leading positions in the retail sector in terms of 
the main retail products regardless of market growth 
dynamics and increased competition by pursuing an 
aggressive policy and concentrating on payroll proj-
ects, credit cards and improving the product line; im-
proving service quality; and increasing branch net-
work efficiency with a focus on alternative (remote) 
sales channels.
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•	 Retain the Bank’s number one position in retail de-
posits. Continue to focus on term deposits and cur-
rent accounts of corporate clients and individuals 
given the volatility on international capital markets.

•	 Retain leading positions on the payment card mar-
ket and increase market share by number of active 
cards in circulation; retain market share in foreign-ex-
change operations.

•	 Play an active role in government programmes 
aimed at growing of entrepreneurial businesses and 
improving their financial positions to support exist-
ing customers and their interests, as well as to attract 
new borrowers. 

•	 Expand the geography of product sales by pro-
viding financial products and services through the 
Bank’s wide branch network and its internation-
al subsidiaries; ensure business development by 
streamlining management systems, continuing to 
introduce modern technology that makes process-
es more efficient and increases profitability of the 
main operational activities, boosting labour produc-
tivity and cutting costs.

•	 Further develop common corporate governance 
principles throughout the Group, including issues of 
transparency and provision of timely and full infor-
mation to shareholders and the Board of Directors; 
risk management; internal control and internal audit; 
effective interaction with shareholders, including 
minorities; and uniformity in approaches and proce-
dures across the Group. 

•	 Establish control over the Group’s total risks by de-
veloping an integrated risk management system; 
improve the monitoring of existing risks and fore-
casting of new ones; develop a system of formalised 
risk assessment.

•	 Improve the unified operating model by establish-
ing, unifying, standardising and automating large-
scale industrial processes; locate these processes 

in peripheral processing centres to ensure sufficient 
business continuity in case of force-majeure disaster 
and decrease operating expenses. 

•	 Implement measures to establish a process-oriented 
management system aimed at decreasing produc-
tion costs, reducing the duration of the client service 
cycle, eliminating excess structural parts, detecting 
and eliminating zones of irresponsibility or overlaps 
in responsibilities, and eliminating excess operations 
and breaks in information and technological chains. 

•	 Implement and develop modern information tech-
nologies; modernise and fine-tune the main banking 
transactional systems to meet the requirements of 
the Group’s clients; develop CRM, internet banking, 
the card system and the internal database; automate 
key business processes to reduce the time for docu-
ment processing and errors; ensure the transparency 
of procedures and creation on this basis of a single 
information environment for the Group that ensures 
the reliability, feasibility and continuous operation of 
all systems and applications. 

•	 Develop the Group’s personnel, including by improv-
ing the system of motivation and remuneration, de-
veloping corporate values, decreasing staff turnover, 
working with the talent pool to fill the Bank’s key po-
sitions with highly qualified professionals, managing 
headcount (optimisation and reallocation of staff), 
further specialising employees for greater labour 
efficiency, and training personnel, focusing on the 
Group’s strategic tasks.

Mission and values

Group mission

The Group’s mission continues to be to provide services 
in all segments of the financial market (banking, insur-
ance, securities and leasing) in Kazakhstan and some 
other countries according to international standards, 
thus ensuring the retention, efficient allocation and 
growth of clients’ and shareholders’ funds. 

Group values

Client focus: The Group understands the needs of its cli-
ents and commits to using all its resources to offer cli-
ents the most efficient solutions to help them achieve 
and even exceed their goals.

Reliability: The Group will rigorously comply with the 
general principles and norms of international law, Ka-
zakh legislation, legislation of other countries where 
it operates, and its internal provisions and regulations. 
The Group will strive towards international standards of 
corporate governance and follow a policy of maximum 
openness and transparency for shareholders, clients, 
business partners, government authorities and em-
ployees. Reliability is the key factor for preserving the 
most valuable asset: the Group’s business reputation.

Leadership: The Group will seek leading positions in 
serving all groups of clients in all market segments. 
Managers at all organisational levels will set an example 
of enthusiasm, energy and devotion to their tasks. Man-
agers will set the direction, encourage innovation and 
inspire the organisation to fulfil the Group’s mission.

Social responsibility: Focusing on the needs and inter-
ests of all strata of population will be one of the main 
principles of the Group’s activities. The Group will 
strive to contribute to developing society, resolving 
social issues and being a responsible corporate citizen.
Integrity: The Group will strive toward the utmost 
honesty in business operations in all areas, always and 
everywhere. The Group will adhere to principles of 
transparency in internal processes, building mutually 
respectful and trusting relationships with clients, and 
encouraging an honest attitude in employees towards 
business and compliance with corporate ethics.

Professionalism: The Group will strive towards the high-
est professional standards and be receptive to inno-
vation and new ideas. The main goal is to deliver a 
professional service in an honest and timely manner 
to clients, which will ensure strong and long-lasting re-
lationships with them.
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STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE PREPARATION AND APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEARS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014, 2013 AND 2012

Management is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial state-
ments that present fairly the financial position of JSC Halyk Bank (“the Bank”) and its 
subsidiaries (collectively – “the Group”) as at 31 December 2014, 2013 and 2012, and 
the results of its operations, cash flows and changes in equity for the years then 
ended, in compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for:

•	 Properly selecting and applying accounting policies;

•	 Presenting information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides 
relevant, reliable, comparable and understandable information; 

•	 Providing additional disclosures when compliance with the specific require-
ments in IFRS are insufficient to enable users to understand the impact of par-
ticular transactions, other events and conditions on the Group’s consolidated 
financial position and financial performance; and

•	 Making an assessment of the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Management is also responsible for:

•	 Designing, implementing and maintaining an effective and sound system of in-
ternal controls, throughout the Group;

•	 Maintaining adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and ex-
plain the Group’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time 
the consolidated financial position of the Group, and which enable them to en-
sure that the consolidated financial statements of the Group comply with IFRS;

•	 Maintaining accounting records in compliance with the Republic of Kazakhstan 
legislation;

•	 Taking such steps as are reasonably available to them to safeguard the assets of 
the Group; and

•	 Preventing and detecting fraud and other irregularities.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the years ended 31 Decem-
ber 2014, 2013 and 2012 were approved by the Management Board on 13 March 
2015.

On behalf of the Management Board:

Pavel A. Cheussov 
Chief Accountant

13 March 2015

Almaty, Kazakhstan

Umut B. Shayakhmetova 
Chairperson of the Board

13 March 2015

Almaty, Kazakhstan

JSC HALYK BANK
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To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of JSC Halyk Bank:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial state-
ments of JSC Halyk Bank and its subsidiaries (collectively – “the 
Group”), which comprise the consolidated statements of financial 
position as at 31 December 2014, 2013 and 2012, and the consoli-
dated statements of profit or loss, consolidated statements of other 
comprehensive income, consolidated statements of changes in eq-
uity and consolidated statements of cash flows for the years then 
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information.

Management’s responsibility for the consolidated financial state-
ments

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation 
of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with Inter-
national Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control 
as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation 
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material mis-
statement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated fi-
nancial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 
accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those stan-
dards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the con-
solidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence 
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judg-
ment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement 
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or er-
ror. In making those risk assessments, the auditor consider internal 
control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of 
the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit pro-
cedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s 
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriate-
ness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of account-
ing estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Independent 
Auditor’s report
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In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of JSC Halyk Bank and its subsidiaries as at 31 Decem-
ber 2014, 2013 and 2012, and its financial performance and cash flows for the years 
then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Nurlan Bekenov 

Engagement Partner
Qualified auditor of the Republic of Kazakhstan 

Qualification certificate No. 0082
dated 13 June 1994

Deloitte, LLP
State license on auditing in the Republic of Kazakhstan  
Number 0000015, type MFU-2, given by  
the Ministry of Finance of Kazakhstan 
dated 13 September 2006

General Director 
Deloitte,LLP

13 March 2015
Almaty, Kazakhstan

Opinion



 81 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2014, 2013 AND 2012
(Millions of Kazakhstani Tenge)

On behalf of the  
Management Board:

The notes on pages 12 to 105 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Pavel A. Cheussov 
Chief Accountant

13 March 2015

Almaty, Kazakhstan

Umut B. Shayakhmetova 
Chairperson of the Board

13 March 2015

Almaty, Kazakhstan

ASSETS Notes 31 December 2014 31 December 2013 31 December 2012
Cash and cash equivalents 6 540,537 486,313 533,499
Obligatory reserves 7 48,225 44,276 49,037
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 8 15,727 1,334 1,271
Amounts due from credit institutions 9 27,095 25,808 32,799
Available-for-sale investment securities 10 386,423 350,552 334,362
Investments held to maturity 11 - - 25,766

Precious metals 1,385 16,857 1,646
Loans to customers 12, 38 1,648,013 1,482,245 1,319,208
Investment property 13 5,684 906 -
Property and equipment 14 79,564 63,614 65,005
Assets held for sale 16 8,798 2,912 7,434
Goodwill 5 4,954 3,085 3,085
Intangible assets 15 8,664 5,617 5,594
Insurance assets 17 20,320 13,379 14,923
Other assets 18 14,393 9,516 14,369
TOTAL ASSETS 2,809,782 2,506,414 2,407,998

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
LIABILITIES
Amounts due to customers 19, 38 1,848,213 1,766,648 1,699,182
Amounts due to credit institutions 20 107,192 107,395 15,202
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 8 3,131 69 439
Debt securities issued 21 311,009 189,515 301,919
Provisions 22 407 4,163 4,385
Deferred tax liability 23 10,673 4,520 7,907
Insurance liabilities 17 38,807 29,715 25,201
Other liabilities 24 15,129 12,210 14,124

TOTAL LIABILITIES 2,334,561 2,114,235 2,068,359
EQUITY
Share capital 25 143,695 143,695 143,695
Share premium reserve 1,439 1,415 1,496
Treasury shares (78,994) (77,534) (81,028)
Retained earnings and other reserves 25 409,081 323,670 273,835

475,221 391,246 337,998
Non-controlling interest - 933 1,641

TOTAL EQUITY 475,221 392,179 339,639
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 2,809,782 2,506,414 2,407,998

Consolidated statements 
of financial position
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS FOR THE YEARS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014, 2013 AND 2012
(Millions of Kazakhstani Tenge, except for earnings per share which is in Tenge)

On behalf of the  
Management Board:

Pavel A. Cheussov 
Chief Accountant

13 March 2015

Almaty, Kazakhstan

Umut B. Shayakhmetova 
Chairperson of the Board

13 March 2015

Almaty, Kazakhstan

Notes Year ended
31 December 2014

Year ended
31 December 2013

Year ended
31 December 2012

Interest income 27, 38 210,593 182,563 160,994

Interest expense 27, 38 (77,458) (75,932) (69,934)
NET INTEREST INCOME BEFORE IMPAIRMENT CHARGE 27 133,135 106,631 91,060
Impairment charge 22 (7,387)  (26,021) (15,362)

NET INTEREST INCOME 125,748 80,610 75,698
Fee and commission income 28 58,638 51,406 51,082
Fee and commission expense 28 (8,559) (7,139) (5,991)

Fees and commissions, net 50,079 44,267 45,091
Net gain from financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 29 7,842 261 169
Net realized (loss)/gain from available-for-sale investment securities (230) 1,884 1,626
Net foreign exchange gain 30 7,086 9,261 9,053
Insurance underwriting income 31 20,678 19,411 17,764
Share in net loss of associate - - (1)
Other income 5,366 1,780 2,935

OTHER NON-INTEREST INCOME 40,742 32,597 31,546
Operating expenses 32 (62,410) (54,820) (51,811)
Impairment loss of assets held for sale 16 (102) - (2,100)
Recoveries of provisions/(provisions) 22 4,036 210 (962)
Insurance claims incurred, net of reinsurance 17, 31 (16,195) (13,933) (12,733)

NON-INTEREST EXPENSES (74,671) (68,543) (67,606)
INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX EXPENSE 141,898 88,931 84,729
Income tax expense 23 (27,521) (16,522) (14,768)
NET INCOME 114,377 72,409 69,961

Attributable to:
Common shareholders 112,406 70,903 67,837
Preferred shareholders 1,971 1,234 1,680
Non-controlling interest - 272 444

114,377 72,409 69,961
Basic earnings per share (in Kazakhstani Tenge) 33 10.32 6.41 5.93
Diluted earnings per share (in Kazakhstani Tenge) 33 9.40 5.50 4.99

The notes on pages 12 to 105 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated statements  
of profit or loss
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEARS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014, 2013 AND 2012
(Millions of Kazakhstani Tenge)

Year ended  
31 December 2014

Year ended  
31 December 2013

Year ended  
31 December 2012

Net income 114,377 72,409 69,961

Other comprehensive income/(loss), net of tax

Items that will not be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss:

Gain/(loss) resulting on revaluation of property and equipment  
(2014, 2013, 2012 – net of tax – KZT1,168 million, KZT127 million, Nil) 4,170 (518) (240)

Items that may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss:

 (Loss)/gain on revaluation of available-for-sale investment securities  
(2014, 2013, 2012 – net of tax –KZT Nil) (12,125) (7,037) 7,059

Difference between carrying amount and fair value of investments
held-to-maturity at the reclassification date (2013 – net of tax KZT443 million) - 1,744 -

Reclassification adjustment relating to available-for-sale investment securities
disposed of in the year (2014, 2013, 2012 – net of tax – KZT Nil) 230 (1,884) (1,626)

Reclassification adjustment relating to available-for-sale investment securities
impaired during the year (2014, 2013, 2012 – net of tax – KZT Nil) 813 41 (99)

Exchange differences on translating foreign operations  
(2014, 2013, 2012 – net of tax – KZT Nil) (1,447) (520) (101)

Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the year (8,359) (8,174) 4,993

Total comprehensive income for the year 106,018 64,235 74,954

Attributable to:

Non-controlling interest - 263 445

Preferred shareholders 1,599 1,094 1,801

Common shareholders 104,419 62,878 72,708

106,018 64,235 74,954

On behalf of the  
Management Board:

Pavel A. Cheussov 
Chief Accountant

13 March 2015

Almaty, Kazakhstan

Umut B. Shayakhmetova 
Chairperson of the Board

13 March 2015

Almaty, Kazakhstan

The notes on pages 12 to 105 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated statements of 
other comprehensive income
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Share capital Treasury shares

Common
shares

Non-con-
vertible
preferred
shares

Convertible
preferred
shares

Share
premium
reserve

Common 
shares

Preferred 
shares

Cumulative 
translation 
reserve*

Revaluation
reserve of
available-
for-sale
investment
securities*

Property 
revaluation
reserve*

Retained
earnings* Total

Non- 
controlling
interest

Total
equity

31 December 2013 83,571 46,891 13,233 1,415 (39,974) (37,560) 602 1,790 13,808 307,470 391,246 933 392,179
Net income - - - - - - - - - 114,377 114,377 - 114,377
Other comprehensive loss/(in-
come) - - - - - - (1,447) (11,082) 4,170 - (8,359) - (8,359)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income - - - - - - (1,447) (11,082) 4,170 114,377 106,018 - 106,018
Treasury shares purchased - - - (273) (7) (1,461) - - - - (1,741) - (1,741)
Treasury shares sold - - - 297 8 - - - - - 305 - 305
Dividends – preferred shares - - - - - - - - - (1,757) (1,757) - (1,757)
Dividends – common shares - - - - - - - - - (18,547) (18,547) - (18,547)
Dividends of subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - - (530) (530)
Decrease in non-controlling 
interest due to buy-back of JSC 
Accumulated Pension Fund of 
Halyk Bank of Kazakhstan shares - - - - - - - - - - - (403) (403)
Loss from buy-back of JSC Accu-
mulated Pension Fund of Halyk 
Bank of Kazakhstan shares - - - - - - - - - (303) (303) - (303)
Release of property and equip-
ment revaluation reserve on 
depreciation and disposal of 
previously revalued assets - - - - - - - - (637) 637 - - -
31 December 2014 83,571 46,891 13,233 1,439 (39,973) (39,021) (845) (9,292) 17,341 401,877 475,221 - 475,221

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEARS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014, 2013 AND 2012
(Millions of Kazakhstani Tenge)

Consolidated statements 
of changes in equity
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONTINUED) FOR THE YEARS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014, 2013 and 2012
(Millions of Kazakhstani Tenge)

On behalf of the  
Management Board:

Pavel A. Cheussov 
Chief Accountant

13 March 2015

Almaty, Kazakhstan

Umut B. Shayakhmetova 
Chairperson of the Board

13 March 2015

Almaty, Kazakhstan

The notes on pages 12 to 105 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Share capital Treasury shares

Common
shares

Non- 
convert-
ible
preferred
shares

Convert-
ible
preferred
shares

Share
premium
reserve

Common 
shares

Preferred 
shares

Cumulative 
translation 
reserve*

Revaluation
reserve of
available- 
for-sale
investment
securities*

Property 
revaluation
reserve*

Retained
earnings* Total

Non- 
controlling
interest

Total
equity

31 December 2012 83,571 46,891 13,233 1,496 (39,974) (41,054) 1,122 8,926 14,754 249,033 337,998 1,641 339,639
Net income - - - - - - - - - 72,137 72,137 272 72,409
Other comprehensive loss - - - - - - (520) (7,136) (509) - (8,165) (9) (8,174)
Total comprehensive (loss)/in-
come - - - - - - (520) (7,136) (509) 72,137 63,972 263 64,235
Treasury shares purchased - - - (423) (11) - - - - - (434) - (434)
Treasury shares sold - - - 342 11 3,494 - - - - 3,847 - 3,847
Dividends – preferred shares - - - - - - - - - (2,197) (2,197) - (2,197)
Dividends – common shares - - - - - - - - - (12,215) (12,215) (12,215)
Dividends of subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - - (971) (971)
Difference on exit from subsidiary - - - - - - - - - 275 275 275
Release of property and equip-
ment revaluation reserve on 
depreciation and disposal of 
previously revalued assets - - - - - - - - (437) 437 - - -
31 December 2013 83,571 46,891 13,233 1,415 (39,974) (37,560) 602 1,790 13,808 307,470 391,246 933 392,179
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONTINUED) FOR THE YEARS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014, 2013 and 2012
(Millions of Kazakhstani Tenge)

On behalf of the  
Management Board:

Pavel A. Cheussov 
Chief Accountant

13 March 2015

Almaty, Kazakhstan

Umut B. Shayakhmetova 
Chairperson of the Board

13 March 2015

Almaty, Kazakhstan

* These amounts are included within Retained earnings and other reserves in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The notes on pages 12 to 105 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Share capital Treasury shares

Common
shares

Non-con-
vertible
preferred
shares

Convertible
preferred
shares

Share
premium
reserve

Common 
shares

Preferred 
shares

Cumulative 
translation 
reserve*

Revaluation
reserve of
available-
for-sale
investment
securities*

Property 
revaluation
reserve*

Retained
earnings* Total

Non- 
controlling
interest

Total
equity

31 December 2011 83,571 46,891 13,233 1,156 (39,960) - 1,223 3,593 15,487 183,937 309,131 1,196 310,327

Net income - - - - - - - - - 69,517 69,517 444 69,961
Other comprehensive (loss)/
income - - - - - - (101) 5,333 (240) - 4,992 1 4,993

Total comprehensive (loss)/income - - - - - - (101) 5,333 (240) 69,517 74,509 445 74,954

Treasury shares purchased - - - (227) (45) (41,054) - - - - (41,326) - (41,326)
Treasury shares sold - - - 567 31 - - - - - 598 - 598
Dividends – preferred shares - - - - - - - - - (4,914) (4,914) - (4,914)
Release of property and equip-
ment revaluation reserve on 
depreciation and disposal of 
previously revalued assets - - - - - - - - (493) 493 - - -
31 December 2012 83,571 46,891 13,233 1,496 (39,974) (41,054) 1,122 8,926 14,754 249,033 337,998 1,641 339,639
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Year ended
31 December 2014

Year ended
31 December 2013

Year ended
31 December 2012

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Interest received from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 55 36 26

Interest received from cash equivalents and amounts due from credit institutions 5,426 3,686 2,799

Interest received on available-for-sale investment securities 18,862 16,320 14,342

Interest received on investments held to maturity - 2,464 1,518

Interest received from loans to customers 179,127 140,159 135,305

Interest paid on amounts due to customers (62,332) (54,190) (46,146)

Interest paid on amounts due to credit institutions (2,284) (865) (633)

Interest paid on debt securities issued (15,377) (22,280) (24,743)

Fee and commission received 59,822 52,331 49,203

Fee and commission paid (8,559) (7,139) (5,991)

Insurance underwriting income received 16,369 32,500 27,711

Ceded reinsurance share paid (2,996) (15,066) (9,525)

Other income received 3,385 8,550 10,202

Operating expenses paid (65,766) (49,004) (45,643)

Insurance claims paid (9,745) (8,706) (10,867)

Reimbursement of losses received from reinsurers - 459 942

Cash flows from operating activities before changes in net operating assets 115,987 99,255 98,500

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

(Increase)/decrease in operating assets:

Obligatory reserves (3,949) 4,761 3,879

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (12,966) 65 2,011

Amounts due from credit institutions (344) 7,123 (12,097)

Precious metals 16,203 (17,488) 281

Loans to customers (50,608) (153,973) (139,588)

Assets held for sale (6,121) 4,522 (2,066)

Insurance assets (4,909) 2,258 (2,240)

Other assets (5,578) (607) (1,264)

Increase/(decrease) in operating liabilities:

Amounts due to customers (51,950) 54,108 138,303

Amounts due to credit institutions (4,600) 91,584 (26,715)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 3,060 (378) (2,109)

Insurance liabilities 7,915 93 (219)

Other liabilities 4,469 (1,017) (2,725)

Cash inflow from operating activities before income tax 6,609 90,306 53,951

Income tax paid (22,586) (20,016) (11,836)

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from operating activities (15,977) 70,290 42,115

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEARS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014, 2013 and 2012
(Millions of Kazakhstani Tenge)

Consolidated statements 
of cash flows
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On behalf of the  
Management Board:

Pavel A. Cheussov 
Chief Accountant

13 March 2015

Almaty, Kazakhstan

Umut B. Shayakhmetova 
Chairperson of the Board

13 March 2015

Almaty, Kazakhstan

Year ended
31 December 2014

Year ended
31 December 2013

Year ended
31 December 2012

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchase and prepayments for property and equipment and intangible assets (16,441) (6,269) (8,453)

Proceeds on sale of property and equipment 4,292 290 85

Proceeds on sale of available-for-sale investment securities 139,125 122,240 129,146

Purchase of available-for-sale investment securities (153,026) (125,356) (149,171)

Proceeds from maturity of investments held to maturity - 2,599 114,429

Proceeds from sale of investments held to maturity - 10,541 -

Purchase of investments held to maturity - (1,609) (59,531)

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from investing activities (26,050) 2,436 26,505

The notes on pages 12 to 105 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Notes Year ended
31 December 2014

Year ended
31 December 2013

Year ended
31 December 2012

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds on sale of treasury shares 305 3,847 598

Purchase of treasury shares (1,741) (434) (41,326)

Dividends paid – preferred shares (1,757) (2,197) (4,914)

Dividends paid – common shares (18,547) (12,215) -

Dividends paid – subsidiaries (530) (971) -

Buy-back of non-controlling interest’s shares (706) - -

Proceeds on debt securities issued 89,602 - -

Redemption and repayment of debt securities issued (4,075) (116,136) (13,111)

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from financing activities 62,551 (128,106) (58,753)

Effect of changes in foreign exchange rate on cash and cash equivalents 33,700 8,194 4,024

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 54,224 (47,186) 13,891

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, beginning of the year 6 486,313 533,499 519,608

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, end of the year 6 540,537 486,313 533,499

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEARS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014, 2013 and 2012
(Millions of Kazakhstani Tenge)
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customers’ funds under the management of the Group, 
as at 31 December 2014 is KZT Nil (31 December 2013 – 
KZT1,234 billion; 31 December 2012 – KZT1,060 billion).

Legal proceedings 

From time to time and in the normal course of busi-
ness, claims against the Group are received from cus-
tomers and counterparties. Management is of the 
opinion that no material unaccrued losses will be in-
curred and accordingly no provision has been made 
in these consolidated financial statements.

Operating environment

Emerging markets such as the Republic of Kazakhstan 
are subject to different risks more than developed 
markets, including economic, political, social, legal 
and legislative risks. Laws and regulations affecting 
businesses in the Republic of Kazakhstan continue 
to change rapidly, tax and regulatory frameworks are 
subject to varying interpretations. The future econom-
ic direction of the Republic of Kazakhstan is heavily in-
fluenced by the fiscal and monetary policies adopted 
by the government, together with developments in 
the legal, regulatory, and political environment.

Because the Republic of Kazakhstan produces and 
exports large volumes of oil and gas, its economy is 
particularly sensitive to the price of oil and gas on the 
world market, which decreased significantly during 
2014. Management is unable to reliably estimate the ef-
fects of any further price fluctuations on the Group’s 
financial position. 
 
The Bank has a primary listing with Kazakhstan Stock 
Exchange (“KASE”). In addition, the Bank’s Eurobonds 
issued are primarily listed on the Luxembourg and 
London Stock Exchanges. The Bank also allocated 
Global Depository Receipts (“GDRs”) on the London 
Stock Exchange.

In 2009, JSC “Sovereign Wealth Fund “Samruk-Kazy-
na” (“Samruk-Kazyna”), an entity controlled by the 
Government of the Republic of Kazakhstan, acquired 
259,064,909 common shares of the Bank for KZT26,951 
million and 196,232,499 non-convertible preferred 
shares of the Bank for KZT33,049 million. 

In 2011, the Bank acquired from JSC Almex Holding 
Group (hereafter – “the parent”) a call option to pur-
chase 213,000,000 of the Bank’s common shares from 
Samruk-Kazyna at a fixed strike price of KZT126.8 per 
share for KZT12,867 million and immediately exercised 
the option and repurchased 213,000,000 of its own 
common shares from Samruk-Kazyna for KZT27,008 mil-
lion. 

In 2012, the Bank acquired from the parent a call option 
to purchase 196,232,499 of the Bank’s preferred shares 
from Samruk-Kazyna at a fixed strike price of KZT179.94 
per share for KZT7,114 million with maturity of the option 
in May 2014. In June 2012 the Bank partially exercised 
the option and repurchased 190,000,000 of its own pre-
ferred shares from Samruk-Kazyna for KZT26,991 million. 

On 5 July 2012, the Bank repurchased 40,000,000 of its 
own preferred shares from Samruk-Kazyna at a price 
of KZT180.21 per share for KZT7,208 million. As a result, 
the Group has recorded KZT41,054 million as a cost of 
acquired treasury shares (see Note 25). After the repur-
chase, Samruk-Kazyna continues owning 6,232,499 pre-
ferred shares of the Bank.

On 28 April 2014, the Bank repurchased 6,232,399 of its 
own preferred shares from Samruk-Kazyna at a price of 
KZT200.28 per share for KZT1,248 million. As a result, 
the Group has recorded KZT42,515 million as a cost of 
acquired treasury (see Note 25). After the repurchase, 
Samruk-Kazyna continues owning 100 preferred shares 
of the Bank. 

The Group is ultimately controlled by Timur Kulibayev 
and his wife Dinara Kulibayeva.

Notes to the consolidated 
financial statements

1. Principal activities 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEARS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014, 2013 AND 2012
(Millions of Kazakhstani Tenge)

JSC Halyk Bank (“the Bank”) and its subsidiaries (collec-
tively, “the Group”) provide retail and corporate bank-
ing services principally in Kazakhstan, Russia, Kyrgyz-
stan and Georgia, leasing services in Kazakhstan and 
Russia, as well as asset management, insurance and 
brokerage services in Kazakhstan. The primary state 
registration of the Bank with the authorities of justice 
of Kazakhstan was made on 20 January 1994. The Bank 
operates under the license No. 10 for carrying out of 
banking and other operations and activities on the se-
curities market, renewed by the National Bank of the 
Republic of Kazakhstan (“NBK”) on 6 August 2008. The 
Bank is a member of the obligatory deposit insurance 
system provided by JSC Kazakhstan Deposit Insurance 
Fund.

The Bank’s primary business includes originating loans 
and guarantees, collecting deposits, trading in securi-
ties and foreign currencies, executing transfers, cash 
and payment card operations as well as rendering oth-
er banking services to its customers. In addition, the 
Bank acts as a non-exclusive agent of the Government 
of the Republic of Kazakhstan in channelling various 
budgetary payments and pensions through its nation-
wide branch network. 

Trust activities

In the normal course of its business, the Group en-
ters into agreements with customers to manage the 
customers’ assets with limited decision making rights 
and in accordance with specific criteria established by 
the customers. The Group may only be liable for loss-
es or actions aimed at appropriation of the custom-
ers’ funds if such funds or securities are not returned 
to the customer. The maximum potential financial risk 
of the Group on any date is equal to the volume of 
the customers’ funds, net of any unrealized income/
loss on the customer’s position. The balance of the 
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As at 31 December 2014, 2013 and 2012, the Group was owned by the following shareholders, which own individually more than 5% of the issued shares of the Group:

31 December 2014

	
Total shares Stake in total shares

in circulation Common shares 
Stake
in common shares
in circulation

Convertible and 
non-convertible 
preferred shares 

Stake in convertible 
and non-convertible 
preferred shares in 
circulation

JSC HG Almex 8,024,149,068 72.3% 8,003,381,500 73.4% 20,767,568 11.0%

JSC Single Accumulated Pension Fund* 869,738,261 7.8% 710,233,299 6.5% 159,504,962 84.3%
GDR 1,848,929,480 16.7% 1,848,929,480 16.9% - 0.0%

Other 356,244,249 3.2% 347,354,434 3.2% 8,889,815 4.7%
Total shares in circulation (on consolidated basis) 11,099,061,058 100% 10,909,898,713 100% 189,162,345 100%

31 December 2013

	
Total shares Stake in total shares

in circulation Common shares 
Stake
in common shares
in circulation

Convertible and 
non-convertible 
preferred shares 

Stake in convertible 
and non-convertible 
preferred shares in 
circulation

JSC HG Almex 8,024,149,068 72.3% 8,003,381,500 73.4% 20,767,568 10.6%
JSC Accumulation Pension Fund of Halyk Bank  
of Kazakhstan ** 758,082,743 6.8% 661,367,710 6.1% 96,715,033 49.5%
GDR 2,093,909,040 18.9% 2,093,909,040 19.2% - -

Other 228,090,752 2.0% 150,042,269 1.3% 78,048,483 39.9%
Total shares in circulation (on consolidated basis) 11,104,231,603 100% 10,908,700,519 100% 195,531,084 100%

* The transfer of all pension assets under management of the private accumulative pension funds to the JSC Single Accumulated Pension Fund (hereinafter – SAPF) was conducted in accordance with the 
schedule and order approved by the Decree of the Chairman of the National Bank of the Republic of Kazakhstan No. 356 dated 24 September 2013. As a result, as at 31 December 2014 SAPF held 7.8% of the 
Bank’s shares outstanding on behalf of its clients.

** Common and preferred shares owned by JSC Accumulation Pension Fund of Halyk Bank of Kazakhstan are not eliminated as those shares were purchased on clients’ funds and are owned by the clients.

31 December 2012

	
Total shares Stake in total shares

in circulation Common shares 
Stake
in common shares
in circulation

Convertible and 
non-convertible 
preferred shares 

Stake in convertible 
and non-convertible 
preferred shares in 
circulation

JSC HG Almex 7,559,973,820 68.2% 7,559,973,820 69.3% - -
JSC Accumulation Pension Fund of Halyk Bank  
of Kazakhstan ** 758,082,743 6.8% 661,367,710 6.1% 96,715,033 55.1%
GDR 2,510,925,720 22.7% 2,510,925,720 23.0% - -
Other 254,416,525 2.3% 175,694,405 1.6% 78,722,120 44.9%
Total shares in circulation (on consolidated basis) 11,083,398,808 100.0% 10,907,961,655 100.0% 175,437,153 100.0%
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On 14 December 2012 the Bank performed share split of its common shares 
in proportion of one common share to ten common shares as described in 
Note 25.

As at 31 December 2014, the Bank operated through its head office in Almaty 
and its 22 regional branches, 122 sub-regional offices sand 393 cash settle-
ment units (31 December 2013 – 22, 122, 400, respectively; 31 December 2012 
- 22,122 and 410, respectively) located throughout Kazakhstan. The address of 

2. Basis of presentation

Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming that 
the Group is a going concern and will continue operation for the foreseeable 
future.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in millions of Kazakh-
stani Tenge (“KZT” or “Tenge”), except for earnings per share amounts and 
unless otherwise indicated.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical 
cost basis except for certain financial instruments that are accounted for at fair 
value and insurance liabilities which are accounted for based on actuarial cal-
culations and certain property and equipment which are carried at revalued 
cost less depreciation and impairment as explained in the accounting policies 
below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given 
in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to trans-
fer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or 
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of 
an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics of the 
asset or liability if market participants would take those characteristics into 
account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value 
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial 

the Bank’s registered office is: 109 V Abai Avenue, Almaty, 050008, Republic of 
Kazakhstan.

As at 31 December 2014, the number of the Group’s full-time equivalent em-
ployees was 10,984 (31 December 2013 - 11,198, 31 December 2012 - 12,149). 

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the years ended 31 
December 2014, 2013 and 2012 were authorised for issue by the Management 
Board on 13 March 2015.

statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-based payment 
transactions that are within the scope of IFRS 2, leasing transactions that are 
within the scope of IAS 17, and measurements that have some similarities to 
fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in IAS 2 or value in 
use in IAS 36.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are cate-
gorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair 
value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to the 
fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

•	 Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical 
assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement date;

•	 Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, 
that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

•	 Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The Group presents its consolidated statement of financial position broadly 
in order of liquidity. An analysis regarding recovery or settlement within 12 
months after the date of consolidated statement of financial position (current) 
and more than 12 months after the date of consolidated statement of financial 
position (non-current) is presented in Note 34.

Functional currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are 
measured using the currency of the primary of the economic environment in 
which the entity operates (“the functional currency”). The functional currency 
of the Bank is KZT. The presentation currency of the consolidated financial 
statements is KZT.
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These consolidated financial statements include the following subsidiaries: 

Subsidiaries Holding, % Country Industry
31 December 2014 31 December 2013 31 December 2012

JSC Halyk Leasing 100 100 100 Kazakhstan Leasing
JSC Kazteleport 100 100 100 Kazakhstan Telecommunications

HSBK (Europe) B.V.* N/a 100 100 Netherlands
Issue and placement of Eurobonds,
attracting of syndicated loans

OJSC Halyk Bank Kyrgyzstan 100 100 100 Kyrgyzstan Banking
JSC Halyk Finance 100 100 100 Kazakhstan Broker and dealer activities
LLP Halyk Inkassatsiya 100 100 100 Kazakhstan Cash collection services
JSC Halyk Life 100 100 100 Kazakhstan Life insurance
LLP NBK-Finance** N/a N/a 100 Russia Broker and dealer activities
JSC Kazakhinstrakh 100 100 100 Kazakhstan Insurance
JSC Accumulation Pension fund of Halyk Bank  
of Kazakhstan (“APF”)*** 100 96 96 Kazakhstan

Pension assets accumulation  
and management

JSC NBK Bank 100 100 100 Russia Banking
JSC Halyk Bank Georgia 100 100 100 Georgia Banking
LLC Halyk Project 100 100 100 Kazakhstan Management of doubtful and loss assets
JSC Altyn-Bank (Subsidiary Bank of JSC Halyk Bank Kazakhstan) 
(JSC “Altyn Bank”)**** 100 N/a N/a Kazakhstan Banking

* On 30 September 2014 the Board of Directors of the Bank made a decision on voluntary liquidation of HSBK (Europe) B.V. in Netherlands, the subsidiary of the Bank. On 23 December 2014 HSBK 
(Europe) B.V. was removed from the register of Chamber of Commerce of Netherlands.

** In accordance with the Decision of the Board of Directors of the Bank dated 3 July 2013, the Bank exited from partnership in LLP NBK-Finance by transferring its partnership share to a third party. 
The actual withdrawal was performed on 11 November 2013. As at 11 November 2013, net assets of LLP NBK-Finance amounted to KZT Nil.

*** During the third quarter 2014 APF performed the buy-back of its shares. Holding percentage of the Bank in APF changed accordingly. 

**** On 23 November 2014 the Integrated Securities Registrar registered the purchase and sale transaction of ordinary shares of Subsidiary Bank JSC “HSBC Bank Kazakhstan” (hereinafter – “Subsid-
iary bank”) between the Bank and HSBC Bank Plc. As a result, the Bank acquired 100% of the outstanding common shares of Subsidiary Bank in amount 70,500 shares. State registration was made 
on 27 November 2014 as 
JSC Altyn Bank.

Consolidated subsidiaries
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JSC Processing Center was the associate, which provided data processing services in Kazakhstan. It was classified within other assets and accounted for under the equity method:

As at 31 December 2012 and for the year then ended

Holding, % Share in  
net loss

Total 
 assets

Total  
liabilities Equity Total 

 revenue

25.14 (4) 11 - 11 1

In accordance with the Decision No.1/2013 dated 9 July 2013 of the extraordinary General Shareholders Meeting of of JSC Processing Centre and Certificate of NBK on 
cancellation of share issues No. A4528 dated 13 September 2013 JSC Processing Center ceased it activity due to its voluntary liquidation

3. Significant accounting policies

Basis of consolidation

These consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of 
the Bank and entities (including structured entities) controlled by the Bank and its 
subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Bank:

•	 has power over the investee;

•	 is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the in-
vestee; and 

•	 has the ability to use its power to affect its returns. 

The Bank reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circum-
stances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of 
control listed above. 

When the Bank has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it has 
power over the investee when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the prac-
tical ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. The Bank 
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not the 
Bank’s voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power, including: 

•	 the size of the Bank’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion 
of holdings of the other vote holders; 

•	 potential voting rights held by the Bank, other vote holders or other parties; 

•	 rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and 

•	 any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Bank has, or does 
not have, the current ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that 
decisions need to be made, including voting patterns at previous shareholders’ 
meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Bank obtains control over the sub-
sidiary and ceases when the Bank loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, in-
come and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are 
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income from the date the Bank gains control until the date when the Bank ceases 
to control the subsidiary. 

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed 
to the owners of the Bank and to the non-controlling interests. Total compre-
hensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Bank and to 
the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests 
having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries 
to bring their accounting policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies.
 
All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows re-
lating to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on 
consolidation.

Basis of presentation
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Non-controlling interest

Non-controlling interests represent the portion of 
profit or loss and net assets of subsidiaries not owned, 
directly or indirectly, by the Group.

Non-controlling interests are presented separately in 
the consolidated income statement and within equi-
ty in the consolidated statement of financial position, 
separately from parent shareholders’ equity.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing 
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in sub-
sidiaries that do not result in the Group losing con-
trol over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity 
transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s in-
terests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted 
to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the 
subsidiaries. Any difference between the amounts by 
which the non-controlling interests are adjusted is rec-
ognised directly in equity.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit 
or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference be-
tween (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the con-
sideration received and the fair value of any retained 
interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the 
assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the sub-
sidiary and any non-controlling interests. When assets 
of the subsidiary are carried at revalued amounts or 
fair values and the related cumulative gain or loss has 
been recognised in other comprehensive income and 
accumulated in equity, the amounts previously rec-
ognised in other comprehensive income and accumu-
lated in equity are accounted for as if the Group had 
directly disposed of the relevant assets (i.e. reclassified 
to profit or loss or transferred directly to retained earn-
ings as specified by the applicable IFRSs). The fair val-
ue of any investment retained in the former subsidiary 
at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair 
value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting 
under International Accounting Standard (“IAS”) 39 “Fi-

nancial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement”, 
when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an 
investment in an associate or a joint venture.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the 
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a 
business combination is measured at fair value, which is 
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values 
of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred 
by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and 
the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange 
for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are 
generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired 
and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair 
value, except that:

•	 Deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognised and 
measured in accordance with IAS 12 Income Taxes;

•	 Liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based 
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-
based payment arrangements of the Group entered 
into to replace share-based payment arrangements 
of the acquiree are measured in accordance with IFRS 
2 Share-based Payment at the acquisition date; and

•	 Assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held 
for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets 
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are mea-
sured in accordance with that Standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the 
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-con-
trolling interest in the acquiree, and the fair value of the 
acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree 
(if any) over the net of the acquisition-date amounts 
of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities 
assumed. If, after reassessment, the net of the acquisi-
tion-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired 
and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consid-

eration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling 
interest in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquir-
er’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the 
excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a 
bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interest that are present ownership 
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate 
share of the entity’s net assets in the event of liquida-
tion may be initially measured either at fair value or at 
the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of 
the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable 
net assets. The choice of measurement basis is made 
on a transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of 
non-controlling interest are measured at fair value or, 
when applicable, on the basis specified in another 
IFRS.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is car-
ried at cost as established at the date of acquisition of 
the business (see above) less accumulated impairment 
losses, if any.

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group is in a 
position to exercise significant influence, but is neither 
a subsidiary nor a joint venture. Significant influence is 
the power to participate in the financial and operating 
policy decisions of the investee but is not control or 
joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are in-
corporated in these consolidated financial statements 
using the equity method of accounting.

Investments in associates are carried in the consolidat-
ed statement of financial position at cost as adjusted 
for goodwill and for post-acquisition changes in the 
Group’s share of the net assets of the associate, less 
any impairment in the value of individual investments. 
Losses of the associates in excess of the Group’s inter-
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est in those associates are not recognized unless the 
Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations 
or made payments on behalf of the associate. 

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s 
share of the fair values of the identifiable assets, liabil-
ities and contingent liabilities of the associate at the 
date of acquisition is recognized as goodwill. The 
goodwill is included in the carrying amount of the in-
vestment and is assessed for impairment as part of the 
investment. 

Where a Group company transacts with an associate 
of the Group, unrealised profits and losses are eliminat-
ed to the extent of the Group’s interest in the relevant 
associate.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, 
unrestricted balances on correspondent accounts 
and amounts due from credit institutions and reverse 
repo agreements with original maturities within three 
months. For purposes of determining cash flows, the 
obligatory reserve required by the National Bank of 
Kazakhstan (“NBK”) is not included as a cash and cash 
equivalent due to restrictions on its availability.

Obligatory reserves 

Obligatory reserves represent funds in correspondent 
accounts with the NBK and cash which are not avail-
able to finance the Group’s day to day operations and, 
hence, are not considered as part of cash and cash 
equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated cash 
flow statement.

Precious metals

Assets and liabilities denominated in precious metals 
are translated at the current rate computed based on 
the second fixing of the London Metal Exchange rates, 
using the KZT/USD exchange rate effective at the date. 
Changes in the bid prices are recorded in net gain/
(loss) on foreign exchange operations.

Amounts due from credit institutions

In the normal course of business, the Group maintains 
current accounts or deposits for various periods of time 
with other banks. Amounts due from credit institutions 
with a fixed maturity term are subsequently measured 
at amortized cost using the effective interest method. 
Those that do not have fixed maturities are carried at 
cost. Amounts due from credit institutions are carried 
net of any allowance for impairment.

Recognition and measurement of financial instruments

The Group recognizes financial assets and liabilities on 
its consolidated statement of financial position when it 
becomes a party to the contractual obligations of the 
instrument. Regular way purchases and sales of finan-
cial assets and liabilities are recognized using settle-
ment date accounting. Where regular way purchases of 
financial instruments will be subsequently measured at 
fair value, the Group accounts for any change in the fair 
value of the asset between trade date and settlement 
date in the same way it accounts for acquired instru-
ments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially mea-
sured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly at-
tributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets 
and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and 
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are 
added to or deducted from the fair value of the finan-
cial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial 
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to 
the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at 
fair value through profit or loss are recognized immedi-
ately in profit or loss. The accounting policies for subse-
quent re-measurement of these items are disclosed in 
the respective accounting policies set out below.

Financial assets

Financial assets in the scope of IAS 39 “Financial Instru-
ments: Recognition and Measurement” are classified 
as either financial assets at fair value through profit or 
loss, loans and receivables, investments held to matu-

rity or available-for-sale financial assets, as appropriate. 
The Group determines the classification of its financial 
assets depending on the nature and purpose of the 
financial assets and is determined at the time of initial 
recognition.

Financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss

Financial assets or financial liabilities are classified as at 
fair value through profit or loss where the financial as-
set or financial liability is either held for trading or it is 
designated as at fair value through profit or loss.

A financial asset or financial liability is classified as held 
for trading if:

•	 it has been acquired principally for the purpose of 
selling in the near term; or

•	 it is a part of an identified portfolio of financial instru-
ments that the Group manages together and has a 
recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

•	 it is a derivative that is not designated and effective 
as a hedging instrument.

A financial asset or financial liability other than a finan-
cial asset or financial liability held for trading may be 
designated as at fair value through profit or loss upon 
initial recognition if:

•	 such designation eliminates or significantly reduces 
a measurement or recognition inconsistency that 
would otherwise arise; or

•	 the financial asset or financial liability forms part of 
a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or 
both, which is managed and its performance is eval-
uated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the 
Group’s documented risk management or invest-
ment strategy, and information about the grouping 
is provided internally on that basis; or 

•	 it forms part of a contract containing one or more 
embedded derivatives, and IAS 39 “Financial Instru-
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•	 ments: Recognition and Measurement” (“IAS 39”) 
permits the entire combined contract (asset or lia-
bility) to be designated as at fair value through profit 
or loss.

Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss are recorded in the consolidated 
statement of financial position at fair value. Changes in 
fair value are recorded in “Net gain from financial assets 
and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss”. Inter-
est earned or incurred is accrued in interest income or 
expense, respectively, according to the terms of the 
contract, while dividend income is recorded in “Other 
income” when the right to receive the payment has 
been established.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial as-
sets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market. Loans to customers grant-
ed by the Group are initially recognized at fair value 
plus related transaction costs that directly relate to 
acquisition or creation of such financial assets. Subse-
quently, loans are carried at amortized cost using the 
effective interest method. Loans to customers are car-
ried net of any allowance for impairment losses.

Loans and receivables are included within loans to 
customers, amounts due from credit institutions and 
other assets in the consolidated statement of financial 
position.

Collateral

The Group obtains collateral in respect of customer lia-
bilities where this is considered appropriate. The collat-
eral normally takes the form of a lien over the custom-
er’s assets and gives the Group a claim on these assets 
for both existing and future customer liabilities. 

Investments held to maturity 

Investments held to maturity are debt securities with 
determinable or fixed payments. The Group has the 

positive intent and ability to hold them to maturity. 
Such securities are carried at amortized cost using the 
effective interest method, less any allowance for im-
pairment. Amortized discounts and premiums are rec-
ognized in interest income over the period to maturity 
using the effective interest method.

Available-for-sale investment securities 

Available-for-sale investment securities are those 
non-derivative financial assets that are designated as 
available-for-sale or are not classified as loans and re-
ceivables or investments held to maturity, or are not 
held for trading and are not designated at fair value 
through profit or loss on initial recognition. Available-
for-sale investment securities are initially recorded at fair 
value. After initial recognition available-for sale invest-
ment securities are measured at fair value with gains or 
losses being recognized as a separate component of 
equity until the investment is derecognized or until the 
investment is determined to be impaired at which time 
the cumulative gain or loss previously reported in eq-
uity is included in the consolidated income statement. 
However, interest calculated using the effective interest 
method and foreign exchange movements for debt 
securities are recognized in the consolidated income 
statement. Dividends declared are included in “Other 
income” in the consolidated income statement.
 
The fair value of investments that are actively traded in 
organized financial markets is determined by reference 
to quoted market prices at the close of business on the 
reporting date. 

Reclassification of financial assets 

Non-derivative financial assets (other than those desig-
nated at fair value through profit or loss upon initial rec-
ognition) may be classified out of the fair value through 
profit or loss category in the following circumstances:

•	 Financial assets that would have met the definition 
of loans and receivables at initial recognition (if the 
financial asset had not been required to be classified 

as held for trading) may be reclassified out of the fair 
value through profit or loss category if there is the 
intention and ability to hold the financial asset for 
the foreseeable future or until maturity; and

•	 Financial assets (except financial assets that would 
have met the definition of loans and receivables at 
initial recognition) may be reclassified out of the fair 
value through profit or loss category and into anoth-
er category in rare circumstances.

When the financial asset is reclassified as described in 
the above circumstances, the financial asset is reclassi-
fied at its fair value on the date of reclassification. Any 
gain or loss already recognised in the income state-
ment is not reversed. The fair value of the financial 
asset on the date of reclassification becomes its new 
cost or amortised cost, as applicable. 

Effective from 1 July 2009, the Group was permitted 
to reclassify, in certain circumstances, non-derivative 
financial assets out of the “Held for trading” catego-
ry and into the “Available-for-sale”, “Loans and receiv-
ables”, or “Held to maturity” categories. From this date 
it was also permitted to reclassify, in certain circum-
stances, financial instruments out of the “Available-
for-sale” category and into the “Loans and receivables” 
category. Reclassifications are recorded at fair value at 
the date of reclassification, which becomes the new 
amortized cost. Reclassification is at the election of 
management, and is determined on an instrument by 
instrument basis.

Repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements and 
securities lending

The Group enters into financial assets sale and pur-
chase back agreements (“repos”) and financial assets 
purchase and sale back agreements (“reverse repos”) 
in the normal course of its business. Repos and reverse 
repos are utilized by the Group as an element of its 
treasury management.



 97 

Repos are treated as secured financing transactions. 
Securities sold under repos are retained in the consol-
idated statement of financial position and, in case the 
transferee has the right, by contract or custom, to sell 
or repledge them, reclassified as securities pledged 
under sale and repurchase agreements. The corre-
sponding liability is presented within amounts due to 
credit institutions or customers.

Securities purchased under reverse repos are record-
ed as amounts due from credit institutions, loans to 
customers or cash and cash equivalents as appropri-
ate. The difference between the sale and repurchase 
prices is treated as interest and accrued over the life of 
repo agreements using the effective interest method.

Securities lent to counterparties are retained in the 
consolidated statement of financial position. Securities 
borrowed are not recorded in the consolidated state-
ment of financial position, unless these are sold to third 
parties, in which case the purchase and sale are record-
ed within “Net gain from financial assets and liabilities 
at fair value through profit and loss” in the consolidated 
income statement. The obligation to return securities 
borrowed is recorded at fair value as a trading liability.
 
The Group enters into securities repurchase agree-
ments and securities lending transactions under 
which it receives or transfers collateral in accordance 
with normal market practice. Under standard terms for 
repurchase transactions in Kazakhstan and other CIS 
states, the recipient of collateral has the right to sell or 
repledge the collateral, subject to returning equivalent 
securities on settlement of the transaction.

Offsetting

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net 
amount is reported in the consolidated statement of 
financial position when there is a legally enforceable 
right to set off the recognized amounts and there is an 
intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset 
and settle the liability simultaneously. In accounting 
for a transfer of a financial asset that does not qualify 

risk due to absence of net-settlement provisions be-
tween counterparties.

Forwards
Forward and futures contracts are contractual agree-
ments to buy or sell a specified financial instrument 
at a specific price and date in the future. Forwards 
are customized contracts transacted in the over-the-
counter market. Futures contracts are transacted in 
standardised amounts on regulated exchanges and 
are subject to daily cash margin requirements The 
Group has credit exposure to the counterparties of 
forward contracts. Forward contracts are settled gross 
and are, therefore, considered to bear a higher liquid-
ity risk.

Swaps 

Swaps are contractual agreements between two par-
ties to exchange streams of payments over time based 
on specified notional amounts, in relation to move-
ments in a specified underlying index such as an inter-
est rate, foreign currency rate or equity index.

Interest rate swaps relate to contracts taken out by the 
Group with other financial institutions in which the 
Group either receives or pays a floating interest rate 
in return for paying or receiving, respectively, a fixed 
interest rate. The payment flows are usually netted 
against each other, with the difference being paid by 
one party to the other. In a currency swap, the Group 
pays a specified amount in one currency and receives 
a specified amount in another currency. The Group’s 
currency swaps are mostly gross-settled.

Options 

Options are contractual agreements that convey the 
right, but not the obligation, for the purchaser either to 
buy or sell a specific amount of a financial instrument 
at a fixed price, either at a fixed future date or at any 
time within a specified period. The Group purchases 
and sells options through regulated exchanges and in 
the over-the-counter markets. Options purchased by 

for derecognition, the Group does not offset the trans-
ferred asset and the associated liability. Income and 
expense is not offset in the consolidated income state-
ment unless required or permitted by any accounting 
standard or interpretation, and as specifically disclosed 
in the accounting policies of the Group.

Derivative financial instruments 

In the normal course of business, the Group enters 
into various derivative financial instruments including 
futures, forwards, swaps and options. Derivatives are 
initially recognized at fair value at the date a derivative 
contract is entered into and are subsequently re-mea-
sured to their fair value at each reporting date. The fair 
values are estimated based on quoted market prices 
or pricing models that take into account the current 
market and contractual prices of the underlying in-
struments and other factors. Derivatives are carried as 
assets when their fair value is positive and as liabilities 
when it is negative. Derivatives are included in financial 
assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss in 
the consolidated statement of financial position. Gains 
and losses resulting from these instruments are includ-
ed in “Net gain from financial assets and liabilities at fair 
value through profit or loss” in the consolidated income 
statement.

Derivative instruments embedded in other financial 
instruments are treated as separate derivatives if their 
risks and characteristics are not closely related to those 
of the host contracts and the host contracts are not car-
ried at fair value with unrealized gains and losses report-
ed in the consolidated income statement. An embed-
ded derivative is a component of a hybrid (combined) 
financial instrument that includes both the derivative 
and a host contract, with the effect that some of the 
cash flows of the combined instrument vary in a similar 
way to a stand-alone derivative. Over–the–counter de-
rivatives may expose the Group to the risks associated 
with the absence of an exchange market on which to 
close out an open position. Additionally, derivative in-
struments expose the Group to counterparty non-per-
formance risk. Certain instruments also pose liquidity 
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the Group provide the Group with the opportunity to 
purchase (call options) or sell (put options) the under-
lying asset at an agreed-upon value either on or before 
the expiration of the option. The Group is exposed to 
credit risk on purchased options only to the extent of 
their carrying amount, which is their fair value. Options 
written by the Group provide the purchaser the op-
portunity to purchase from or sell to the Group the 
underlying asset at an agreed-upon value either on or 
before the expiration of the option.

The Group’s exposure under derivative contracts is 
closely monitored as part of the overall management 
of the Group’s market, credit, and liquidity risks (see 
also Note 34).

Amounts due to customers and credit institutions

Amounts due to customers and credit institutions 
are initially recognized at the fair value of the consid-
eration received less directly attributable transaction 
costs. Subsequently, amounts due are stated at amor-
tized cost and any difference between net proceeds 
and the redemption value is recognized in the con-
solidated income statement over the period of the 
borrowings using the effective interest method. If the 
Group purchases its own debt, it is removed from the 
consolidated statement of financial position and the 
difference between the carrying amount of the liabili-
ty and the consideration paid is recognized in the con-
solidated income statement.

Debt securities issued

Debt securities issued represent bonds issued by the 
Group, which are accounted for according to the same 
principles used for amounts due to customers and 
credit institutions. Any difference between proceeds 
received, net of debt issuance costs, and the redemp-
tion value is recognized in the consolidated income 
statement over the period of the borrowings using 
the effective interest method.

Allowances for impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether a 
financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired.

Assets carried at amortized cost 

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss 
on financial assets carried at amortized cost has been 
incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the dif-
ference between the asset’s carrying amount and the 
present value of estimated future cash flows (exclud-
ing future credit losses that have not been incurred) 
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective in-
terest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed at 
initial recognition). The carrying amount of the asset 
shall be reduced through use of an allowance account. 
The amount of the impairment loss is recognized in 
the consolidated income statement.

The factors the Group evaluates in determining the 
presence of objective evidence of an occurrence of 
an impairment loss include information on liquidity of 
the debtor or issuer, their solvency, business risks and 
financial risks, levels and tendencies of default on ob-
ligations on similar financial assets, national and local 
economic tendencies and conditions, and fair value of 
the security and guarantees. These and other factors 
individually or in the aggregate represent, to a great 
extent, an objective evidence of recognition of the im-
pairment loss on the financial asset or group of finan-
cial assets.

The calculation of the present value of the estimat-
ed future cash flows of a collateralized financial asset 
reflects the cash flows that may result from foreclo-
sure less costs for obtaining and selling the collateral, 
whether or not the foreclosure is probable.

The allowances are based on the Group’s own loss ex-
perience and management’s judgment as to the level 
of losses that will probably be recognized from assets 

in each credit risk category by reference to the debt 
service capability and repayment history of the bor-
rower. 

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impair-
ment loss decreases and the decrease can be related 
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment 
was recognized, the previously recognized impair-
ment loss is reversed. Any subsequent reversal of an 
impairment loss is recognized in the consolidated in-
come statement, to the extent that the carrying value 
of the asset does not exceed its amortized cost at the 
reversal date.

Financial assets are written off against the allowance 
for impairment losses where such items are deter-
mined to be uncollectible, including through repos-
session of collateral. The Group requires collateral to 
support credit-related financial instruments when 
deemed necessary. Collateral held may include depos-
its held in the banks, government securities and other 
assets. When the borrowers do not repay as sched-
uled, the Group can take possession of the collateral 
pledged. Financial assets are written off after manage-
ment has exercised all possibilities available to collect 
amounts due to the Group, and after the Group has 
sold all available collateral. The decision to write off 
bad debt against the allowance for impairment losses 
for all major, preferential, unsecured and insider assets 
are confirmed with a procedural document from judi-
cial or notary bodies. This document certifies that at 
the time of the decision to write off the bad debt, the 
amount could not be repaid (or partially repaid) with 
the debtor’s funds. Subsequent recoveries of amounts 
previously written off decrease the charge for impair-
ment of financial assets in the consolidated income 
statement.

Loans and receivables are assessed individually for im-
pairment, except for insignificant loans and receivables 
that have been assessed collectively. Loans and receiv-
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ables that have been assessed individually and found 
not to be impaired and all individually insignificant 
loans and receivables are then assessed collectively, 
in groups of assets with similar risk characteristics, to 
determine whether impairment should be recognized 
due to incurred loss events for which there is objective 
evidence but whose effects are not yet evident. The 
collective assessment takes account of data from the 
loan portfolio (such as levels of arrears, loan utilisation, 
loan to collateral ratios, etc.), and judgments to the 
effect of concentrations of risks and economic data 
(including levels of unemployment, real estate prices 
indices, country risk and the performance of different 
individual groups).

The impairment loss on loans and receivables is dis-
closed in more detail in Notes 12, 22 and 34.

 Available-for-sale investment securities 

For listed and unlisted equity investments classified as 
AFS, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair val-
ue of the security below its cost is considered to be 
objective evidence of impairment. If an available-for-
sale investment security is impaired, a consolidated 
amount comprising the difference between its cost 
(net of any principal payment and amortisation) and 
its current fair value, less any impairment loss previous-
ly recognized in the consolidated income statement, 
is transferred from equity to the consolidated income 
statement. In respect to AFS equity securities, impair-
ment losses previously recognized in the consolidat-
ed income statement are not reversed through the 
consolidated income statement. Any increase in fair 
value subsequent to an impairment loss is recognised 
directly in other comprehensive income and are accu-
mulated under the heading of investment revaluation 
reserve. In respect of AFS debt securities, impairment 
losses are subsequently reversed through profit or loss 
if an increase in the fair value of the investment can 
be objectively related to an event occurring after the 
recognition of the impairment loss.

Renegotiated loans 

Where possible, the Group seeks to restructure loans 
rather than to take possession of collateral. This may 
involve extending the payment arrangements and the 
agreement of new loan conditions. Once the terms 
have been renegotiated, the loan is no longer consid-
ered past due. Management continuously monitors 
renegotiated loans to ensure that they are performing 
and that future payments are likely to occur. The loans 
continue to be subject to an individual or collective 
impairment assessment, calculated using the loan’s 
original effective interest rate. Renegotiated term is evi-
dence of impairment for loans assessed for impairment 
on an individual basis, for which deterioration of the fi-
nancial position is observed. 

Write off of loans and advances

Loans and advances are written off against the allow-
ance for impairment losses when deemed uncollect-
ible. Loans and advances are written off after manage-
ment has exercised all possibilities available to collect 
amounts due to the Group and after the Group has 
sold all available collateral. Subsequent recoveries of 
amounts previously written off are reflected as an off-
set to the charge for impairment of financial assets in 
the consolidated income statement in the period of 
recovery.

Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets 

A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a finan-
cial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is 
derecognized where:

•	 the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have 
expired;

•	 the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash 
flows from the asset, or retained the right to receive 

cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obli-
gation to pay them in full without material delay to a 
third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; and

•	 the Group either (a) has transferred substantially all 
the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither 
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and 
rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of 
the asset.

A financial asset is derecognized when it has been 
transferred and the transfer qualifies for derecognition. 
A transfer requires that the Group either: (a) transfers 
the contractual rights to receive the asset’s cash flows; 
or (b) retains the right to the asset’s cash flows but as-
sumes a contractual obligation to pay those cash flows 
to a third party. After a transfer, the Group reassesses 
the extent to which it has retained the risks and re-
wards of ownership of the transferred asset. If substan-
tially all the risks and rewards have been retained, the 
asset remains on the consolidated statement of finan-
cial position. If substantially all of the risks and rewards 
have been transferred, the asset is derecognized. If 
substantially all the risks and rewards have been nei-
ther retained nor transferred, the Group assesses 
whether or not is has retained control of the asset. If 
it has not retained control, the asset is derecognized. 
Where the Group has retained control of the asset, it 
continues to recognize the asset to the extent of its 
continuing involvement.

Financial liabilities 

A financial liability is derecognized when the obliga-
tion is discharged, cancelled, or expires.

On the redemption or settlement of debt securities 
(including subordinated liabilities) issued by the Group, 
the Group derecognises the debt instrument and re-
cords a gain or loss being the difference between the 
debt’s carrying amount and the cost of redemption 
or settlement. The same treatment applies where 
the debt is exchanged for a new debt issue that has 
terms substantially different from those of the existing 
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debt. The assessment of whether the terms of the new 
debt instrument are substantially different takes into 
account qualitative and quantitative characteristics in-
cluding a comparison of the discounted present value 
of the cash flows under the new terms with the dis-
counted present value of the remaining cash flows of 
the original debt issue.

Where an existing financial liability is replaced by an-
other from the same lender on substantially different 
terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substan-
tially modified, such an exchange or modification is 
treated as a de-recognition of the original liability and 
the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in 
the respective carrying amounts is recognized in the 
consolidated income statement.

Taxation

The current income tax expense is calculated in accor-
dance with the regulations of Kazakhstan and other 
countries where the Group operates. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated in re-
spect of temporary differences using the balance sheet 
liability method. Deferred income taxes are provided 
for all temporary differences arising between the tax 
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying values 
for financial reporting purposes, except where the de-
ferred income tax arises from the initial recognition of 
goodwill or of an asset or liability in a transaction that 
is not a business combination and, at the time of the 
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor 
taxable profit or loss.

A deferred tax asset is recorded only to the extent that 
it is probable that taxable profit will be available against 
which the deductible temporary differences can be 
utilized. The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is 
reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient tax-
able profits will be available to allow all or part of the 
asset to be recovered. Deferred tax assets and liabilities 
are measured at tax rates that are expected to apply 

to the period when the asset is realized or the liability 
is settled, based on tax rates that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted at the reporting date. Deferred 
tax is charged or credited to profit or loss, except when 
it relates to items charged or credited directly to other 
comprehensive income or equity, in which case the de-
ferred tax is also charged or credited directly to other 
comprehensive income or equity.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differ-
ences arising on investments in subsidiaries, associates 
and joint ventures, except where the timing of the re-
versal of the temporary difference can be controlled 
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not 
reverse in the foreseeable future.
 
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset 
and reported net in the consolidated statement of fi-
nancial position if:

•	 The Group has a legally enforceable right to set off 
current income tax assets against current income tax 
liabilities; and

•	 Deferred income tax assets and the deferred income 
tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the 
same taxation authority on the same taxable entity.

Kazakhstan and other countries where the Group oper-
ates also have various operating taxes that are assessed 
on the Group’s activities. These taxes are recorded as 
taxes other than income tax.

Property and equipment

Property and equipment are carried at cost less accu-
mulated depreciation and any accumulated impair-
ment except for the buildings and constructions which 
are carried at revalued amount, being its fair value at 
the date of the revaluation less any subsequent accu-
mulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated 
impairment losses.

Depreciation of an asset begins when it is available for 
use. Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis 
over the following estimated useful lives:

	
Years

Buildings and constructions 20-100
Vehicles 5-7
Computers and banking equipment 5-10
Other 7-10

Leasehold improvements are amortized over the life 
of the related leased asset. Expenses related to repairs 
and renewals are charged when incurred and includ-
ed in operating expenses unless they qualify for cap-
italization.

The carrying amounts of property and equipment 
are reviewed at each reporting date to assess wheth-
er they are recorded in excess of their recoverable 
amounts, and where carrying values exceed this esti-
mated recoverable amount, assets are written down 
to their recoverable amount. An impairment loss is 
recognized in the respective period and is included in 
operating expenses.

Buildings and constructions held for use in supply of 
services, or for administrative purposes, are stated in 
the consolidated statement of financial position at their 
revalued amounts, being the fair value at the date of 
revaluation, determined from market-based evidence 
by appraisal undertaken by professional independent 
appraisers, less any subsequent accumulated depre-
ciation and subsequent accumulated impairment 
losses. Revaluations are performed with sufficient reg-
ularity such that the carrying amount does not differ 
materially from that which would be determined using 
fair values at the reporting date.

Any revaluation increase arising on the revaluation of 
such buildings and constructions is credited to the 
property and equipment revaluation reserve, except 
to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease for 
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the same asset previously recognized as an expense, 
in which case the increase is credited to the consoli-
dated income statement to the extent of the decrease 
previously charged. A decrease in carrying amount 
arising on the revaluation of such buildings and con-
structions is charged as an expense to the extent that 
it exceeds the balance, if any, held in the property and 
equipment revaluation reserve relating to a previous 
revaluation of that asset.

Depreciation on revalued buildings and constructions 
is charged to the consolidated income statement. On 
the subsequent sale or retirement of a revalued prop-
erty, the attributable revaluation surplus remaining in 
the property and equipment revaluation reserve is 
transferred directly to retained earnings.
 
Construction in progress is carried at cost, less any rec-
ognised impairment loss. Cost includes professional 
fees and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capital-
ised in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. 
Such construction in progress is classified to the ap-
propriate categories of property and equipment when 
completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation 
of these assets, on the same basis as other property 
assets, commences when the assets are ready for their 
intended use.

An item of property and equipment is derecognised 
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits 
are expected to arise from the continued use of the 
asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retire-
ment of an item of property and equipment is deter-
mined as the difference between the sales proceeds 
and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised 
in profit or loss.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately. 

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are ac-
quired separately are carried at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. The 

estimated useful life and amortisation method are re-
viewed at the end of each reporting period, with the ef-
fect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on 
a prospective basis. An intangible asset is derecognised 
on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are 
expected from use or disposal. Gains or losses arising 
from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as 
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and 
the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in prof-
it or loss when the asset is derecognised.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are ac-
quired separately are carried at cost less accumulated 
impairment losses. Intangible assets with indefinite use-
ful lives are not subject to amortization.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination 

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination 
and recognised separately from goodwill are initially rec-
ognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which 
is regarded as their cost). Subsequent to initial recogni-
tion, intangible assets acquired in a business combina-
tion are reported at cost less accumulated amortisation 
and accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis 
as intangible assets that are acquired separately.

Amortisation is recognised on a straight-line basis over 
their estimated useful lives.

Years

Customer deposit intangibles 5
Software 10
Licensing agreements for the right to use 
the software

10

Other 10

Assets held for sale

A non-current asset and the liability directly associated 
with non-current assets are classified as held for sale 
(“disposal group”) if it is highly probable that the net as-
set’s carrying amount will be recovered through a sale 

transaction rather than through continuing use and 
the asset (or disposal group) is available for immedi-
ate sale in its present condition. Management must be 
committed to the sale, which should be expected to 
qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one 
year from the date of classification of an asset as held 
for sale.

Assets held for sale are measured at the lower of their 
carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. If the 
fair value less costs to sell of an asset held for sale is 
lower than its carrying amount, an impairment loss is 
recognized in the consolidated income statement as 
loss from assets held for sale. Any subsequent increase 
in an asset’s fair value less costs to sell is recognized to 
the extent of the cumulative impairment loss that was 
previously recognized in relation to that specific asset.

Investment property

Investment properties are properties held to earn rent-
als and/or for capital appreciation. Investment proper-
ties are measured initially at cost, including transaction 
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment 
properties are measured at fair value. Gains and loss-
es arising from changes in the fair value of investment 
properties are included in profit or loss in the period in 
which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon dispos-
al or when the investment property is permanently 
withdrawn from use and no future economic bene-
fits are expected from the disposal. Any gain or loss 
arising on derecognition of the property (calculated 
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds 
and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in 
profit or loss in the period in which the property is 
derecognised. 

Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a pres-
ent legal or constructive obligation as a result of past 
events, and it is probable that an outflow of resourc-
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es embodying economic benefits will be required 
to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of the 
obligation can be made. Recorded amounts as at the 
consolidated statement of financial position date rep-
resent the Group’s best estimate of the expenditure 
required to settle the liability. The expense relating to 
any provision is presented in the consolidated income 
statement net of any recoveries.

Retirement and other benefit obligations

The Group does not have any pension arrangements 
separate from the state pension system of Kazakh-
stan and other countries where the Group operates, 
which requires current withholdings by the employer 
calculated as a percentage from current gross salary 
payments; such expense is charged in the period the 
related salaries are earned and included in operating 
expenses in the consolidated income statement. The 
Group contributes social tax to the budget of Kazakh-
stan and other countries where the Group operates for 
its employees. In addition, the Group has no post-re-
tirement benefits.

Equity

The Group classifies a financial instrument that it is-
sues as a financial asset, financial liability or an equity 
instrument in accordance with the substance of the 
contractual arrangement. An instrument is classified as 
a liability if it is a contractual obligation to deliver cash 
or another financial asset, or to exchange financial as-
sets or financial liabilities on potentially unfavourable 
terms. An instrument is classified as equity if it evi-
dences a residual interest in the assets of the Group 
after the deduction of liabilities. The components of a 
compound financial instrument issued by the Group 
are classified and accounted for separately as financial 
assets, financial liabilities or equity as appropriate. 

Share capital 

External costs directly attributable to the issue of new 
shares, other than on a business combination, are 
shown as a deduction from the proceeds in equity. Pri-

or to 13 May 2003, any excess of the fair value of consid-
eration received over the nominal value of shares issued 
was recognized as share premium reserve. Effective 13 
May 2003, upon change in law concerning “Joint Stock 
Companies”, the nominal amount concept was restrict-
ed to placement of shares only between the founders 
of an entity. For all other investors, share capital is re-
corded at placement value being the consideration re-
ceived by an entity for its shares.

Treasury shares 

When the Group acquires its own share capital, the 
amount of the consideration paid, including directly 
attributable costs, net of any related tax benefit, is rec-
ognised as a change in equity. Shares repurchased by 
the Group are cancelled. Repurchased shares are classi-
fied as treasury shares and are held at cost. These shares 
are treated as a deduction from the issued and weight-
ed average number of shares, and the cost price of the 
shares is presented as a deduction from total equity. The 
par value of the shares is presented as a deduction from 
ordinary share capital and the remainder of the cost is 
presented as a deduction from ordinary share premium. 
Dividends received on treasury shares are eliminated on 
consolidation.

Dividends 

Dividends are recognized as a liability and deducted 
from equity on the date they are declared. Dividends are 
disclosed when they are proposed before the reporting 
date or proposed or declared after the reporting date 
but before the consolidated financial statements are au-
thorized for issue.

Equity reserves

The reserves recorded in equity (other comprehensive 
income) on the Group’s consolidated statement of fi-
nancial position include:

•	 Available-for-sale reserve which comprises changes 
in fair value of available-for-sale investment securities;

•	 Foreign currency translation reserve which is used to 
record exchange differences arising from the trans-
lation of the net investment in foreign operations;

•	 Property revaluation reserve which comprises reval-
uation reserve of land and building.

Contingencies

Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the consoli-
dated statement of financial position but are disclosed 
unless the possibility of any outflow in settlement is re-
mote. A contingent asset is not recognized in the con-
solidated statement of financial position but disclosed 
when an inflow of economic benefits is probable.

Contingent liabilities acquired in a business combination 

Contingent liabilities acquired in a business combina-
tion are initially measured at fair value at the acquisition 
date. At the end of subsequent reporting periods, such 
contingent liabilities are measured at the higher of the 
amount that would be recognised in accordance with 
IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contin-
gent Assets and the amount initially recognised less 
cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance 
with IAS 18 Revenue.

Trust activities

Assets accepted and liabilities incurred under the trust 
activities are not included in the Group’s consolidated 
financial statements. The Group accepts the opera-
tional risk on these activities, but the Group’s custom-
ers bear the credit and market risks associated with 
such operations.

Recognition of interest income and expense

Interest income and expense are recognized on an 
accrual basis calculated using the effective interest 
method. The effective interest method is a method of 
calculating the amortized cost of a financial asset or a 
financial liability (or group of financial assets or finan-
cial liabilities) and of allocating the interest income or 
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interest expense over the relevant period. The effec-
tive interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts esti-
mated future cash payments or receipts through the 
expected life of the financial instrument or, when ap-
propriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount 
of the financial asset or financial liability.
 
Once a financial asset or a group of similar financial 
assets has been written down (partly written down) 
as a result of an impairment loss, interest income is 
thereafter recognized using the rate of interest used 
to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of 
measuring the impairment loss.

Loan origination fees for loans issued to customers are 
(together with related direct costs) recognized as an 
adjustment to the effective yield of the loans. Where it 
is probable that a loan commitment will lead to a spe-
cific lending arrangement, the loan commitment fees 
are deferred, together with the related direct costs, 
and recognized as an adjustment to the effective in-
terest rate of the resulting loan. Where it is unlikely that 
a loan commitment will lead to a specific lending ar-
rangement, the loan commitment fees are recognized 
in profit or loss over the remaining period of the loan 
commitment. Where a loan commitment expires with-
out resulting in a loan, the loan commitment fee is rec-
ognized in profit or loss on expiry.

Fees, commissions, including pension asset manage-
ment fees, and other income and expense items are 
generally recorded on an accrual basis when the ser-
vice has been provided. 

Portfolio and other management advisory and ser-
vice fees are recorded based on the applicable service 
contracts. Custody services that are continuously pro-
vided over an extended period of time are recorded 
over the period the service is provided.

Foreign currency translation

The consolidated financial statements are presented 
in KZT, which is the functional currency of the Bank 

and each of its subsidiaries, except for foreign subsid-
iaries. Transactions in foreign currencies are initially re-
corded in the functional currency, converted at the rate 
of exchange ruling at the date of the transaction. Mon-
etary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign cur-
rencies are retranslated at the currency rate of exchange 
as quoted by KASE as at the reporting date. Gains and 
losses resulting from the translation of foreign currency 
transactions into functional currency are recognized in 
the consolidated income statement as net gain or loss 
on foreign exchange operations. Non-monetary items 
that are measured in terms of historical cost in a for-
eign currency are translated using the exchange rates 
as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary 
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are 
translated using the exchange rates at the date when 
the fair value was determined.

As at the reporting date, the assets and liabilities of 
overseas subsidiaries are translated into the Group’s pre-
sentation currency at the exchange rates as at the con-
solidated statement of financial position date, and their 
income statements are translated at the average ex-
change rates for the year. Exchange differences arising 
on translation are taken directly to a separate compo-
nent of equity. On disposal of a foreign subsidiary, the 
deferred cumulative amount recognized in equity relat-
ing to that particular foreign operation is recognized in 
the consolidated income statement.

Differences between the contractual exchange rate of 
a transaction in a foreign currency and the market ex-
change rate on the date of the transaction are included 
in net gain on foreign exchange operations. The market 
exchange rate at 31 December 2014 was KZT182.35 to 
USD 1 (31 December 2013 – KZT153.61; 31 December 
2012 – KZT150.74).

Insurance

Insurance contracts are those contracts which transfer 
significant insurance risk from another party by agree-
ing to compensate the policyholder if a specified un-
certain future event adversely affects the policyholder. 

The Group utilizes accounting policies determined by 
NBK for insurance companies of Kazakhstan.

The Group offers various insurance products in prop-
erty and casualty, liability, personal, and life insurance.

Underwriting income 

Underwriting income includes net written insurance 
premiums and commissions earned on ceded rein-
surance reduced by the net change in the unearned 
premium reserve.

Upon inception of a contract, premiums are record-
ed as written and are earned on a pro rata basis over 
the term of the related policy coverage. The unearned 
insurance premium reserve represents the portion of 
the premiums written relating to the unexpired terms 
of coverage and is included within reserve for insur-
ance claims in the consolidated statement of financial 
position.

Losses and loss adjustments are charged to income 
statement as incurred through the reassessment of 
the reserve for claims and loss adjustment expenses, 
and included within insurance claims incurred in the 
consolidated income statement.

Commissions earned on ceded reinsurance contracts 
are recorded as income at the date the reinsurance 
contract is written and deemed enforceable.

Policy acquisition costs, comprising commissions paid 
to insurance agents and brokers, which vary with and 
are directly related to the production of new business, 
are capitalized and recorded in the accompanying 
consolidated statements of financial position within 
insurance assets. The asset related to deferred acqui-
sition costs is subsequently amortized over the period 
in which the related written premiums are earned and 
is reviewed for impairment in circumstances where its 
carrying amount may not be recoverable. If the asset 
is greater than the recoverable amount it is written 



 104 

down immediately. All other costs are recognized as 
expenses when incurred.

Reserve for insurance losses and loss adjustment ex-
penses 

The reserve for insurance losses and loss adjustment 
expenses is included in the consolidated statement 
of financial position and is based on the estimated 
amount payable on claims reported prior to the re-
porting date, which have not yet been settled, and an 
estimate of incurred but not reported claims relating 
to the reporting period.

The incurred but not reported reserve (“IBNR”) for 
motor, hull and liability insurance is actuarially deter-
mined and is based upon statistical claim data for the 
period typical for loss development of the classes and 
sub-classes of business and the Group’s previous ex-
perience.

Due to the lack of historical company specific data and 
comparable industry data for other lines of business, 
the reserve for IBNR claims is determined by applying 
current government guidance as provided by NBK. 
Under this guidance, the IBNR reserve is calculated 
in the amount of 5% of insurance premium written 
during the last twelve months preceding the settle-
ment date in this class of insurance.

The methods for determining such estimates and 
establishing the resulting reserves are continuously 
reviewed and updated. Resulting adjustments are re-
flected in the consolidated income statement in the 
period in which they are determined.

Reinsurance

In the ordinary course of business, the Group cedes re-
insurance risk to reinsurers. Such reinsurance arrange-
ments provide for greater diversification of risks, allow 
management to control exposure to potential losses 
arising from insured risks and provide additional ca-
pacity for growth.

Reinsurance assets include balances due from reinsur-
ance companies for paid and unpaid losses and loss 
adjustment expenses, and ceded unearned premiums. 
Amounts receivable from re-insurers are estimated in 
a manner consistent with the claim liability associated 
with the reinsured policy. 

Payables to reinsurers for ceded premium are recorded 
gross when due unless a right of offset exists against 
commission receivable from the reinsurer and are in-
cluded in the consolidated statement of financial posi-
tion within insurance assets.
 
Reinsurance contracts are assessed to ensure that un-
derwriting risk, defined as the reasonable possibility of 
significant loss, and timing risk, defined as the reason-
able possibility of a significant variation in the timing 
of cash flows, are both transferred by the Group to the 
re-insurer.

The Group regularly assesses its reinsurance assets for 
impairment. A reinsurance asset is impaired if there is 
objective evidence that the Group may not receive 
all amounts due to it under the terms of the contract 
and that event has a reliably measurable impact on the 
amounts that the Group will receive from the reinsurer.

Segment reporting

A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group 
that is engaged either in providing products or services 
(business segment), or in providing products or services 
within a particular economic environment (geographi-
cal segment), which is subject to risks and rewards that 
are different from those of other segments. 

Financial guarantee contracts issued and letters of credit

Financial guarantee contracts and letters of credit is-
sued by the Group are credit insurance that provides for 
specified payments to be made to reimburse the hold-
er for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to 
make payment when due under the original or modi-
fied terms of a debt instrument. Such financial guaran-

tee contracts and letters of credit issued are initially 
recognized at fair value. Subsequently they are mea-
sured at the higher of (a) the amount recognized as a 
provision and (b) the amount initially recognized less, 
where appropriate, cumulative amortization of initial 
premium revenue received over the financial guaran-
tee contracts or letter of credit issued.

Application of new and revised International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) 

In the current year, the following new and revised 
Standards and Interpretations have been adopted and 
have affected the amounts reported in these financial 
statements.

•	 Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 27 – Invest-
ment Entities;

•	 Amendments to IAS 32 – Offsetting Financial Assets 
and Financial Liabilities;

•	 Amendments to IAS 36 – Recoverable Amount Dis-
closures for Non-Financial Assets;

•	 Amendments to IAS 39 – Novation of Derivatives 
and Continuation of Hedge Accounting;

•	 IFRIC 21 Levies.

Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 27 – Invest-
ment Entities 

The amendments to IFRS 10 introduce an exception 
from the requirement to consolidate subsidiaries for 
an investment entity. Instead, an investment entity is 
required to measure its interests in subsidiaries at fair 
value through profit or loss in its consolidated and sep-
arate financial statements. The exception does not ap-
ply to subsidiaries of investment entities that provide 
services that relate to the investment entity’s invest-
ment activities.
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To qualify as an investment entity, a reporting entity is 
required to:

•	 Obtain funds from one or more investors for the 
purpose of providing them with professional invest-
ment management services;

•	 Commit to its investor(s) that its business purpose is 
to invest funds solely for returns from capital appre-
ciation, investment income, or both; and

•	 Measure and evaluate performance of substantially 
all of its investments on a fair value basis.

Consequential amendments have been made to IFRS 
12 and IAS 27 to introduce new disclosure require-
ments for investment entities.

These amendments do not have any effect on the 
Group’s consolidated financial statements as the Com-
pany is not an investment entity.

Amendments to IAS 32 – Offsetting Financial Assets 
and Financial Liabilities 

The amendments to IAS 32 clarify the requirements 
relating to the offset of financial assets and financial lia-
bilities. Specifically, the amendments clarify the mean-
ing of ‘currently has a legally enforceable right of set-
off’ and ‘simultaneous realization and settlement’.

There is no effect of these amendments on the con-
solidated financial statements as the Group does not 
have any financial assets and financial liabilities that 
qualify for offset.

Amendments to IAS 36 – Recoverable Amount Disclo-
sures for Non-Financial Assets 

The amendments to IAS 36 restrict the requirement 
to disclose the recoverable amount of an asset or a 
cash-generating unit to periods in which an impair-
ment loss has been recognized or reversed. In addition, 

they expand and clarify the disclosure requirements ap-
plicable to when recoverable amount of an asset or a 
cash-generating unit has been determined on the basis 
of fair value less costs of disposal. The new disclosures 
include the fair value hierarchy, key assumptions and 
valuation techniques used which are in line with the 
disclosure required by IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurements. 

Amendments to IAS 39 – Novation of Derivatives and 
Continuation of Hedge Accounting 

These amendments allow the continuation of hedge 
accounting when a derivative is novated to a clear-
ing counterparty and certain conditions are met. The 
amendments also clarify that any change to the fair val-
ue of the derivative designated as a hedging instrument 
arising from the novation should be included in the as-
sessment and measurement of hedge effectiveness. 

There is no effect of these amendments on these finan-
cial statements as the Group does not apply hedge ac-
counting.

IFRIC 21 Levies

The interpretation is applicable to all payments im-
posed by governments under legislation, other than in-
come taxes that are within the scope of IAS 12 and fines 
and penalties for breaches of legislation. The interpreta-
tion clarifies that a liability to pay a levy should only be 
recognised when an obligating event has occurred and 
provides guidance on how to determine whether a lia-
bility should be recognized progressively over specific 
period or in full at a specific date. 

There was no effect of the interpretation on these fi-
nancial statements. 

The Group did not early adopt any other standard, 
amendment or interpretation that has been issued and 
is not yet effective.

New and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet effective.

The Group has not applied the following new and re-
vised IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet ef-
fective:

•	 Amendments to IAS 19 - Defined Benefit Plans: Em-
ployee contributions 1;

•	 Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle 1;

•	 Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2011-2013 Cycle 1;

•	 Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle 2;

•	 IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts 2;

•	 Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38 - Clarification of 
Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisa-
tion 2;

•	 Amendments to IAS 27 - Equity Method in Separate 
Financial Statements 2;

•	 Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 41 - Agriculture: 
Bearer Plants 2;

•	 Amendments to IFRS 11 - Accounting for Acquisition 
of Interests in Joint Operations 2;

•	 Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 - Sale or Contri-
bution of Assets between an Investor and its Associ-
ate or Joint Venture 2;

•	 IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 3;

•	 IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 4.

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after  
1 July 2014, with earlier application permitted.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after  
1 January 2016, with earlier application permitted.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after  
1 January 2017, with earlier application permitted.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after  
1 January 2018, with earlier application permitted.
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Amendments to IAS 19 – Defined Benefit Plans: Em-
ployee contributions. 

The amendments to IAS 19 Employee Benefits clarify 
the requirements related to how contributions from 
employees or third parties that are linked to service 
should be attributed to periods of service. In addi-
tion, amendments permit a practical expedient if the 
amount of the contributions is independent of the 
number of years of service, such contributions, can, 
but are not required, to be recognised as a reduction 
in the service cost in the period in which the related 
service is rendered. 

The Group’s management does not expect any impact 
of these amendments on the financial statements as 
the Group’s defined benefit plans do not stipulate con-
tributions from employees.

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers. 

In May 2014, IFRS 15 was issued which establishes a 
single comprehensive model for entities to use in ac-
counting for revenue arising from contracts with cus-
tomers. IFRS 15 will supersede the current revenue 
recognition guidance including IAS 18 Revenue, IAS 11 
Construction Contracts and the related interpretations 
when it becomes effective.

The core principle of IFRS 15 is that an entity should 
recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised 
goods or services to customers in an amount that re-
flects the consideration to which the entity expects to 
be entitled in exchange for those goods and services. 
Specifically, the standard provides a single, principles 
based five-step model to be applied to all contracts 
with customers.

 The five steps in the model are as follows:

•	 Identify the contract with the customer;

•	 Identify the performance obligations in the contract;

•	 Determine the transaction price;

•	 Allocate the transaction price to the performance 
obligations in the contracts;

•	 Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a 
performance obligation.

Under IFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when or as 
a performance obligation is satisfied, 
i.e. when ‘control’ of the goods or services underlying 
the particular performance obligation is transferred to 
the customer. Far more prescriptive guidance has been 
added on topics such as the point in which revenue is 
recognised, accounting for variable consideration, costs 
of fulfilling and obtaining a contract and various related 
matters. New disclosures about revenue are also intro-
duced.

The management of the Group anticipates that the ap-
plication of IFRS 15 in the future may have a significant 
impact on amount and timing of revenue recognition. 
However, it is not practicable to provide a reasonable 
estimate of the effect of IFRS 15 until a detailed review 
has been completed

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

IFRS 9 issued in November 2009 introduced new re-
quirements for the classification and measurement of 
financial assets. IFRS 9 was subsequently amended in 
October 2010 to include requirements for the classifi-
cation and measurement of financial liabilities and for 
derecognition, and in 
November 2013 to include the new requirements for 
general hedge accounting. In July 2014 IASB issued a fi-
nalised version of IFRS 9 mainly introducing impairment 
requirements for financial assets and limited amend-
ments to the classification and measurement require-
ments for financial assets. 
IFRS 9 is aiming at replacing IAS 39 Financial Instru-
ments: Recognition and Measurement. 

The key requirements of IFRS 9 are:

•	 Classification and measurement of financial assets. 
Financial assets are classified by reference to the 
business model within which they are held and their 
contractual cash flow characteristics. Specifically, 
debt instruments that are held within the business 
model whose objective is to collect the contractual 
cash flows, and that have contractual cash flows that 
are solely payments of principal and interest on the 
principal outstanding are generally measured at am-
ortised cost after initial recognition. The 2014 version 
of IFRS 9 introduces a ‘fair value through other com-
prehensive income’ category for debt instruments 
held within the business model whose objective is 
achieved both by collecting contractual cash flows 
and selling financial assets, and that have contrac-
tual terms of the financial asset giving rise on speci-
fied dates to cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest on the principal amount out-
standing which are measured at fair value through 
other comprehensive income after initial recogni-
tion. All other debt and equity investments are mea-
sured at their fair values. In addition, under IFRS 9, 
entities may make an irrevocable election to pres-
ent subsequent changes in the fair value of an eq-
uity investment (that is not held for trading) in other 
comprehensive income, with only dividend income 
generally recognised in profit or loss. 

•	 Classification and measurement of financial liabili-
ties. Financial liabilities are classified in a similar man-
ner to under IAS 39, however there are differences 
in the requirements applying to the measurement 
of an entity’s own credit risk. IFRS 9 requires that the 
amount of change in the fair value of the financial 
liability that is attributable to changes in the credit 
risk of that liability is presented in other comprehen-
sive income, unless the recognition of the effects of 
changes in the liability’s credit risk in OCI would cre-
ate or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or 
loss. Changes in fair value attributable to a financial 
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•	 liability’s credit risk are not subsequently reclassified 
to profit or loss.

•	 Impairment. The 2014 version of IFRS 9 introduces an 
‘expected credit loss’ model for the measurement of 
the impairment of financial assets, as opposed to an 
incurred credit loss model under IAS 39. The expect-
ed credit loss model requires an entity to account 
for expected credit losses and changes in those ex-
pected credit losses at each reporting date to reflect 
changes in credit risk since initial recognition. In oth-
er words, it is no longer necessary for a credit event 
to have occurred before a credit loss is recognized.

•	 Hedge accounting. Introduces a new hedge ac-
counting model that is designed to be more closely 
aligned with how entities undertake risk manage-
ment activities when hedging financial and non-fi-
nancial risk exposures. Under IFRS 9, greater flexibili-
ty has been introduced to the types of transactions 
eligible for hedge accounting, specifically broaden-
ing the types of instruments that qualify for hedg-
ing instruments and the types of risk components 
of non-financial items that are eligible for hedge 
accounting. In addition, the effectiveness test has 
been overhauled and replaced with the principal 
of an ‘economic relationship’. Retrospective assess-
ment of hedge effectiveness is also no longer re-
quired. Enhanced disclosure requirements about an 
entity’s risk management activities have also been 
introduced.

•	 Derecognition. The requirements for the derecogni-
tion of financial assets and liabilities are carried for-
ward from IAS 39.

The standard is effective from 1 January 2018 with early 
application permitted. Depending on the chosen ap-
proach to applying IFRS 9, the transition can involve 
one or more than one date of initial application for dif-
ferent requirements.

The Management of the Group anticipates that the ap-
plication of IFRS 9 in the future will have a significant 

impact on amounts reported in respect of the Group’s 
financial assets and financial liabilities. However, it is not 
practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of the ef-
fect of IFRS 9 until a detailed review has been completed.

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle 

The Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle in-
clude a number of amendments to various IFRSs, which 
are summarized below.

The amendments to IFRS 2 change the definition of 
‘vesting condition’ and ‘market condition’ and add defi-
nitions for ‘performance condition’ and ‘service condi-
tion’ which were previously included within the defini-
tion of ‘vesting condition’.

The amendments to IFRS 3 clarify that contingent con-
sideration that is classified as an asset or liability should 
be measured at fair value at each reporting date, irre-
spective of whether the contingent consideration is a 
financial instrument within the scope of IAS 39 or IFRS 9 
or a non-financial asset or liability.

The amendments to IFRS 8 require an entity to disclose 
the judgements made by management in applying the 
aggregation criteria to operating segments and clarify 
that a reconciliation of the total of the reportable seg-
ments’ assets to the entity’s assets should only be pro-
vided if the segment assets are regularly provided to 
the chief operating decision-maker. 

The amendments to the basis for conclusions of IFRS 
13 clarify that the issue of IFRS 13 and consequential 
amendments to IAS 39 and IFRS 9 did not remove the 
ability to measure short-term receivables and payables 
with no stated interest rate at their invoice amounts 
without discounting, if the effect of discounting is im-
material. These amendments are considered to be ef-
fective immediately.

The amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38 remove per-
ceived inconsistencies in the accounting for accumu-
lated depreciation/ amortisation when an item of prop-

erty, plant and equipment or an intangible asset is 
revalued. The amended standards clarify that the gross 
carrying amount is adjusted in a manner consistent 
with the revaluation of the carrying amount of the as-
set and that accumulated depreciation/ amortisation 
is the difference between the gross carrying amount 
and the carrying amount after taking into account ac-
cumulated impairment losses.
 
The amendments to IAS 24 clarify that a management 
entity providing key management personnel services 
to a reporting entity is a related party of the report-
ing entity. Consequently, the reporting entity should 
disclose as related party transactions the amounts 
incurred for the service paid or payable to the man-
agement entity for the provision of key management 
personnel services. However, disclosure of the compo-
nents of such compensation is not required.

The Management of the Group does not anticipate 
that the application of these amendments will have a 
significant effect on the consolidated financial state-
ments.

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2011-2013 Cycle 

The Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2011-2013 Cycle in-
clude the following amendments to various IFRSs.

The amendments to IFRS 3 clarify that the standard 
does not apply to the accounting for the formation 
of all types of joint arrangement in the financial state-
ments of the joint arrangement itself.

The amendments to IFRS 13 clarify that the scope of 
portfolio exception for measuring the fair value of a 
group of financial assets and financial liabilities on a net 
basis includes all contracts that are within the scope of, 
and accounted for in accordance with, IAS 39 or IFRS 
9, even if those contracts do not meet the definitions 
of a financial assets or financial liabilities within IAS 32.

The amendments to IAS 40 clarify that IAS 40 and IFRS 
3 are not mutually exclusive and application of both 
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standards may be required. Consequently, an entity ac-
quiring investment property must determine whether 
the property meets the definition of investment prop-
erty in terms of IAS 40, and whether the transaction 
meets the definition of a business combination under 
IFRS 3.

The Management of the Group does not anticipate 
that the application of these amendments will have a 
significant effect on the consolidated financial state-
ments.

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012–2014 Cycle. 

The Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012–2014 Cycle in-
clude the following amendments to various IFRSs.

The amendments to IFRS 5 clarify that reclassification 
of an asset or a disposal group from held for sale to 
held to distribution to owners or vice versa should not 
be considered changes to a plan of sale or a plan of 
distribution to owners and that the classification, pre-
sentation and measurement requirements applicable 
to the new method of disposal should be applied. In 
addition, amendments clarify that assets that no lon-
ger meet the criteria for held for distribution to owners 
and do not meet the criteria for held for sale should 
be treated in the same way as assets that cease to be 
classified as held for sale. The amendments should be 
applied prospectively.

The amendments to IFRS 7 provide additional guid-
ance to clarify whether a servicing contract is continu-
ing involvement in a transferred asset for the purposes 
of the disclosures required in relation to transferred as-
sets. In addition, amendments to IFRS 7 were made to 
clarify that the disclosure requirements on offsetting 
financial assets and financial liabilities are not explicitly 
required to be included in the condensed interim fi-
nancial statements for all interim periods, however, the 
disclosures may need to be included in condensed in-
terim financial statements to comply with IAS 34. The 
amendments should be applied retrospectively.

The amendments to IAS 19 clarify that the high quali-
ty corporate bonds used to estimate the discount rate 
for post-employment benefits should be issued in the 
same currency as the benefits to be paid. The amend-
ments apply from the beginning of the earliest com-
parative period presented in the financial statements in 
which the amendments are fist applied.

The amendments to IAS 34 clarify that information re-
quired by IAS 34 that is provided elsewhere within the 
interim financial report but outside the interim finan-
cial statements should be incorporated by way of a 
cross-reference from the interim financial statements to 
the other part of the interim financial report that is avail-
able to users on the same terms and at the same time 
as the interim financial statements.

The Management of the Group does not anticipate that 
the application of these amendments will have a sig-
nificant effect on the consolidated financial statements.

4. Significant accounting  
 estimates

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements requires management to make estimates 
and judgments that affect the reported amount of as-
sets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements 
and the reported amount of income and expenses 
during the reporting period. Management evaluates 
its estimates and judgements on an ongoing basis. 
Management bases its estimates and judgments on 
historical experience and on various other factors that 
are believed to be reasonable under the circumstanc-
es. Actual results may differ from these estimates under 
different assumptions or conditions. The following esti-
mates and judgments are considered important to the 
portrayal of the Group’s financial condition.

Allowance for impairment of loans and receivables

The Group regularly reviews its loans and receivables 
to assess for impairment. The Group’s loan impairment 

provisions are established to recognize incurred im-
pairment losses in its portfolio of loans and receivables. 
The Group considers accounting estimates related to 
allowance for impairment of loans and receivables as 
a key source of estimation uncertainty because (i) they 
are highly susceptible to change from period to peri-
od as the assumptions about future default rates and 
valuation of potential losses relating to impaired loans 
and receivables are based on recent performance ex-
perience, and (ii) any significant difference between 
the Group’s estimated losses and actual losses will 
require the Group to make provisions which, if signifi-
cantly different, could have a material impact on its 
future consolidated statement of profit or loss and its 
consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group uses management’s judgement to estimate 
the amount of any impairment loss in cases where a 
borrower has financial difficulties and there are few 
available sources of historical data relating to similar 
borrowers. Similarly, the Group estimates changes in 
future cash flows based on past performance, past 
customer behaviour, observable data indicating an 
adverse change in the payment status of borrowers 
in a group, and national or local economic conditions 
that correlate with defaults on assets in the group. 
Management uses estimates based on historical loss 
experience for assets with credit risk characteristics 
and objective evidence of impairment similar to those 
in the group of loans and receivables.

Historical loss experience is adjusted, on the basis of 
observable data, to reflect current conditions not af-
fecting the period of historical experience.

The allowances for impairment of financial assets in 
the consolidated financial statements have been de-
termined on the basis of existing economic and politi-
cal conditions. The Group is not in a position to predict 
what changes in conditions will take place in Kazakh-
stan and what effect such changes might have on the 
adequacy of the allowances for impairment of finan-
cial assets in future periods.
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The carrying amount of the allowance for impairment 
losses of loans to customers as at 31 December 2014 
is KZT 286,018 million (31 December 2013: KZT 323,311 
million; 31 December 2012: KZT 302,926 million).

Valuation of financial instruments

As described in Note 37, the Group uses valuation 
techniques that include inputs that are not based on 
observable market date to estimate the fair value of 
certain types of financial instruments. Note 37 provide 
detailed information about the key assumptions used 
in the determination of the fair value of financial instru-
ments. The Group management believes that the cho-
sen valuation techniques and assumptions used are 
appropriate in determining the fair value of financial 
instruments. 

Property and equipment carried at revalued amounts

Buildings and construction are measured at revalued 
amounts. The latest appraisal was in November 2014. 
Details of the valuation techniques used are set out in 
Note 14.

Taxation

Kazakhstan tax, currency and customs legislations are 
subject to varying interpretations and changes, which 
can occur frequently. Management’s interpretation of 
such legislation as applied to the transactions and ac-
tivity of the Group may be challenged by the relevant 
regional and state authorities. Fiscal periods remain 
open to review by the authorities in respect of taxes 
for five calendar periods preceding the year of review. 

As at 31 December 2014, Management believes that its 
interpretation of the relevant legislation is appropriate 
and that the Group’s tax, currency and customs po-
sitions will be sustained. Significant additional actual 
taxes, penalties and interest may be assessed follow-

ing any challenges by the relevant authorities, which 
could have a material impact on the Group’s reported 
net income. 

Claims liability and reserves arising from insurance con-
tracts 

For insurance contracts, estimates have to be made 
both for the expected ultimate cost of claims reported 
at the reporting date and for the expected ultimate cost 
of incurred but not reported reserves (“IBNR”) claims at 
the reporting date. For certain lines of business, IBNR 
claims form the majority of the statement of financial 
position claims provision. It can take a significant period 
of time before the ultimate claims cost can be estab-
lished with certainty. For hull, property, accident and 
liability insurance, the Group actuarially determines the 
liability using past claim settlement trends to predict 
future claims settlement amounts. In estimating the 
cost of reported and IBNR claims for certain other lines 
of business, management applies current government 
guidance as provided by NBK, due to the absence of 
sufficient historical data. Under this guidance, the IBNR 
reserve is calculated using the expected loss ratio for 
each line of business, less the cumulative losses actually 
reported. General insurance claims provisions are not 
discounted for the time value of money.

The gross reserves for claims and the related receivables 
for reinsurance recoveries are based on information 
available to management and the ultimate amounts 
may vary as a result of subsequent information and 
events and may result in adjustments to the amounts 
recovered. Actual claims experience may differ from 
the historical pattern on which the estimate is based 
and the cost of settling individual claims may differ 
from costs previously estimated. Any adjustments to 
the amount of reserves will be reflected in the consol-
idated financial statements in the period in which the 
necessary adjustments become known and estimable.

Goodwill

Goodwill is the excess cost of an acquisition over the 
fair value of its net assets. The determination of fair val-
ue of assets and liabilities of businesses acquired re-
quires the exercise of management’s judgement; for 
example those financial assets and liabilities for which 
there are no quoted prices, and those non-financial 
assets where valuations reflect estimates of market 
conditions. Difference in fair values would result in 
changes to the goodwill arising and to the post-acqui-
sition performance of the acquisition. Goodwill is not 
amortized but is tested annually or more frequently for 
impairment if events or changes in circumstances indi-
cated that it might be impaired.
 
For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill ac-
quired in a business combination is allocated to each 
of the Group’s cash-generating units or groups of 
cash-generating units expected to benefit from the 
combination. Goodwill impairment testing involves 
the comparison of the carrying value of a cash-gen-
erating unit or group of cash generating units with 
its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is 
the higher of the unit’s fair value and its value in use. 
Value in use is the present value of expected future 
cash flows from the cash-generating unit or group of 
cash-generating units. Fair value is the amount obtain-
able for the sale of the cash-generating unit in an arm’s 
length transaction between knowledgeable and will-
ing parties.

Impairment testing inherently involves a number of 
judgmental areas: the preparation of cash flow fore-
casts for periods that are beyond the normal require-
ments of management reporting; the assessment of 
the discount rate appropriate to the business; esti-
mation of the fair value of cash-generating units; and 
the valuation of the separable assets of each business 
whose goodwill is being reviewed.
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Principal activity Acquisition date Proportion of shares acquired (%) Consideration transferred
JSC Altyn Bank Banking 28 November 2014 100% 31,869

JSC Altyn Bank is consolidated from 28 November 2014 on which date the control was transferred to the Group. The assets and liabilities of 
JSC Altyn Bank were recognised at fair value. The income statement of JSC Altyn Bank up to acquisition date was not recognised.

Assets acquired and liabilities recognized at the date of acquisition:

28 November 2014

Assets Fair value
Cash and cash equivalents 98,319
Trading securities 2,483

Loans to customers 59,793

Other accounts receivables 934

Equipment and intangibles 587
Non-current assets held for sale 38

162,154
Liabilities
Amounts due to credit institutions (3,792)

Amounts due to customers (129,478)

Other accounts payables (1,566)
(134,836)

Net assets 27,318

The Group acquired the following subsidiary during the year ended 31 December 2014:

5. Acquisitions
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28 November 
2014

Fair value
Considerations transferred 31,869

Less: Fair value of identifiable net assets acquired (27,318)
Less: Customer deposit intangible (hereinafter – “CDI”) (Note 15) (2,226)
Plus: Deferred tax on CDI 445
Less: Account receivable from HSBC Bank Plc. (901)
Goodwill 1,869

 Goodwill arising on acquisition:

Goodwill arising upon businesses acquisition is presented as follows:

Net cash inflow on acquisition of subsidiaries

Carrying  
amount

31 December 2012 and 2013 3,085
Additions 1,869

31 December 2014 4,954
Including:
JSC Kazakhinstrakh 3,055
OJSC Halyk Bank Kyrgyzstan 30
JSC Altyn Bank 1,869

4,954

2014
Consideration paid in cash (31,869)
Plus: cash and cash equivalents acquired 98,319

(66,450)

Impact of acquisitions on the results of the Group

Upon acquisition of Subsidiary Bank JSC “HSBC Bank Kazakhstan” the Bank has developed the price allocation model, based on which it determined the pro-forma net in-
come. Had this acquisition been effected at 1 January 2014, net income of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2014 would have been KZT115,909 million. The Group 
management consider these pro-forma numbers to represent an approximate measure of the performance of the combined group on an annualized basis and to provide 
a reference point for comparison in future periods. 
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Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

31 December 2014 31 December 2013 31 December 2012
Cash on hand 130,413 80,752 64,256
Recorded as loans and receivables in accordance with IAS 39:
Correspondent accounts with Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development countries 
(the “OECD”) based banks 90,574 91,265 70,088
Overnight deposits with OECD based banks 31,000 59,122 -
Short-term deposits with OECD based banks 14,595 135,253 257,783
Correspondent accounts with National Bank of Republic of Kazakhstan (the “NBK”) 260,070 83,769 114,175
Short-term deposits with Kazakhstan banks (loans under reverse repurchase agreements) 3,803 32,326 3,510
Correspondent accounts with non-OECD based banks 8,553 2,159 5,194
Short-term deposits with non-OECD based banks 1,529 1,643 3,437
Overnight deposits with non-OECD based banks - 24 55
Short-term deposit with NBK - - 15,001

540,537 486,313 533,499

Interest rates and currencies in which interest earning cash and cash equivalents are denominated are presented as follows:

31 December 2014 31 December 2013 31 December 2012
KZT Foreign currencies KZT Foreign currencies KZT Foreign currencies

Overnight deposits with OECD based banks - 0.08% - 0.02% - 0.1% - -
Short-term deposits with OECD based banks - 0.3% 6.9% 0.1%- 0.2% - 0.2%-0.6%
Short-term deposits with Kazakhstan banks 30% - 2.0%- 6.0% - 0.7%- 1.5% -
Short-term deposits with non-OECD based bank 2.0%- 3.3% - 1.0% - 4.5% - 3.0%-8.5%
Overnight deposits with non-OECD based banks - - - 2.3% - 3.8%
Short-term deposits with NBK - - - - 0.5% -

Fair value of assets pledged and carrying amounts of loans under reverse repurchase agreements as at 31 December 2014, 2013 and 2012, are presented as follows:

31 December 2014 31 December 2013 31 December 2012
Carrying amount 
of loans

Fair value
of collateral

Carrying amount of 
loans

Fair value of collateral Carrying amount  
of loans

Fair value
of collateral

Treasury bills of the Ministry of Finance of Kazakhstan 3,803 4,103 32,279 48,936 3,459 3,721
Equity securities of Kazakhstan banks - - 47 47 51 51

3,803 4,103 32,326 48,983 3,510 3,772

As at 31 December 2014, 2013 and 2012, maturities of loans under reverse repurchase agreements are less than 1 month. 

6. Cash and cash equivalents
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Obligatory reserves comprise:

31 December 2014 31 December 2013 31 December 2012
Recorded as loans and receivables in accordance with IAS 39:
Cash and due from banks allocated to obligatory reserves 48,225 44,276 49,037

48,225 44,276 49,037

The obligatory reserves represent the minimum reserve deposits and cash on hand 
balances required by the National Banks of Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan, Georgia and Cen-
tral Bank of Russian Federation and are used for calculation of the minimum reserve re-
quirement. As at 31 December 2014 obligatory reserves of JSC Altyn Bank, OJSC Halyk 
Bank Kyrgyzstan, OJSC NBK Bank and JSC Halyk Bank Georgia comprised KZT4,464 
million (31 December 2013 – KZT583 million, 31 December 2012 – KZT570 million). 

During 2012 the NBK amended the Regulation on minimum reserve require-
ments. In accordance with the amendment certain long-term liabilities with 
maturities greater than 1 year are now not included into the calculation of the 
minimum reserve level thus resulting in decrease of obligatory reserves. 

7. Obligatory reserves
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8. Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss comprise:

31 December 2014 31 December 2013 31 December 2012
Financial assets held for trading:
Derivative financial instruments 12,094 391 733
Treasury bills of the Ministry of Finance of Kazakhstan 2,026 - -
Corporate bonds 751 402 277
Equity securities of Kazakhstan corporations 261 20 85
Bonds of foreign organizations 174 184 144
Bonds of Kazakhstan banks 164 119 -
Bonds of JSC Development Bank of Kazakhstan 152 139 32
Equity securities of foreign organizations 56 18 -
Equity securities of Kazakhstan banks 49 61 -

15,727 1,334 1,271

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss comprise:

31 December 2014 31 December 2013 31 December 2012
Financial liabilities held for trading:
Derivative financial instruments 3,131 69 439

Interest rates of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are presented in the table below. Interest rates in the table below are calculated as weighted average of 
the effective interest rates for the respective financial assets:

31 December 2014 31 December 2013 31 December 2012
Treasury bills of the Ministry of Finance of Kazakhstan 4.4% - -

Corporate bonds 6.3% 5.3% 7.6%
Bonds of foreign organizations 6.3% 10.0% 13.8%
Bonds of Kazakhstan banks 11.4% 12.3% -
Bonds of JSC Development Bank of Kazakhstan 5.2% 5.3% 5.5%
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Derivative financial instruments comprise:

31 December 2014 31 December 2013 31 December 2012
Notional amount Fair value Notional amount Fair value Notional amount Fair value

Asset Liability Asset Liability Asset Liability

Foreign currency contracts
Swaps 305,163 9,380 2,232 53,401 122 69 40,321 395 388
Forwards 63,716 2,714 899 15,116 18 - 32,159 83 51
Options - - - 3,961 251 - 7,231 255 -

12,094 3,131 391 69 733 439

As at 31 December 2014, 2013 and 2012, the Group used quoted market prices from independent information sources for all of its financial assets recorded at fair value 
through profit or loss, with the except for derivative financial instruments, which are valued using valuation models based on observable market data.

During 2014 the Group concluded swaps and non-deliverable forwards with the NBK under the NBK arrangements on tenge liquidity.
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9. Amounts due from credit institutions

Amounts due from credit institutions comprise:
31 December 2014 31 December 2013 31 December 2012

Recorded as loans and receivables in accordance with IAS 39:
Loans to credit institutions 14,303 14,322 15,931
Term deposits 10,058 8,593 15,765
Deposit pledged as collateral for derivative financial instruments 2,734 2,898 1,105

27,095 25,813 32,801
Less - Allowance for loan impairment (Note 22) - (5) (2)

27,095 25,808 32,799

 Interest rates and maturities of amounts due from credit institutions are presented as follows:

31 December 2014 31 December 2013 31 December 2012

Interest rate, % Maturity, year Interest rate, % Maturity, year Interest rate, % Maturity, year

Loans to credit institutions 8.2% 2017 8.2%-17.0% 2015-2020 8.2%-17.0% 2017

Term deposits 1.0%-9.0% 2015-2017 0.5%-9.0% 2014-2015 0.5%-9.0% 2013-2014

Deposit pledged as collateral for derivative financial instruments 0.2%-1.8% 2015 0.2%-1.8% 2014 0.2%-1.8% 2013
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10. Available-for-sale investment securities

Available-for-sale investment securities comprise:

31 December 2014 31 December 2013 31 December 2012
Treasury bills of the Ministry of Finance of Kazakhstan 149,640 98,932 110,878
Corporate bonds 120,780 91,971 88,657
Bonds of foreign organizations 48,968 72,795 84,719
Bonds of JSC Development Bank of Kazakhstan 18,209 19,363 20,839
Treasury bills of Republic of Poland 17,536 14,767 -
Bonds of Kazakhstan banks 12,422 13,958 8,349
Treasury bills of the Russian Federation 6,618 28,909 11,254
Equity securities of Kazakhstan corporations 5,000 3,075 2,529
Local municipal bonds 3,913 4,019 3,997
Equity securities of foreign corporations 1,713 1,683 136
Treasury bills of Georgia 1,562 562 -
Equity securities of Kazakhstan banks 62 156 188
Treasury bills of the Kyrgyz Republic - 340 -
Mutual investment funds shares - 22 1,927
NBK notes - - 889

386,423 350,552 334,362

During 2013 the Group reclassified securities from Held-to-Maturity to Available-for-
sale category. As at 31 December 2014, the fair value of the investments reclassified 
to investments available-for-sale amounted to KZT12,640 million (see Note 11).

As at 31 December 2014, 2013 and 2012, investments available-for-sale included NBK 
notes, Treasury bills of the Ministry of Finance of Kazakhstan and equity securities 

of KZT12,575 million, KZT73,110 million and KZT3,369 million, respectively, were 
pledged under repurchase agreements with the other banks (see Note 20). All 
repurchase agreements as at 31 December 2014, 2013 and 2012 mature before 5 
January 2015, 8 January 2014, and 23 January 2013, respectively.

Interest rates and maturities of available-for-sale investment securities are presented in the table below. Interest rates in the table below are calculated as weighted aver-
age of the effective interest rates for the respective securities.

31 December 2014 31 December 2013 31 December 2012
Interest rate,
%

Maturity, year Interest rate,
%

Maturity, year Interest rate,
%

Maturity, year

Treasury bills of the Ministry of Finance of Kazakhstan 5.5% 2015-2031 4.9% 2014-2027 4.5% 2013-2027

Corporate bonds 7.0% 2015-2023 7.0% 2014-2021 7.2% 2013-2021
Bonds of foreign organizations 4.0% 2015-2022 3.9% 2014-2021 3.8% 2013-2020
Bonds of JSC Development Bank of Kazakhstan 4.7% 2022-2026 4.9% 2015-2026 5.6% 2015-2026
Treasury bills of Republic of Poland 2.2% 2019 2.2% 2019 - -
Bonds of Kazakhstan banks 10.5% 2015-2023 9.3% 2014-2030 8.3% 2013-2022
Treasury bills of the Russian Federation 2.7% 2018-2021 2.7% 2015-2018 3.4% 2015-2021
Local municipal bonds 4.9% 2015 4.9% 2015 4.9% 2015
Treasury bills of Georgia 11.9% 2016-2024 12.8% 2016-2017 - -
Treasury bills of the Kyrgyz Republic - - 8.9% 2014 - -
NBK notes - - - - 1.0% 2013
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11. Investments held to maturity

During December 2013 APF sold its investments held 
to maturity in order to pay dividends announced on 
29 November 2013. As a result, on 13 December 2013 
when a substantial part of its investments held to matu-
rity was sold, the Group classified the remaining invest-
ments held to maturity to available-for-sale investment 

securities. The gain resulting from the remeasurement 
from amortized cost to fair value on financial assets re-
classified from held to maturity to available-for-sale of 
KZT2,187 million was recognized in other comprehen-
sive income net of income tax of KZT443 million. Gain 
on disposal of investments held to maturity recognized 

Investments held to maturity comprise:

31 December 2012

Treasury bills of the Ministry of Finance of Kazakhstan 12,437
Corporate bonds 8,237
Bonds of Kazakhstan banks 3,065
Bonds of foreign organizations 996
Notes of National Bank of Georgia 579
Treasury bills of Kyrgyz Republic 225
Notes of National Bank of Kyrgyz Republic 222
NBK notes 5

25,766

in the statement of profit or loss amounted to KZT78 
million. As at 31 December 2014, the fair value of the in-
vestments reclassified to available-for-sale investment 
securities amounted to KZT12,640 million. The Group 
will not classify any financial assets as investments held 
to maturity for two financial years following the year of 
reclassification.

Interest rates and maturities of investments held to maturity are presented in the table below. Interest rates in the table below are calculated as the weighted average of 
the effective interest rates for the respective securities.

31 December 2012
Interest rate, % Maturity, year

Corporate bonds 12.6% 2015-2020
Bonds of Kazakhstan banks 9.7% 2013-2016
Treasury bills of the Ministry of Finance of Kazakhstan 5.1% 2013-2030
Bonds of foreign organizations 14.6% 2014-2016
Notes of National Bank of Georgia 13.2% 2016-2017
Treasury bills of Kyrgyz Republic 14.1% 2013
Notes of National bank of Kyrgyz Republic 2.3% 2013
NBK notes 1.5% 2013
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Average interest rate on loans to customers is cal-
culated as interest income from loans to custom-
ers divided by monthly average balances of loans to 
customers. For the year ended 31 December 2014 
average interest rate on loans was 12.1% (for the year 
ended 31 December 2013 – 11.7%, for the year ended  
31 December 2012 – 12.1%).

12. Loans to customers

Loans to customers comprise:

31 December 2014 31 December 2013 31 December 2012
Recorded as loans and receivables in accordance with IAS 39:
Originated loans to customers 1,931,218 1,803,471 1,619,850
Overdrafts 2,813 2,085 2,284

1,934,031 1,805,556 1,622,134
Less – Allowance for loan impairment losses (Note 22) (286,018) (323,311) (302,926)
Loans to customers 1,648,013 1,482,245 1,319,208

As at 31 December 2014, the Group’s loan concentra-
tion to the ten largest borrowers was KZT356,266 mil-
lion which comprised 18% of the Group’s total gross 
loan portfolio (31 December 2013 – KZT367,782 million, 
20%; 31 December 2012 – KZT331,012 million, 20%) and 
75% of the Group’s total equity (31 December 2013 – 
94%, 31 December 2012 – 97%). 

As at 31 December 2014, an allowance for impairment 
amounting to KZT58,214 million was made against 
these loans (31 December 2013 – KZT51,189 million, 31 
December 2012 – KZT45,966 million).

 The table below summarizes the amount of loans secured by type of collateral, rather than the fair value of the collateral itself:

31 December 2014 31 December 2013 31 December 2012
Loans collateralized by pledge of real estate or rights thereon 738,450 707,582 787,676
Loans collateralized by guarantees 414,847 378,311 296,346
Consumer loans issued within the framework of payroll projects 330,158 273,248 195,422
Loans collateralized by cash 162,195 123,875 47,333
Loans collateralized by pledge of corporate shares 115,320 117,658 96,595
Loans collateralized by pledge of inventories 51,501 31,046 17,320
Loans collateralized by pledge of vehicles 28,958 24,747 16,303
Loans collateralized by mixed types of collateral 12,279 61,113 48,938
Loans collateralized by pledge of equipment 9,834 15,984 20,755
Loans collateralized by pledge of agricultural products 1,502 26,458 72,000
Unsecured loans 68,987 45,534 23,446

1,934,031 1,805,556 1,622,134
Less - Allowance for loan impairment losses (Note 22) (286,018) (323,311) (302,926)
Loans to customers 1,648,013 1,482,245 1,319,208
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Loans are granted to the following sectors:

31 December 2014 % 31 December 2013 % 31 December 2012 %
Retail loans:
 - consumer loans 352,028 18% 291,471 16% 219,809 14%
 - mortgage loans 138,615 7% 107,062 6% 110,141 7%

490,643 398,533 329,950
Wholesale trade 386,201 20% 341,489 19% 287,126 18%
Services 229,741 12% 233,492 13% 157,560 9%
Construction 154,817 8% 163,615 9% 168,244 10%
Real estate 148,830 8% 137,200 8% 120,038 7%
Retail trade 112,497 7% 117,816 7% 104,408 6%
Agriculture 108,995 6% 84,934 5% 116,467 7%
Transportation 68,799 4% 40,145 2% 39,885 3%
Mining 39,782 2% 38,050 2% 36,143 2%
Hotel industry 29,969 2% 31,549 2% 32,668 2%
Food industry 28,327 1% 33,929 2% 37,414 2%
Communication 27,959 1% 339 0% 1,642 0%
Metallurgy 22,026 1% 39,276 2% 36,851 2%
Financial services 16,997 1% 94,702 5% 66,250 4%
Energy 9,264 0% 3,403 0% 7,906 1%
Oil and gas 9,059 0% 6,005 0% 10,836 1%
Chemical industry 8,793 0% 10,604 1% 41,127 3%
Machinery 5,250 0% 7,878 0% 9,416 1%
Light industry 4,171 0% 4,503 0% 4,553 0%
Other 31,911 2% 18,094 1% 13,650 1%

1,934,031 100% 1,805,556 100% 1,622,134 100%

As at 31 December 2014, the amount of accrued interest on loans comprised 
KZT103,757 million (31 December 2013 – KZT114,178 million, 31 December 2012 – 
KZT103,278 million).

During the years ended 31 December 2014, 2013 and 2012 the Group received 
financial and non-financial assets by taking possession of collateral it held as 
security. As at 31 December 31 2014, 2013 and 2012 such assets in amount of  

KZT8,029 million, KZT2,728 million, and KZT7,142 million, respectively, are included in 
assets held for sale. 

As at 31 December 2014, 2013 and 2012 loans to customers included loans amount-
ed to KZT169 million, KZT124 million and KZT148 million, respectively, whose terms 
were renegotiated. Otherwise these loans would be past due or impaired.
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13. Investment property

2014 2013
As at 1 January 906 -
Additions 1,912 437 
Disposals - (17)
Transferred from property and equipment 2,129 -
Transferred from non-current assets held for sale 235 486 
Capitalized expenses 141 -
Gain on revaluation of investment property 361 -
As at 31 December 5,684 906 

As at 31 December 2014 and 2013, there was no investment property that was 
pledged as collateral for liabilities. 

Included into other income is investment property rental income for the years 
ended 31 December 2014 and 2013 ended amounted to KZT175 million and 
KZT14 million, respectively.

Operating expenses arising from the investment property that generated rent-
al income during the years ended 31 December 2014 and 2013 amounted to  
KZT3 million and KZT5 million, respectively. 

Investment property owned by the Group was revalued by independent appraisers 
as at 31 December 2014. The following methods were used for the estimation of its 
fair value: income approach and comparative approach. In estimating the fair value 
of the properties, the highest and best use of the properties is their current use. 
There has been no change to the valuation technique during the year. This revalu-
ation resulted in recognition of revaluation profit in the consolidated statements of 
profit or loss amounting to KZT361 million. 

As at 31 December 2014 and 2013, the fair value measurements of the Group’s in-
vestment property are categorized into Level 2 in amount of KZT5,684 million and 
KZT906 million, respectively (description of measurement hierarchy is disclosed in 
Note 37). 
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The movements in property and equipment are presented as follows:

Buildings and construction Vehicles Computers and banking equipment Construction in progress Other Total
Revalued/initial cost:
31 December 2013 51,903 2,531 22,471 1,107 13,489 91,501
Additions 883 347 2,898 13,722 773 18,623
Disposals (3,567) (263) (2,750) (578) (442) (7,600)
Additions through acquisition of subsidiary - 9 75 - 473 557
Transfers 1,740 - 114 (1,655) (199) -
Write-off at revaluation (1,654) - - - - (1,654)
Revaluation 6,676 - - - - 6,676
Impairment (831) (64) (150) - (96) (1,141)
Translation differences (776) (3) (10) - (8) (797)
31 December 2014 54,374 2,557 22,648 12,596 13,990 106,165
Accumulated depreciation:
31 December 2013 1,265 1,386 17,326 - 7,910 27,887
Charge 809 330 1,335 - 1,256 3,730
Disposals (12) (294) (2,212) - (790) (3,308)
Write-off at revaluation (1,654) - - - - (1,654)
Translation differences (26) (3) (15) - (10) (54)
31 December 2014 382 1,419 16,434 - 8,366 26,601

Net book value:
31 December 2014 53,992 1,138 6,214 12,596 5,624 79,564

Buildings and construction Vehicles Computers and banking equipment Construction in progress Other Total
Revalued/initial cost:
31 December 2012 51,813 2,363 21,307 684 13,109 89,276
Additions 740 327 1,617 1,770 889 5,343
Disposals (689) (157) (608) (14) (635) (2,103)
Transfers 1,038 - 161 (1,330) 131 -
Revaluation (636) - - - - (636)
Impairment (175) - - - - (175)
Translation differences (188) (2) (6) (3) (5) (204)
31 December 2013 51,903 2,531 22,471 1,107 13,489 91,501
Accumulated depreciation:
31 December 2012 652 1,236 15,715 - 6,668 24,271
Charge 825 305 2,150 - 1,565 4,845
Disposals (202) (153) (538) - (321) (1,214)
Write-off at revaluation (1) - - - (1)
Translation differences (9) (2) (1) - (2) (14)
31 December 2013 1,265 1,386 17,326 - 7,910 27,887

Net book value:
31 December 2013 50,638 1,145 5,145 1,107 5,579 63,614

14. Property and equipment
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The Group’s revaluation policy requires the entire asset 
class of buildings and construction to be revalued ev-
ery three years. In the event of specific market or prop-
erty indicators the Group may opt to perform revalua-
tions more regularly. 

The Group had its buildings and properties revalued 
during 2014 by an independent appraiser, Business 
Partner Consult LLP. The independent appraiser used 
three approaches to identify the fair value of the prop-

erty and equipment – the income approach with the 
income capitalization method and the comparative 
approach, using market information to identify the fair 
value of buildings and structures under active market 
conditions, and the cost approach when no active mar-
ket existed for items subject to revaluation. 

As at 31 December 2014, the fair value measurements 
of the Group’s buildings and constructions, are catego-
rized into Level 2 and Level 3, in amount of KZT53,917 

million and KZT75 million, respectively (description of 
measurement hierarchy is disclosed in Note 37). 

As at 31 December 2014 total amount of fair value of 
buildings and construction was KZT53,992 million. As 
at 31 December 2014 the carrying amount of proper-
ty and equipment that would have been recognized 
had the assets been carried under the cost model is 
KZT48,575 million.

Buildings and construction Vehicles Computers and banking equipment Construction in progress Other Total
Revalued/initial cost:
31 December 2011 47,866 1,882 19,433 1,617 14,190 84,988
Additions 4,083 661 1,996 1,568 706 9,014
Disposals (334) (181) (442) (109) (1,896) (2,962)
Transfers 1,976 - 315 (2,396) 105 -
Revaluation (1,352) - - - - (1,352)
Impairment (457) - - - - (457)
Translation differences 31 1 5 4 4 45
31 December 2012 51,813 2,363 21,307 684 13,109 89,276
Accumulated depreciation:
31 December 2011 1,175 1,164 13,012 - 6,122 21,473
Charge 1,645 245 3,062 - 922 5,874
Disposals (8) (180) (361) - (377) (926)
Write-off at revaluation (2,170) - - - - (2,170)
Translation differences 10 7 2 - 1 20
31 December 2012 652 1,236 15,715 - 6,668 24,271

Net book value:
31 December 2012 51,161 1,127 5,592 684 6,441 65,005
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15. Intangible Assets

The movements in intangible assets are presented as follows:

Cost Customer deposit intangible Software Licensing agreements for the 
right to use the software

Other intangible assets Total

31 December 2011 - 8,219 2,419 560 11,198
Additions - 2,295 309 84 2,688
Disposals - (1,732) (186) (267) (2,185)
31 December 2012 - 8,782 2,542 377 11,701
Additions - 749 561 96 1,406
Disposals - (856) (120) (350) (1,326)
31 December 2013 - 8,675 2,983 123 11,781
Additions - 1,296 765 254 2,315
Additions through acquisition of subsidiary 2,226 30 - - 2,256
Disposals - (281) (4) (178) (463)
31 December 2014 2,226 9,720 3,744 199 15,889
Accumulated depreciation
31 December 2011 - 4,059 1,221 4 5,284
Charge - 889 271 2 1,162
Disposals - (176) (160) (3) (339)
31 December 2012 - 4,772 1,332 3 6,107
Charge - 734 164 4 902
Disposals - (774) (71) - (845)
31 December 2013 - 4,732 1,425 7 6,164
Charge 41 997 252 3 1,293
Disposals - (229) (3) - (232)
31 December 2014 41 5,500 1,674 10 7,225

Net book value

31 December 2012 - 4,010 1,210 374 5,594
31 December 2013 - 3,943 1,558 116 5,617
31 December 2014 2,186 4,220 2,070 189 8,664

Customer deposit intangibles originated from acquisition of subsidiary and were calculated based on stable level of deposits.
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During 2010 and 2009, after the default of certain 
counterparties on loans to customers, the Group rec-
ognized the property pledged as collateral for the 
loans as assets held for sale at fair value. The assets 
have been subsequently measured at the lower of fair 
value less cost to dispose or the carrying value, as the 
appropriate level of management committed to a plan 
to sell the assets and an active programme to locate a 
buyer and complete the plan was initiated. The type 
of assets recognized was land, buildings and construc-
tions. In June 2012 the Group performed an indepen-

dent valuation of its assets held for sale and based on 
the result of the valuation the Group recognized an 
impairment loss of KZT2,100 million. In November 2014 
the Group performed an independent valuation of its 
assets held for sale and based on the results the Group 
has recognized an impairment loss of KZT102 million.

Despite the assets being actively marketed for sale, the 
majority have not been sold within a short timeframe. 
However, management remains committed to the sale 
of these assets. As the assets are carried at a price not 

in excess of the current fair value less costs to sell, they 
continue to be classified as held for sale at the end of 
2014 and 2013.

As at 31 December 2014, the fair value measurement 
of the Group’s assets held for sale is categorized into 
Level 2 and Level 3, in amount of KZT8,688 million and 
KZT110 million, respectively (description of measure-
ment hierarchy is disclosed in Note 37).

16. Assets held for sale
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17. Insurance assets and liabilities

Insurance assets comprised the following:

31 December 2014 31 December 2013 31 December 2012
Reinsurance premium unearned 10,420 7,424 7,065
Reinsurance amounts recoverable 2,221 3,185 5,003

12,641 0,609 2,068
Premiums receivable 7,679 2,770 2,855
Insurance assets 20,320 13,379 14,923

Insurance liabilities comprised the following:

31 December 2014 31 December 2013 31 December 2012
Reserves for insurance claims 18,360 16,209 13,108
Gross unearned insurance premium reserve 15,105 10,796 9,908

33,465 27,005 23,016
Payables to reinsurers and agents 5,342 2,710 2,185
Insurance liabilities 38,807 29,715 25,201

Insurance risk

Insurance risk is the risk of fluctuations in the timing, frequency or severity of in-
sured events, relative to the expectations of the Group at the time of underwriting. 
The insurance risk is concentrated in the Republic of Kazakhstan.

Underwriting and pricing risk

The Group manages underwriting and pricing risk through the use of underwrit-
ing guidelines which detail the class, nature and type of business that may be ac-
cepted; pricing policies by product line and by brand; and centralized control of 
policy wordings and any subsequent changes.

Claims management risk

The risk that claims are handled or paid inappropriately is managed using a range 
of IT system controls and manual processes conducted by experienced staff. These, 
together with a range of detailed policies and procedures ensure that all claims are 
handled in a timely, appropriate and accurate manner.

Reinsurance risk

Reinsurance is used to protect against the impact of major catastrophic events or 
unforeseen volumes of, or adverse trends in, large individual claims and to transfer 
risk that is outside the Group’s current risk appetite.

Reinsurance of risk above the Group’s appetite is only effective if the reinsurance 
premium is economic and the counterparty is financially secure. Acceptable reinsur-
ers are rated A- or better unless specifically authorized.

Reserving risk

Reserving risk relates to both premiums and claims. It is the risk that reserves are as-
sessed incorrectly such that insufficient funds have been remained to pay or handle 
claims as the amounts fall due. Claims development data provides information on 
the historical pattern of reserving risk.

Reserves for insurance claims have been established on the basis of information cur-
rently available, including potential outstanding loss notifications, and experience 
with similar claims.
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2014 2013 2012
Reserves for claims, beginning of the year 16,209 13,108 8,146
Reserves for claims, reinsurance share, beginning of the year (3,185) (5,003) (1,744)

Net reserves for claims, beginning of the year 13,024 8,105 6,402
Plus claims incurred 16,195 13,933 12,733
Less claims paid (13,080) (9,014) (11,030)

Net reserves for claims, end of the year 16,139 13,024 8,105
Reserves for claims, reinsurance share, end of the year 2,221 3,185 5,003

Reserves for claims, end of the year 18,360 16,209 13,108

The movements on claims reserves for the years ended 31 December 2014, 2013 and 2012, were as follows:

 The movements on unearned insurance premium reserve for the years ended 31 December 2014, 2013 and 2012, were as follows:

2014 2013 2012
Gross unearned insurance premium reserve, beginning of the year 10,796 9,908 12,129
Unearned insurance premium reserve, reinsurance share, beginning of the year (7,424) (7,065) (8,582)

Net unearned insurance premium reserve, beginning of the year 3,372 2,843 3,547
Change in unearned insurance premium reserve 4,309 888 (2,221)
Change in unearned insurance premium reserve, reinsurance share (2,996) (359) 1,517

Change in unearned insurance premium reserve, net 1,313 529 (704)

Net unearned insurance premium reserve, end of the year 4,685 3,372 2,843
Unearned insurance premium reserve, reinsurance share, end of the year 10,420 7,424 7,065

Gross unearned insurance premium reserve, end of the year 15,105 10,796 9,908
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31 December 2014 31 December 2013 31 December 2012
Other financial assets recorded as loans and receivables in accordance with IAS 39:
Debtors on banking activities 9,788 6,293 5,429
Debtors on non-banking activities 2,204 891 1,076
Accrued other commission income 778 758 647
Accrued commission for managing pension assets - 1,204 2,239
Other 20 9 3

12,790 9,155 9,394
Less – Allowance for impairment (Note 22) (4,297) (5,176) (2,389)

8,493 3,979 7,005
Other non financial assets:
Prepayments for property and equipment 1,682 1,009 1,153
Inventory 1,161 1,367 1,442
Advances for taxes other than income tax 615 623 1,222
Corporate income tax prepaid 530 1,344 1,835
Deferred income tax asset (Note 23) 447 301 1,091
Investments in associates 30 24 53
Other 1,435 868 568

5,900 5,537 7,364
Less - Allowance for impairment (Note 22) - - -

5,900 5,537 7,364
14,393 9,516 14,369

18. Other assets

Other assets comprise:
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Amounts due to customers include the following:

Recorded at amortized cost: 31 December 2014 31 December 2013 31 December 2012
Term deposits:
Individuals 764,935 644,732 543,591
Legal entities 380,810 557,059 401,705

1,145,745 1,201,791 945,296
Current accounts:
Legal entities 529,204 399,153 603,249
Individuals 173,264 165,704 150,637

702,468 564,857 753,886
1,848,213 1,766,648 1,699,182

As at 31 December 2014, the Group’s ten largest groups 
of related customers accounted for approximately 26% 
of the total amounts due to customers (31 December 
2013 – 32%; 

An analysis of customer accounts by sector is as follows:
31 December 2014 % 31 December 2013 % 31 December 2012 %

Individuals and entrepreneurs 938,199 51% 810,436 46% 694,228 41%
Oil and gas 296,546 16% 306,889 17% 312,023 18%
Transportation 108,663 6% 80,322 5% 58,308 3%
Wholesale trade 77,060 4% 83,703 5% 107,014 6%
Other consumer services 72,918 4% 148,380 8% 77,579 5%
Construction 66,379 4% 69,094 4% 68,627 4%
Financial sector 43,796 2% 52,624 3% 123,951 7%
Healthcare and social services 31,213 2% 7,771 0% 8,858 0%
Metallurgy 29,383 2% 13,949 1% 29,862 2%
Government 25,139 1% 36,686 2% 78,316 5%
Insurance and pension funds activity 22,284 1% 31,176 2% 11,187 1%
Education 18,291 1% 17,332 1% 13,862 1%
Communication 15,045 1% 11,376 1% 28,675 2%
Energy 14,195 1% 9,751 0% 12,577 1%
Other 89,102 4% 87,159 5% 74,115 4%

1,848,213 100% 1,766,648 100% 1,699,182 100%

31 December 2012 – 42%), where each group of related 
customers represents customers related to each other 
within that group. 

Management believes that in the event of withdrawal 
of funds, the Group would be given sufficient notice 
so as to realize its liquid assets to enable repayment.

19. Amounts due to customers
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Amounts due to credit institutions comprise:

31 December 2014 31 December 2013 31 December 2012
Recorded at amortized cost:
Loans from JSC National Managing Holding KazAgro 47,846 - -
Loans and deposits from Kazakhstan banks 25,687 81,786 4,784
Loans from JSC Entrepreneurship Development Fund DAMU 21,127 - -
Correspondent accounts 5,646 2,628 2,529
Loans and deposits from OECD based banks 3,963 3,831 5,403
Loans and deposits from non-OECD based banks 1,749 8,623 944
Loans from other financial institutions 1,174 1,916 1,542
Overnight deposits - 8,611 -

107,192 107,395 15,202

As at 31 December 2014, loans from JSC National Man-
aging Holding KazAgro (“KazAgro”) included a long-
term loan in the amount of KZT47,846 million at 3.0% 
interest rate maturing in 2023. The loan was received 
for restructuring/refinancing of loan/leasing debts of 
the Bank’s borrowers operating in agricultural sector, 
originated before 1 January 2014 in connection with 
working capital loans, loans for the purchase of fixed 
assets, loans for construction-and-assembling works 
and loans for leasing of agriculture and technology 
equipment. Restructuring/refinancing of loan/leasing 

Interest rates and maturities of amounts due to credit institutions are presented as follows:

31 December 2014 31 December 2013 31 December 2012
Interest rate, % Maturity, year Interest rate, % Maturity, Year Interest rate, % Maturity, year

Loans from JSC National Managing Holding KazAgro 3.0% 2019-2023 - - - -

Loans and deposits from Kazakhstan banks 2.0%-3.5% 2015-2034 0.5%-5.0% 2014 3.0% 2013
Loans from JSC Entrepreneurship Development Fund DAMU 2.0% 2015-2034 - - - -

Loans and deposits from OECD based banks 0.9%-6.5% 2016-2023 1.0%-6.5% 2016-2023 0.8%-6.5% 2013-2023

Loans and deposits from non-OECD based banks 0.7%-7.0% 2015-2017 0.6%-4.5% 2014 5.5% 2013

Loans from other financial institutions 4.8%-6.2% 2015-2016 2.6%-6.0% 2014-2018 2.8%-5.2% 2014-2016

Overnight deposits - - 0.5%-3.5% 2014 - -

obligations is provided at 6.0% - 7.0% interest rate for 
the period not later than 1 January 2023. 

As at 31 December 2014, loans from JSC Entrepreneur-
ship Development Fund DAMU (“DAMU”) included a 
long-term loan in the amount of KZT 20,000 million at 
2.0% interest rate maturing in 2034 with an early recall 
option. The loan was received in accordance with the 
Government program (“the Program”) to finance small 
and medium enterprises (“SME”) operating in certain 
industries. According to the loan agreement between 

DAMU and the Group, the Group is responsible to ex-
tend loans to SME borrowers, eligible to participate in 
the Program, up to 10 years at 6.0% interest rate. 

The Management of the Group believes that there 
are no other similar financial instruments and due to 
its specific nature, the loans from DAMU and KazAgro 
represent separate segments in SME lending. As a re-
sult, the loans from DAMU and KazAgro were received 
in an orderly transaction and as such have been re-
corded at fair value at the recognition date.

20. Amounts due to credit institutions
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Fair value of assets pledged (Notes 10) and carrying value of loans included in loans and deposits from Kazakhstan banks under repurchase agreements as at 31 December 
2014, 2013 and 2012, are presented as follows:

31 December 2014 31 December 2013 31 December 2012
Fair value of 
collateral 

Carrying value 
of loans

Fair value of 
collateral

Carrying value 
of loans

Fair value of 
collateral

Carrying value 
of loans

Treasury bills of the Ministry of Finance of Kazakhstan 12,575 12,017 73,110 67,804 2,943 2,791
Equity securities of Kazakhstan banks - - - - 426 300

12,575 12,017 73,110 67,804 3,369 3,091

Details of transferred financial assets that are not 
derecognised in their entirety as at 31 December 2014, 
2013 and 2012 are disclosed below:

Loans under repurchase agreements used by the 

Group as collateral for the current cash flows in KZT 
within the Group’s operations. The Group regularly uses 
this type of instruments to attract short-term liquidity 
and plans to continue raining funds through loans un-
der repurchase agreements when the need arise. 

The Group has determined that it retains substantially 
all the risks and rewards of these securities, which in-
clude credit risk and market risk, and therefore it has 
not derecognised them. In addition, it recognises a fi-
nancial liability for cash received as collateral.

Investments available-for-sale
(Note 10)

As at 31 December 2014:
Carrying amount of transferred assets 12,575
Carrying amount of associated liabilities 12,017

As at 31 December 2013:
Carrying amount of transferred assets 73,110 
Carrying amount of associated liabilities 67,804 

As at 31 December 2012:
Carrying amount of transferred assets 3,369 
Carrying amount of associated liabilities 3,091 

In accordance with the contractual terms of the loans 
from certain OECD based banks, the Group is required 
to maintain certain financial ratios, particularly with re-
gard to capital adequacy. Certain of the Group’s out-
standing financing agreements include covenants re-

stricting the Group’s ability to create security interests 
over its assets. Should the Group default under these 
covenants, this could result in cross-accelerations and 
cross-defaults under the terms of the Group’s other fi-
nancing arrangements.

The Group’s management believes that as at 31 De-
cember 2014, 2013 and 2012, the Group was in compli-
ance with the covenants of the agreements the Group 
has with the trustees and holders of the notes.
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21. Debt securities issued

Debt securities issued comprise:

Recorded at amortized cost: 31 December 2014 31 December 2013 31 December 2012
Subordinated debt securities issued:
Fixed rate KZT denominated bonds 7,815 11,755 11,725
Reverse inflation indexed KZT denominated bonds 8,470 8,489 8,455
Inflation indexed KZT denominated bonds 3,944 3,941 3,926
Total subordinated debt securities outstanding 20,229 24,185 24,106

 
Unsubordinated debt securities issued:
USD denominated bonds 195,255 165,330 277,813
KZT denominated bonds 95,525 - -
Total unsubordinated debt securities outstanding 290,780 165,330 277,813
Total debt securities outstanding 311,009 189,515 301,919

On 18 November 2014, the Bank has placed KZT100 billion 7.5% bonds with maturity in November 2024 at a price of 94.6354%, issued as per Kazakhstan legislation.

The coupon rates and maturities of these debt securities issued follow:

31 December 2014 31 December 2013 31 December 2012
Coupon rate, % Maturity, year Coupon rate, % Maturity, year Coupon rate, % Maturity, year

Subordinated debt securities issued:
Fixed rate KZT denominated bonds 7.5%-13.0% 2015-2018 7.5%-13.0% 2014-2018 7.5%-13.0% 2014-2018
Reverse inflation indexed KZT denominated bonds 15% less inflation rate 2015-2016 15% less inflation rate 2015-2016 15% less inflation rate 2015-2016

Inflation indexed KZT denominated bonds inflation rate plus 1% 2015 inflation rate plus 1% 2015 inflation rate plus 1% 2015
Unsubordinated debt securities issued:
USD denominated bonds 7.3% 2017-2021 7.3% 2017-2021 7.3%-9.3% 2013-2021
KZT denominated bonds 7.5% 2024 - - - -

As at 31 December 2014 the amount of accrued inter-
est on debt securities issued was KZT4,829 million (as 
at 31 December 2013 – KZT3,321 million, as at 31 De-
cember 2012 – KZT5,095 million).

Subordinated securities are unsecured obligations of 
the Group and are subordinated in right of payments 
to all present and future senior indebtedness and cer-
tain other obligations of the Group. Interest on debt 

securities issued is payable on a semi-annual and an-
nual basis.
 
In accordance with the terms of the USD denominat-
ed bonds, the Group is required to maintain certain fi-
nancial covenants particularly with regard to its capital 
adequacy, limitations on transactions at less than fair 
market value and payment of dividends. Furthermore, 
the terms of the USD denominated bonds include cov-

enants restricting the Group’s ability to create security 
interests over its assets. Should the Group default un-
der these covenants, this could result in cross-accelera-
tions and cross-defaults under the terms of the Group’s 
other financing arrangements. The Group’s manage-
ment believes that as at 31 December 2014, 2013 and 
2012, the Group was in compliance with the covenants 
of the agreements the Group has with trustees and 
holders of the notes.
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22. Allowances for impairment losses and provisions

The movements in accumulated impairment of available-for-sale investment securities, the allowances for impairment of interest earning and other assets were as follows:

Loans
to customers 

(Note 12)

Amounts due from 
credit institutions

(Note 9)

Available-for-sale 
investment securities 

(Note 10)

Other
Assets

(Note 18)

Total

31 December 2011 (291,303) (2) (1,098) (2,225) (294,628)

Additional provisions recognized (136,367) (2) - (11,228) (147,597)
Recoveries of provisions 121,344 1 99 10,791 132,235
Write-offs 5,500 - - 271 5,771
Foreign exchange differences (2,100) 1 - 2 (2,097)

31 December 2012 (302,926) (2) (999) (2,389) (306,316)

Additional provisions recognized (141,915) (4) (41) (14,096) (156,056)
Recoveries of provisions 118,919 1 - 11,115 130,035
Write-offs 4,819 - - 159 4,978
Foreign exchange differences (2,208) - - 35 (2,173)

31 December 2013 (323,311) (5) (1,040) (5,176) (329,532)

Additional provisions recognized (253,896) - (842) (13,975) (268,713)
Recoveries of provisions 246,672 - 29 14,625 261,326
Write-offs 73,028 - - 189 73,217
Foreign exchange differences (28,511) 5 (14) 40 (28,480)

31 December 2014 (286,018) - (1,867) (4,297) 292,182

During the year ended 31 December 2014, the Group has written off loans in the 
amount of KZT73,217 million. Changes introduced to the Tax Code of Kazakhstan as 

at 1 January 2014 allow the write-off of loans without being considered forgiveness 
of the loan for tax purposes and are therefore not subject to corporate income tax.

Provision represents provisions against letters of credit and guarantees issued. The movements in provisions were as follows:

2014 2013 2012

At the beginning of the year (4,163) (4,385) (3,388)
Provisions (172) (5,564) (8,778)
Recoveries of provisions 4,208 5,774 7,816
Additions through the acquisition of subsidiary (353) - -
Foreign exchange differences 73 12 (35)
At the end of the year (407) (4,163) (4,385)
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23. Taxation

The Bank and its subsidiaries, other than HSBK (Europe) B.V., JSC NBK Bank, OJSC Halyk Bank Kyrgyzstan and JSC Halyk Bank Georgia are subject to taxation in Kazakhstan. 
HSBK (Europe) B.V. is subject to income tax in the Netherlands. JSC NBK Bank is subject to income tax in the Russian Federation. OJSC Halyk Bank Kyrgyzstan is subject to 
income tax in the Republic of Kyrgyzstan. JSC Halyk Bank Georgia is subject to income tax in Georgia.

The income tax expense comprises:

Year ended  
31 December 2014

Year ended  
31 December 2013

Year ended  
31 December 2012

Current tax charge 20,791 19,435 16,231
Deferred income tax expense/(benefit) relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences 3,942 (2,913) (1,463)
Adjustments recognised in the current period for deferred tax of prior periods 2,788 - -
Income tax expense 27,521 16,522 14,768

During the year ended 31 December 2014, due to the changes in the Tax Code 
related to the deduction of accrued interest expense, the Group adjusted its de-
ferred tax assets correspondingly.

The tax rate for Kazakhstan companies was 20% during the years ended 31 De-
cember 2014, 2013 and 2012. Income on state and other qualifying securities is tax 
exempt. Certain changes were made to the Tax Code of the Republic of Kazakh-

stan effective starting 1 January 2013. Major of those changes refer to introduction 
of dynamic provisions and deduction of interest expense. Interest expenses are de-
ductible only to the extent of the amount of the interest repaid while remaining 
amount of accrued interest expense represents temporary difference. 

The tax rates in the Netherlands, the Russian Federation, the Republic of Kyrgyzstan 
and Georgia are 20%, 20%, 10% and 15%, respectively.

The effective income tax rate differs from the statutory income tax rates. A reconciliation of the income tax expense based on Kazakhstan statutory rate of 20% with the 
reported income tax expense is as follows:

Year ended  
31 December 2014

Year ended  
31 December 2013

Year ended  
31 December 2012

Income before income tax expense 141,898 88,931 84,729
Statutory tax rate 20% 20% 20%

Income tax expense at the statutory rate 28,380 17,786 16,946
Tax-exempt interest income and other related income on state and other qualifying securities (2,370) (3,086) (3,047)
Income on dividends taxed at emitter (105) (75) (446)
Income of subsidiaries taxed at different rates (45) (55) (43)
Tax-exempt interest income on financial lease (161) (287) (485)
Non-deductible expenditures:
- general and administrative expenses 150 131 186
- other provisions 130 596 75
- charity 114 112 -
Other 1,428 1,400 1,582
Income tax expense 27,521 16,522 14,768
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities comprise:

Tax effect of deductible temporary differences: 31 December 2014 31 December 2013 31 December 2012
Bonuses accrued 1,453 1,122 1,069
Vacation pay accrual 265 241 151
Interest accrued, but not paid - 2,788 -
Fair value of derivatives - 82 51
Insurance premium reserves - - 917
Other 162 94 557
Deferred tax asset 1,880 4,327 2,745
Tax effect of taxable temporary differences:
Dynamic provisions (2012: loans to customers, allowance for impairment provisions) (3,769) (3,115) (5,056)
Property and equipment, accrued depreciation (5,725) (4,681) (4,400)
Core deposit intangible (445) - -

Fair value of derivatives and investments available-for-sale (578) (475) (105)

Other (1,589) (275) -
Deferred tax liability (12,106) (8,546) (9,561)
Net deferred tax liability (10,226) (4,219) (6,816)

The Group has offset deferred tax assets and liabilities on the consolidated statement of financial position where a right of offset existed. The amounts presented after 
offset comprise:

31 December 2014 31 December 2013 31 December 2012
Deferred tax asset (Note 18) 447 301 1,091
Deferred tax liability (10,673) (4,520) (7,907)
Net deferred tax liability (10,226) (4,219) (6,816)

Kazakhstan and other countries where the Group op-
erates currently have a number of laws related to var-
ious taxes imposed by both state and regional gov-
ernmental authorities. Applicable taxes include value 
added tax, income tax, social taxes, and others. Imple-
menting regulations are often unclear or nonexistent 
and few precedents have been established. Often, 
differing opinions regarding legal interpretation exist 
both among and within government ministries and 
organizations; thus creating uncertainties and areas 
of conflict. Tax declarations, together with other legal 
compliance areas (as examples, customs and currency 

control matters) are subject to review and investigation 
by a number of authorities, which are enabled by law 
to impose severe fines, penalties and interest charges. 
These facts create tax risks in Kazakhstan substantially 
more significant than typically found in countries with 
more developed tax systems.

Commercial legislation of the countries where the Group 
operates, including tax legislation, may allow more than 
one interpretation. In addition, there is a risk of tax au-
thorities making arbitrary judgments of business activ-
ities. If a particular treatment, based on Management’s 

judgment of the Group’s business activities, was to be 
challenged by the tax authorities, the Group may be 
assessed additional taxes, penalties and interest. 

Such uncertainty may relate to the valuation of finan-
cial instruments and the market pricing of deals. Addi-
tionally such uncertainty may relate to the valuation of 
temporary differences on the provision and recovery 
of the provision for impairment losses on loans to cus-
tomers and receivables, as an underestimation of the 
taxable profit. The management of the Group believes 
that it has accrued all tax amounts due and therefore 
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Movements in net deferred tax liability:

2014 2013 2012
Net deferred tax liability at the beginning of the year 4,219 6,816 8,279
Deferred tax expense/(benefit) 3,942 (2,913) (1,463)
Adjustments recognised in the current period for deferred tax of prior periods 2,788 - -
Deferred tax expense on core deposit intangible 445 - -
Deferred tax (benefit)/expense through other comprehensive income on revaluation due to reclassification of investments held to 
maturity into available-for-sale - 443 -
Credited to other comprehensive income at the date of property and equipment revaluation (1,168) (127) -
Net deferred tax liability at the end of the year 10,226 4,219 6,816

no allowance has been made in the consolidated fi-
nancial statements.

In Kazakhstan tax years remain open to review by the 
tax authorities for five years. However, tax authorities 

may perform additional reviews, if considered neces-
sary. In accordance with judicial rulings, the period of 
review can be altered, if the court acknowledges the 
fact of interdiction to conducting the tax review by the 
tax authorities.

Management believes that the Group is in compliance 
with the tax laws affecting its operations; however, the 
risk remains that relevant authorities could take differ-
ing positions with regard to interpretive issues.
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24. Other liabilities

Other liabilities comprise:

31 December 2014 31 December 2013 31 December 2012
Other financial liabilities:
Salary payable 8,263 6,274 6,033
Creditors on bank activities 822 602 1,720
Payable for general and administrative expenses 489 608 243
Creditors on non-banking activities 282 696 644
Other 497 68 44

10,353 8,248 8,684
Other non financial liabilities:
Current income tax payable 2,444 2,257 3,329
Taxes payable other than income tax 1,413 1,361 1,351
Other prepayments received 919 344 760

4,776 3,962 5,440
15,129 12,210 14,124
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25. Equity

Authorized, issued and fully paid number of shares as at 31 December 2014, 2013 and 2012, were as follows: 

31 December 2014
Share capital authorized Share capital authorized and not issued Fully paid and issued share capital Share capital repurchased Outstanding shares

Common 24,000,000,000 (12,871,481,549) 11,128,518,451 (218,619,738) 10,909,898,713
Non-convertible preferred 600,000,000 (290,140,570) 309,859,430 (200,558,485) 109,300,945
Convertible preferred 80,225,222 - 80,225,222 (363,822) 79,861,400

31 December 2013
Share capital authorized Share capital authorized and not issued Fully paid and issued share capital Share capital repurchased Outstanding shares

Common 24,000,000,000 (12,871,481,549) 11,128,518,451 (219,817,932) 10,908,700,519
Non-convertible preferred 600,000,000 (290,140,570) 309,859,430 (194,325,596) 115,533,834
Convertible preferred 80,225,222 - 80,225,222 (227,972) 79,997,250

31 December 2012
Share capital authorized Share capital authorized and not issued Fully paid and issued share capital Share capital repurchased Outstanding shares

Common 24,000,000,000 (12,871,481,549) 11,128,518,451 (220,556,796) 10,907,961,655
Non-convertible preferred 600,000,000 (290,140,570) 309,859,430 (214,146,931) 95,712,499
Convertible preferred 80,225,222 - 80,225,222 (500,568) 79,724,654
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All shares are KZT denominated. Movements of shares outstanding are as follows:

Number of shares Nominal (placement) amount
Common Non-convertible preferred Convertible preferred Common Non-convertible preferred Convertible preferred

31 December 2011 1,089,338,798 285,803,817 79,846,624 43,611 46,891 13,233
Increase in shares (split) 9,820,102,490 - - - - -
Purchase of treasury shares from Samruk-Kazyna 
(including the cost of the call option – see Note 1) - (190,000,000) - - (41,054) -
Purchase of treasury shares (4,482,640) (91,364) (146,970) (45) - -
Sale of treasury shares 3,003,007 46 25,000 31 - -

31 December 2012 10,907,961,655 95,712,499 79,724,654 43,597 5,837 13,233

Purchase of treasury shares (9,901,883) (688,005) (101,169) (11) - -
Sale of treasury shares 10,640,747 20,509,340 373,765 11 3,494 -

31 December 2013 10,908,700,519 115,533,834 79,997,250 43,597 9,331 13,233

Purchase of treasury shares from Samruk-Kazyna (in-
cluding the cost of the call option – see Note 1) - (6,232,399) - - (1,461) -

Purchase of treasury shares (6,420,528) (521) (135,850) (7) - -

Sale of treasury shares 7,618,722 31 - 8 - -

31 December 2014 10,909,898,713 109,300,945 79,861,400 43,598 7,870 13,233

Common shares

In accordance with the Decision made on extraordi-
nary shareholders meeting held on 6 December 2012, 
the Bank increased total amount of shares by perform-
ing a split of the common shares in proportion of one 
common share to ten common shares. The split was 
performed on 14 December 2012. 

At 31 December 2014, the Group held 218,619,738 
of the Group’s common shares as treasury shares  
at KZT39,973 million (31 December 2013 – 219,817,932 at 
KZT39,974 million; 31 December 2012 – 220,556,796 at 
KZT39,974 million).

Each common share outstanding is entitled to one vote 
and dividends. Treasury shares are not entitled to any 
vote or dividend.

Preferred shares

In accordance with IAS 32 “Financial Instruments: Pre-
sentation”, both the non-convertible and convertible 
preferred shares (together, the “Preferred Shares”) are 
classified as compound instruments. Upon the re-
turn of capital in the case of liquidation, the assets of 
the Group available for distribution are applied to any 
amount equal to paid up share capital or credited as 
paid up share capital due to the holders of the Preferred 
Shares in priority to the holders of the Common shares. 

The terms of the Preferred Shares require that the 
Group pay a nominal dividend amount of 0.01 KZT per 
share in order to comply with Kazakhstan legislation, 
which represents the liability component. This legis-
lation requires joint stock companies to pay a certain 
guaranteed amount of dividends on Preferred shares. 
According to Kazakhstan legislation on Joint Stock 
Companies, dividend payments on the Preferred 
shares cannot be less than the dividends paid on com-
mon shares. Furthermore, the dividends on common 
shares will not be paid until dividends on Preferred 
shares are fully paid.

The payment of additional dividends on the Preferred 
Shares is determined based on a formula specified in 
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the share prospectus and is based on the Group’s prof-
itability. Where the Group has net income no greater 
than KZT 160 times the quantity of issued Preferred 
Shares, multiplied by a factor of inflation as published 
by the NBK plus one per cent, the dividend per Pre-
ferred Share is determined as net income divided by 
the quantity of issued Preferred Shares. Where net in-

come is greater than this, the dividend per Preferred 
Share is calculated as KZT 160 multiplied by a factor 
of inflation as published by the NBK plus one per cent. 
Inflation in either calculation will range between three 
and nine per cent. Dividends on the Preferred Shares 
are paid only after the Board of Directors approves pay-
ment terms of such dividends and the Annual General 

Shareholders Meeting approves distribution of net in-
come received for the respective financial year. The Pre-
ferred Shares do not have any voting rights, unless the 
payment of preferred dividends has been delayed for 
three months or more from the date they became due.

Dividends paid for the previous financial years were as follows:

Paid in 2014 for the year ended 
31 December 2013

Paid in 2013 for the year ended 
31 December 2012

Paid in 2012 for the year ended 
31 December 2011

Dividend paid per one preferred share, (convertible and non-convertible), tenge 9.28 11.20 13.44
Dividend paid per one common share 1.70 1.12 -

Share premium reserve

Share premium reserve represents an excess of con-
tributions received over the nominal value of shares 
issued.

Convertible preferred shares

Each convertible preferred share is convertible to one 
common share at the discretion of the Board of Direc-
tors. In addition, the Group will pay a compensation 
amount to each convertible preferred shareholder on 
conversion based on a formula specified in the share 
prospectus. This payment is calculated in a way that, 
if at the date of conversion, the value of the common 
shares received by the preferred shareholder is less 

than KZT 160 per share, the Group will reimburse the 
preferred shareholders for the difference in cash at the 
time of conversion.

Retained earnings

Up until September 2013 the Group calculated impair-
ment provisions in accordance with the regulator’s re-
quirements. The difference between impairment provi-
sions accrued in accordance with IFRS and impairment 
provisions presented in accordance with requirements 
of the regulator was recorded as a special reserve, 
which as at 31 December 2012 amounted to KZT34,594 
million and was included into the retained earnings. 
This reserve is not distributable.

Due to amendments to Legal act of the NBK in 2013, 
the Bank ceased accruing impairment provisions in ac-
cordance with the previous requirements of the NBK 
and recognized dynamic reserves. Dynamic reserves 
represent reserves to absorb non-current expected 
losses on the Bank’s loan portfolio during credit shocks 
should they arise. Dynamic reserves are calculated by 
multiplying the balance and changes in the balance of 
the Bank’s loans to customers by certain indicators ap-
proved by the NBK. As at 31 December 2014 and 2013, 
dynamic provisions amounted to KZT19,568 million 
and were included into the Retained earnings on the 
consolidated statement of financial position.
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26. Commitments and contingencies

Financial commitments and contingencies 

The Group’s financial commitments and contingencies comprised the following:

31 December 2014 31 December 2013 31 December 2012
Guarantees issued 155,639 156,699 117,730
Commercial letters of credit 6,657 12,093 20,970
Commitments to extend credit 20,525 13,810 16,146
Financial commitments and contingencies 182,821 182,602 154,846
Less: cash collateral against letters of credit (3,427) (6,249) (12,177)
Less: provisions (Note 22) (407) (4,163) (4,385)
Financial commitments and contingencies, net 178,987 172,190 138,284

Guarantees issued represent bank guarantees issued by the Bank by order of its cli-
ents, and which are in effect as at the reporting date. As at 31 December 2014, the 
ten largest guarantees accounted for 76% of the Group’s total financial guarantees 
(31 December 2013 – 83%; 31 December 2012 – 78%) and represented 25% of the 
Group’s total equity (31 December 2013 – 33%; 31 December 2012 – 27%).

Commercial letters of credit represent letters of credit issued by the Bank by order 
of its clients, and under which as at the reporting date, the payment has not yet 
been made. As at 31 December 2014, the ten largest unsecured letters of credit 
accounted for 73% of the Group’s total commercial letters of credit (31 December 
2013 – 49%; 31 December 2012 –41%) and represented 1% of the Group’s total equi-
ty (31 December 2013 – 1.5%; 31 December 2012 – 3%).

The Group requires collateral to support credit-related financial instruments when 
it is deemed necessary. The Group typically requires collateral support unless it is 
determined to be not necessary through review of the credit risk of the borrower or 
analysis of other deposit accounts held by the Group. Collateral held varies, but may 
include deposits held in the banks, government securities and other assets.

Capital commitments

The Group had no material commitments for capital expenditures outstanding as at 
31 December 2014, 2013 and 2012.

Operating lease commitments

There was no material operating lease commitments under non-cancellable operat-
ing leases outstanding as at 31 December 2014, 2013 and 2012.
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Year ended  
31 December 2014

Year ended  
31 December 2013

Year ended  
31 December 2012

Interest income comprises:
Interest income on financial assets recorded at amortized cost:
- interest income on unimpaired assets 100,088 93,711 70,680
- interest income on impaired assets 90,459 72,781 75,724
Interest income on available-for-sale investment securities 19,960 16,035 14,562
Interest income on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 86 36 28
Total interest income 210,593 182,563 160,994

Interest income on cash and cash equivalents and amounts due from credit institutions 4,963 3,531 2,153
Interest income on investments held to maturity - 2,402 3,215
Interest income on loans to customers 185,584 160,559 141,036

Total interest income on financial assets recorded at amortized cost 190,547 166,492 146,404

Interest income on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:
Interest income on financial assets held for trading 86 36 28

Total interest income on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 86 36 28

Interest income on available-for-sale investment securities 19,960 16,035 14,562

Total interest income 210,593 182,563 160,994

Interest expense comprises:
Interest expense on financial liabilities recorded at amortized cost (77,458) (75,932) (69,934)

Total interest expense (77,458) (75,932) (69,934)
Interest expense on financial liabilities recorded at amortized cost comprise:
Interest expense on amounts due to customers (57,799) (53,954) (44,945)
Interest expense on amounts due to credit institutions (2,403) (940) (619)
Interest expense on debt securities issued (17,256) (21,038) (24,370)

Total interest expense on financial liabilities recorded at amortized cost (77,458) (75,932) (69,934)
Net interest income before impairment charge 133,135 106,631 91,060

27. Net interest income
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28. Fees and commissions

Fee and commission income was derived from the following sources:

Year ended  
31 December 2014

Year ended  
31 December 2013

Year ended  
31 December 2012

Pension fund and asset management 11,865 9,537 15,915
Bank transfers - settlements 11,165 10,260 9,387
Cash operations 8,757 7,338 5,112
Payment cards maintenance 7,934 6,823 5,434
Bank transfers – salary projects 6,456 5,922 5,456
Servicing customers’ pension payments 5,047 4,234 3,705
Letters of credit and guarantees issued 3,183 3,510 2,380
Maintenance of customer accounts 1,327 984 1,175
Other 2,904 2,798 2,518

58,638 51,406 51,082

Fee and commission income from Pension fund and asset management was derived from the following: 

Year ended  
31 December 2014

Year ended  
31 December 2013

Year ended  
31 December 2012

Investment income from management of pension assets 10,259 3,417 10,581
Income from administration of pension assets 1,606 6,120 5,334

11,865 9,537 15,915

On 26 March 2014 APF transferred all pension assets to JSC SAPF. Subsequently the Group stopped carrying out pension asset management activities

Fee and commission expense comprised the following:

Year ended  
31 December 2014

Year ended  
31 December 2013

Year ended  
31 December 2012

Deposit insurance (4,016) (3,435) (2,801)
Payment cards (2,201) (1,361) (1,090)
Foreign currency operations (778) (368) (243)
Commission paid to collectors (495) (614) (685)
Bank transfers (335) (260) (230)
Other (734) (1,101) (942)

(8,559) (7,139) (5,991)
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29. Net gain from financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Net gain on financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss comprises:

Year ended  
31 December 2014

Year ended  
31 December 2013

Year ended  
31 December 2012

Net gain from operations with financial assets and liabilities classified as held for trading:
Net gain from derivative operations 6,383 161 1,452
Unrealized net gain/(loss) on trading operations 1,291 113 (481)
Realized gain/(loss) on trading operations 168 (13) (802)
Total net gain on operations with financial assets and liabilities classified as held for trading 7,842 261 169
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30. Net foreign exchange gain

Net foreign exchange gain comprises:

Year ended
31 December 2014

Year ended
31 December 2013

Year ended
31 December 2012

Dealing, net 10,527 6,667 7,021
Translation differences, net (3,441) 2,594 2,032

Total net foreign exchange gain 7,086 9,261 9,053
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31. Insurance underwriting income

Insurance underwriting income/expense comprised:

Year ended  
31 December 2014

Year ended  
31 December 2013

Year ended  
31 December 2012

Insurance premiums written, gross 38,887 34,331 27,952
Change in unearned insurance premiums, net (1,869) (734) 323
Ceded reinsurance share (16,340) (14,186) (10,511)

20,678 19,411 17,764

Insurance payments 8,528 8,457 10,419
Commissions to agents 4,332 443 374
Insurance reserves 3,335 5,033 1,940

16,195 13,933 12,733
Total insurance underwriting income 4,483 5,478 5,031
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32. Operating expenses

Operating expenses comprised:

Year ended  
31 December 2014

Year ended  
31 December 2013

Year ended  
31 December 2012

Salaries and other employee benefits 35,767 30,899 29,228
Depreciation and amortization expenses 5,023 5,747 7,036
Taxes other than income tax 2,734 2,443 1,960
Repair and maintenance 1,855 1,559 1,601
Communication 1,574 1,238 1,268
Security 1,494 1,436 1,430
Rent 1,379 1,248 1,244
Professional services 1,343 1,835 240
Information services 1,247 941 742
Write-off and impairment of property and equipment and intangible assets 1,141 175 457
Advertisement 1,154 1,138 1,028
Utilities 1,095 1,085 757
Business trip expenses 736 639 627
Insurance agents fees 700 717 862
Stationery and office supplies 620 599 633
Charity 577 564 423
Transportation 488 525 531
Impairment of investments in subsidiaries 367 - -
Hospitality expenses 208 53 69
Social events 104 324 103
Other 2,804 1,655 1,572

62,410 54,820 51,811
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33. Earnings per share

Basic and diluted earnings per share are calculated by 
dividing the net income for the year attributable to 
equity holders of the parent by the weighted average 
number of participating shares outstanding during 
the year. 

 The following table presents basic and diluted earnings per share:

 
Year ended  
31 December 2014

Year ended  
31 December 2013

Year ended  
31 December 2012

Basic earnings per share
Net income for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent 114,377 72,137 69,517
Less: Dividends paid on preferred shares (1,757) (2,197) (4,914)

Earnings attributable to common shareholders 112,620 69,940 64,603
Weighted average number of common shares for the purposes of basic earnings per share 10,910,233,188 10,906,545,755 10,897,316,521

Basic earnings per share (in Kazakhstani Tenge)** 10.32 6.41 5.93
Diluted earnings per share
Earnings used in the calculation of basic earnings per share 112,620 69,940 64,603
Add: Dividends paid on convertible preferred shares 744 899 1,073
Add: Additional dividends that would be paid on full distribution of profit to the convertible preferred 
shareholders* N/A N/A N/A
Less: Amounts payable to convertible preferred shareholders upon conversion (10,102) (10,455) (10,950)

Earnings used in the calculation of total diluted earnings per share 103,262 60,384 54,726
Weighted average number of common shares for the purposes of basic earnings per share 10,910,233,188 10,906,545,755 10,897,316,521
Weighted average number of common shares that would be issued for the convertible preferred shares 79,971,439 79,886,934 79,775,610
Weighted average number of common shares for the purposes of diluted earnings per share 10,990,204,627 10,986,432,689 10,977,092,131

Diluted earnings per share (in Kazakhstani Tenge)** 9.40 5.50 4.99

* The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share includes only earnings attributable to holders of common shares because dividends already paid on preference 
shares are greater than that would be paid on full distribution of current period earnings. 

** Basic and diluted earnings per share for the year ended 31 December 2012 were presented based on the new number of shares resulting from the share split on 14 De-
cember 2012 (see Note 25).

According to Kazakhstan legislation on Joint Stock Com-
panies, and as described in Note 25, dividend payments 
per common share cannot exceed the dividends per 
share on preferred shares for the same period. There-
fore, net profit for the period is allocated to the ordinary 

shares and the preference shares in accordance with 
their legal and contractual dividend rights to partici-
pate in undistributed earnings.
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 As required by KASE rules for listed companies the book value of one share per each class of shares as at 31 December 2014, 2013 and 2012, is disclosed as follows: 

31 December 2014
Class of shares Outstanding shares Equity Book value of one share, in KZT
Common 10,909,898,713 444,217 40.72
Non-convertible preferred 109,300,945 9,049 82.79
Convertible preferred 79,861,400 13,291 166.43

466,557 

31 December 2013
Class of shares Outstanding shares Equity Book value of one share, in KZT
Common 10,908,700,519 362,761 33.25
Non-convertible preferred 115,533,834 10,510 90.97
Convertible preferred 79,997,250 13,291 166.14

386,562

31 December 2012
Class of shares Outstanding shares Equity Book value of one share, in KZT
Common 10,907,961,655 313,738 28.76
Non-convertible preferred 95,712,499 7,074 73.91
Convertible preferred 79,724,654 13,233 165.98

334,045

The amount of equity attributable to non-convertible preferred shares is calculat-
ed as the sum of non-convertible shares carrying amount and the share premium 
reserve attributable to non-convertible preferred shares. The amount of equity at-
tributable to convertible preferred shares is calculated as carrying amount of con-
vertible shares. The amount of equity attributable to common shares is calculated 

as the difference between the total equity, total net book value of intangible assets, 
and the amounts attributable to preferred shares.

The management of the Group believes that it fully complies with the requirement 
of KASE as at the reporting dates.
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34. Financial risk management

Risk management is fundamental to the Group’s bank-
ing business and is an essential element of the Group’s 
operations. The main risks inherent to the Group’s op-
erations are those related to:

•	 Credit risk;

•	 Liquidity risk; and

•	 Market risk

The Group recognizes that it is essential to have ef-
ficient and effective risk management processes in 
place. To enable this, the Group has established a risk 
management framework, whose main purpose is to 
protect the Group from risk and allow it to achieve 
its performance objectives. Through the risk manage-
ment framework, the Group manages the following 
risks:

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of loss arising for the Group when 
counterparty is unable to meet its contractual obliga-
tions on time or in full.

Risk Management division plays an important role in 
managing and controlling the credit risk. This division 
is responsible for credit risk identification and evalua-
tion and implementation of control and monitoring 
measures. The Risk Management division directly par-
ticipates in credit decision-making processes and con-
sideration of internal rules, regulations and loan pro-
grams. In addition, the division provides independent 
recommendations concerning credit exposure mini-
mization measures, controls limits and monitors credit 
risks, provides relevant reporting to management and 
ensures compliance of the credit process with external 
laws/regulations as well as internal requirements and 
procedures. 

The Group structures the level of credit risk it under-
takes by placing limits on the amount of risk accepted 
in relation to one borrower/counterparty, or groups 
of borrowers, and to industry (and geographical) seg-

ments. Limits on the level of credit risk concentration 
by industry sector are approved and controlled by the 
Assets and Liabilities Management Committee (ALMC). 
Limits on credit risk exposure with respect to credit 
programmes (Small and medium enterprises (SME) and 
retail) are approved by the Management Board. The ex-
posure to any one borrower, including banks and bro-
kers, covers on and off-balance sheet exposures which 
are reviewed by the Credit Committees and ALMC. Ac-
tual exposures against limits are monitored daily.

The risk that the counterparty will not meet its obliga-
tions is restricted by the limits covering on and off-bal-
ance sheet exposure. 

Commitments to extend credit represent unused por-
tions of credit in the form of loans, guarantees or letters 
of credit. The credit risk for off-balance sheet financial 
instruments is defined as a probability of losses due to 
the inability of counterparty to comply with the con-
tractual terms and conditions. With respect to credit 
risk on commitments to extend credit, the Group is po-
tentially exposed to a loss in an amount equal to the 
total unused commitments. However, the likely amount 
of the loss is less than the total unused commitments 
since most commitments to extend credit are contin-
gent upon counterparties maintaining specific credit 
standards. The Group applies the same credit policy to 
the contingent liabilities as it does to the financial in-
struments recorded in the consolidated statement of 
financial position, i.e. the one based on the procedures 
for approving the grant of loans, using limits to mitigate 
the risk, and current monitoring. The Group monitors 
the term to maturity of off-balance sheet contingencies 
because longer term commitments generally have a 
greater degree of credit risk than short-term commit-
ments.

Structure and authorities of credit committees

Credit committees, ALMC, the Management Board and 
the Board of Directors are credit authorities responsible 
for implementation of the Bank’s Credit Policy and cred-
it decision-making process.

Head Office Credit Committee (СС)

CC is the committee, the primary goal of which is im-
plementation of the Bank’s Credit Policy in terms of 
credit operations and credit applications from corpo-
rate customers.

Branch Credit Committee and Branch Network Credit 
Committee (BCC, BNCC)

BCC and BNCC are committees, the primary goal of 
which is implementation of the Bank’s Credit Policy in 
terms of granting financial instruments via branches to 
the small and medium enterprises customers.
 
Delegated credit authority limits for BCC and BNCC are 
established by the Management Board. 

BCC makes credit decisions within its limits. If the loan 
application exceeds the relevant credit limit or the au-
thorities of the BCC, the final decision has to be taken 
by the BNCC. The procedure of the decision-making 
by the BNCC involves consideration of a package of 
documents, including complex analysis and assess-
ments of the potential borrowers conducted by the 
Bank’s experts.

Retail Branch Credit Committee of the Head Office and 
Decision Making Center (RCCHO and DMC)

RCCHO and DMC are credit decision authorities, the 
primary goal of which is implementation of the Bank’s 
Credit Policy in terms of granting retail financial instru-
ments via branches.

DMC comprises of credit underwriters with delegated 
credit authorities based on four eyes principle. DMC 
makes credit decisions within their authorities and lim-
its established by the Management Board and RCCHO. 
RCCHO is authorized to consider loan applications that 
exceed relevant credit limits or the authorities of the 
DMC, as well as other matters within the authorities es-
tablished by the Management Board.
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Along with the process of decision-making via the 
credit decision authorities mentioned above, there is 
an automated approach of decision-making process 
for potential borrowers whose income can be con-
firmed by the Independent Government body. This 
approach takes into account risk-profile of the poten-
tial borrower and allows minimizing the credit risk ex-
posure in the decision-making process.

Problem loans committee of the Head Office, branches

Are committees, the primary goal of which is imple-
mentation of the Bank’s Credit Policy in terms of man-
agement, servicing and maintaining the repayment of 
the problem loans.

Authorized credit authorities of the Bank subsidiaries

Consideration and approval of the loan applications 
in the subsidiaries are performed by the Authorized 
credit authorities in accordance with the internal rules 
and regulations of the subsidiary. Loan applications ex-
ceeding the established limits and authorities have to 
be approved by the Board of Directors of the subsidiar-
ies with the preliminary consideration by the relevant 

Credit committee according to the Bank’s internal rules 
and regulations.

ALMC

ALMC is the committee, the primary goal of which is 
profit maximization and to limit the risks of banking 
activities related to raising and allocation of funds. The 
main tasks of the ALMC are: liquidity management, in-
terest rate risk management, price risk and other bank-
ing risks management. 

ALMC is also responsible for establishing country and 
counterparty-banks limits. ALMC reports to the Board 
of Directors.

The Management Board

For loan applications exceeding the authorities of the 
Head Office Credit Committee, Branch Network Credit 
Committee, Retail Credit Committee of the Head Of-
fice, or exceeding the relevant limits of Branch Network 
Credit Committee, Retail Credit Committee of the Head 
Office have to be considered by the Management 
Board.

31 December 2014
Maximum exposure Offset Net exposure after offset Collateral pledged

Cash equivalents* 410,124 - 410,124 3,803
Obligatory reserves 48,225 - 48,225 -
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (less equity securities) 15,361 - 15,361 -
Amounts due from credit institutions 27,095 - 27,095 -
Available-for-sale investment securities  
(less equity securities) 379,648 - 379,648 -
Loans to customers 1,648,013 - 1,648,013 1,579,026
Other financial assets 8,493 - 8,493 -

2,536,959 - 2,536,959 1,582,829
Commitments and contingencies 182,414 - 182,414 3,427

The Board of Directors

If the loan applications exceed 5% of the Bank’s equi-
ty capital or the potential borrower is a related party, 
such applications have to be considered by the Board 
of Directors. 

Maximum Exposure

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk varies 
significantly and is dependent on both individual risks 
and general market risks.

The following table presents the maximum exposure 
to credit risk of financial assets and contingent liabili-
ties. For financial assets the maximum exposure equals 
to a carrying value of those assets prior to any offset 
or collateral. For financial guarantees and other contin-
gent liabilities the maximum exposure to credit risk is 
the maximum amount the Group would have to pay 
if the guarantee was called on or in the case of com-
mitments, if the loan amount was called on (Note 26). 
The collateral pledged is represented by the carrying 
amount of a financial instrument for which the collat-
eral was received as security.
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31 December 2012
Maximum exposure Offset Net exposure after offset Collateral pledged

Cash equivalents* 469,243 - 469,243 3,510
Obligatory reserves 49,037 - 49,037 -
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (less equity securities) 1,186 - 1,186 -
Amounts due from credit institutions 32,799 - 32,799 -
Available-for-sale investment securities (less equity securities) 331,509 - 331,509 -
Investments held to maturity 25,766 - 25,766 -
Loans to customers 1,319,208 - 1,319,208 1,295,762
Other financial assets 7,005 - 7,005 -

2,235,753 - 2,235,753 1,299,272

Commitments and contingencies 150,461 - 150,461 12,177

* Amount represents the short-term loans and deposits with original maturities of 
not more than 90 days, which are included within cash and cash equivalents.

Financial assets are graded according to the current credit rating they have been 

issued by an international rating agency or in accordance with the Group’s internal 
rating system. The highest possible rating is AAA. Investment grade financial assets 
have ratings from AAA to BBB. Financial assets which have ratings lower than BBB are 
classed as speculative grade.

31 December 2013
Maximum exposure Offset Net exposure after offset Collateral Pledged

Cash equivalents* 405,561 - 405,561 32,326
Obligatory reserves 44,276 - 44,276 -
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (less equity securities) 1,235 - 1,235 -
Amounts due from credit institutions 25,808 - 25,808 -
Available-for-sale investment securities  
(less equity securities) 345,638 - 345,638 -
Loans to customers 1,482,245 - 1,482,245 1,436,711
Other financial assets 3,979 - 3,979 -

2,308,742 - 2,308,742 1,469,037
Commitments and contingencies 178,439 - 178,439 6,249
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The following table details the credit ratings of financial assets held by the Group, before any impairment losses:

AA AA- A BBB <BBB Not rated 31 December 2014
Total 

Cash equivalents* 7,743 43,135 85,484 265,090 6,184 2,488 410,124

Obligatory reserves - - - 47,335 561 329 48,225

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - 1 554 14,418 408 346 15,727

Amounts due from credit institutions - - 2,501 24,222 48 324 27,095

Available-for-sale investment securities 9,576 20 33,567 246,433 82,053 16,641 388,290
Other financial assets - - - - - 12,790 12,790
Commitments and contingencies - - - - - 182,821 182,821

AA AA- A BBB <BBB Not Rated 31 December 2013
Total 

Cash equivalents* 10,104 27,246 248,914 117,087 1,856 354 405,561

Obligatory reserves - - - 43,755 - 521 44,276

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - - 161 714 298 161 1,334

Amounts due from credit institutions - - 2,010 15,891 7,678 234 25,813

Available-for-sale investment securities 7,918 29,548 283,998 25,786 4,342 351,592
Other financial assets - - - - - 9,155 9,155
Commitments and contingencies - - - - - 182,602 182,602

AA AA- A BBB <BBB Not Rated 31 December 2012
Total 

Cash equivalents* 21,272 180,231 78,188 185,375 1,655 2,522 469,243

Obligatory reserves - - - 49,037 - - 49,037

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - - 297 492 222 260 1,271
Amounts due from credit institutions - - 309 15,809 16,376 307 32,801
Available-for-sale investment securities - 20 42,427 249,218 37,041 6,655 335,361
Investments held to maturity - 5 - 16,346 8,968 447 25,766
Other financial assets - - - - - 9,394 9,394
Commitments and contingencies - - - - - 154,846 154,846

* Amount represents the short-term loans and deposits with original maturities of not more than 90 days, which are included within cash and cash equivalents.
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The banking industry is generally exposed to credit 
risk through its financial assets and contingent liabil-
ities. Credit risk exposure of the Group is concentrat-
ed within the Republic of Kazakhstan. The exposure is 
monitored on a regular basis to ensure that the credit 
limits and credit worthiness guidelines established by 
the Group’s risk management policy are not breached.

Loans to customers are classified based on internal 
assessments and other analytical procedures. The re-
spective business units classify loans according to their 
risk and the exposure that they potentially present to 
the Group, and this classification is verified by the Risk 
Management function. 

The Group is considering the following impairment 
indicators:

•	 Overdue for more than 90 days;

•	 Default rating calculated based on rating model de-
scribed below;

•	 Restructuring because of deterioration of financial 
position of the borrower; and

Rating score 31 December 2014 31 December 2013 31 December 2012
1 - - -
2 - - -
3 8,984 2,091 33,943
4 198,407 93,919 82,088
5 191,679 398,582 233,258
6 340,418 96,218 248,848
7 200,867 256,419 178,505
8 130,205 110,285 89,263
9 2,567 4,864 28,011
10 90,743 193,005 166,755
Loans to corporate customers that are individually assessed for impairment 1,163,870 1,155,383 1,060,671
Loans to SME customers that are individually assessed for impairment 98,674 172,118 152,058
Loans to customers that are collectively assessed for impairment 671,487 478,055 409,405

1,934,031 1,805,556 1,622,134
Less – Allowance for loan impairment (Note 22) (286,018) (323,311) (302,926)
Loans to customers 1,648,013 1,482,245 1,319,208

The Group is using an internal rating model to classify 
loans in different risk categories.

After the occurrence of an impairment event, the mod-
el assists in estimating the allowance for loan loss based 
on a borrowers’ financial performance, credit history, 
quality of accounts receivable, liquidity of the borrow-
er, market risks relating to the borrower, industry of the 
borrower and other factors. Periodically the required in-
formation is inputted into the model by credit analysts. 
Information input into the system and the estimate of 
the allowance for loan loss is verified by the Risk man-
agement department.

The following classifications are used by the rating 
model:

•	 Rating score 1 – superior loan rating, minimal credit 
risk;

•	 Rating score 2 – very high quality of loan, very low 
credit risk;

•	 Rating score 3 – high quality of loan, low credit risk;

•	 Rating score 4 – satisfactory quality of loan, insignif-
icant risk;

•	 Rating score 5 – credit risk can increase at economic 
variation;

•	 Rating score 6 – high risk at economic variation;

•	 Rating score 7 – high risk of default, paying capacity 
of the borrower depends on favourable economic 
circumstances;

•	 Rating score 8 – very high risk of default;

•	 Rating score 9 – procedure of bankruptcy is initiated 
but repayments are still made by the borrower;

•	 Rating score 10 – default.

Pools of homogeneous loans – loans to customers are 
included in groups of loans with similar credit risk char-
acteristics (i.e. the characteristics include sector of the 
economy, borrower activities, type of loan program, 
level of defaults, internal ratings and other factors). 
Pools of homogeneous loans include assets that had 
been assessed collectively.
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The following table details the carrying value of assets that are impaired and for those that are past due but not impaired:

Financial assets that have been individually assessed for impairment Financial assets that have been collec-
tively assessed for impairment

31 December 2014
TotalUnimpaired financial assets that have been 

individually assessed for impairment 
Impaired financial assets that have been 
individually assessed for impairment 

Carrying amount  
of assets

Amount of allowance 
for impairment losses

Carrying amount 
of assets

Amount of allowance 
for impairment losses

Carrying amount  
of assets

Amount of allowance 
for impairment losses

Amounts due from credit institutions 27,095 - - - - - 27,095
Available-for-sale investment securities 386,423 - 1,858 (1,858) - - 386,423
Loans to customers 840,065 (9,235) 422,479 (197,942) 671,487 (78,841) 1,648,013
Other financial assets 6,611 - 6,179 (4,297) - - 8,493

Financial assets that have been individually assessed for impairment Financial assets that have been collec-
tively assessed for impairment

31 December 2013
TotalUnimpaired financial assets that have been 

individually assessed for impairment 
Impaired financial assets that have been 
individually assessed for impairment 

Carrying amount  
of assets

Amount of allowance 
for impairment losses

Carrying amount 
of assets

Amount of allowance 
for impairment losses

Carrying amount  
of assets

Amount of allowance 
for impairment losses

Amounts due from credit institutions 25,813 (5) - - - - 25,808
Available-for-sale investment securities 350,522 - 1,040 (1,040) - - 350,552
 Loans to customers 776,471 (39,454) 551,030 (226,935) 478,055 (56,922) 1,482,245
Other financial assets 3,490 - 5,665 (5,176) - - 3,979

Financial assets that have been individually assessed for impairment Financial assets that have been collec-
tively assessed for impairment

31 December 2012
TotalUnimpaired financial assets that have been 

individually assessed for impairment 
Impaired financial assets that have been 
individually assessed for impairment 

Carrying amount  
of assets

Amount of allowance 
for impairment losses

Carrying amount 
of assets

Amount of allowance  
for impairment losses

Carrying amount  
of assets

Amount of allowance 
for impairment losses

Amounts due from credit institutions 32,801 (2) - - - - 32,799
Available-for-sale investment securities 334,362 - 999 (999) - - 334,362
Investments held to maturity 25,766 - - - - - 25,766
 Loans to customers 654,809 (29,509) 557,920 (217,437) 409,405 (55,980) 1,319,208
Other financial assets 6,580 - 2,814 (2,389) - - 7,005

As at 31 December 2014 the carrying amount of unimpaired overdue loans was KZT1,528 million (31 December 2013 – KZT1,118 million; 
31 December 2012 – KZT990 million). Maturities of these overdue loans are not greater than 90 days. 
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Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk resulting from the inability of 
the Group to provide funds for repayment of its obli-
gations in a due time. The Group’s liquidity risk arises 
when terms of assets on active operations and maturi-
ty dates of obligations do not match. 

Short-term liquidity needs are managed by the Group’s 
Treasury function collecting daily customers’ cash in-

flow/outflow forecasts. Long-term liquidity manage-
ment is performed by ALMC by analyzing longer term 
liquidity positions and making decisions on managing 
significant gaps through various available means.

In order to manage liquidity risk, the Group analyzes the 
financial assets and liabilities, and obligatory reserves 
taking into account payment schedules for loans issued 

31 December 2014
Less than 1 month 1 to 3 months 3 months to 1 year 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total

FINANCIAL ASSETS:

Cash and cash equivalents 537,252 3,285 - - - 540,537
Obligatory reserves 26,799 3,353 12,141 3,320 2,612 48,225
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 7,951 - 2,064 5,712 - 15,727
Amounts due from credit institutions 2,734 8,279 1,773 14,309 - 27,095
Available-for-sale investment securities 6,007 2,878 52,498 196,413 128,627 386,423
Loans to customers 154,159 172,535 1,011,360 235,171 74,788 1,648,013
Other financial assets 7,909 389 142 15 38 8,493

742,811 190,719 1,079,978 454,940 206,065 2,674,513
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES:
Amounts due to customers 995,765 215,470 489,419 104,434 43,125 1,848,213
Amounts due to credit institutions 24,908 - 274 3,837 78,173 107,192
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 3,131 - - - - 3,131
Debt securities issued 2,797 - 13,754 113,869 180,589 311,009
Other financial liabilities 9,310 237 729 74 3 10,353

1,035,911 215,707 504,176 222,214 301,890 2,279,898
Net position (293,100) (24,988) 575,802 232,726 (95,825)
Accumulated gap (293,100) (318,088) 257,714 490,440 394,615

to customers. The following tables provide an analysis 
of financial assets and liabilities grouped on the basis 
of the remaining period from the reporting date to the 
earliest of the contractual maturity date or available 
maturity date, except for financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss which are included in the col-
umn “Less than 1 month” as they are available to meet 
the Group’s short-term liquidity needs.
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31 December 2013
Less than 1 month 1 to 3 months 3 months to 1 year 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total

FINANCIAL ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivalents 462,744 23,569 - - - 486,313
Obligatory reserves 25,666 3,095 11,145 2,360 2,010 44,276
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 1,334 - - - - 1,334
Amounts due from credit institutions 2,784 1,539 5,183 16,297 5 25,808
Available-for-sale investment securities 11,292 20,090 31,346 221,720 66,104 350,552
Loans to customers 176,593 174,538 869,799 217,895 43,420 1,482,245
Other financial assets 3,499 217 64 140 59 3,979

683,912 223,048 917,537 458,412 111,598 2,394,507
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES:
Amounts due to customers 954,509 126,847 531,262 121,948 32,082 1,766,648
Amounts due to credit institutions 99,191 2,945 627 1,141 3,491 107,395
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 69 - - - - 69
Debt securities issued 2,377 - 5,329 109,368 72,441 189,515
Other financial liabilities 6,571 307 1,232 138 - 8,248

1,062,717 130,099 538,450 232,595 108,014 2,071,875
Net position (378,805) 92,949 379,087 225,817 3,584
Accumulated gap (378,805) (285,856) 93,231 319,048 322,632

31 December 2012
Less than 1 month 1 to 3 months 3 months to 1 year 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total

FINANCIAL ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivalents 290,793 242,706 - - - 533,499
Obligatory reserves 28,587 3,298 12,270 2,633 2,249 49,037
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 1,271 - - - - 1,271
Amounts due from credit institutions 48 6,557 8,094 17,799 301 32,799
Available-for-sale investment securities 3,125 17,403 57,373 189,484 66,977 334,362
Investments held to maturity 260 157 2,203 18,231 4,915 25,766
Loans to customers 185,647 159,602 627,777 287,899 58,283 1,319,208
Other financial assets 6,198 228 51 177 351 7,005

515,929 429,951 707,768 516,223 133,076 2,302,947
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES:
Amounts due to customers 1,032,288 131,690 421,072 85,479 28,653 1,699,182
Amounts due to credit institutions 8,903 26 1,208 1,307 3,758 15,202
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 366 41 32 - - 439
Debt securities issued 109 - 116,592 107,847 77,371 301,919
Other financial liabilities 7,269 158 1,092 165 - 8,684

1,048,935 131,915 539,996 194,798 109,782 2,025,426
Net position (533,006) 298,036 167,772 321,425 23,294
Accumulated gap (533,006) (234,970) (67,198) 254,227 277,521
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Assets and liabilities are recorded on the basis of their 
contractual maturity and payment schedules. The 
Group possesses a right to unilaterally call back part of 
long-term loans provided to customers in ten months 
period after proper notification would be issued by 
the Group.

A significant portion of the Group’s liabilities is repre-
sented by customer term deposits, current accounts of 
corporate and retail customers, and bonds.
		

Management believes that although a substantial por-
tion of current accounts and customer deposits are on 
demand and mature in less than one month, diversifi-
cation of these deposits by number and type of deposi-
tors, and the past experience of the Group indicate that 
these deposits provide a long-term and stable source 
of funding for the Group. Therefore an essential part of 
current accounts is considered as stable resources for 
the purposes of liquidity analysis and management.

A further analysis of the liquidity risk is presented in 
the following tables in accordance with IFRS 7. The 
amounts disclosed in these tables do not correspond 
to the amounts recorded on the consolidated state-
ment of financial position as the presentation below 
includes a maturity analysis for financial liabilities and 
contingent liabilities based on the remaining contrac-
tual payments (including interest payments).

Up to 1 month 1 month to 3 months 3 months to 1 year 1 year to 5 years Over 5 years 31 December 2014
Total

Amounts due to customers 998,589 222,913 511,807 222,648 63,160 2,019,117
Amounts due to credit institutions 24,935 1 370 4,274 101,587 131,167
Debt securities issued 2,797 72 37,659 197,358 209,846 447,732
Other financial liabilities 9,310 237 729 74 3 10,353
Guarantees issued 155,639 - - - - 155,639
Commercial letters of credit 6,657 - - - - 6,657
Commitments to extend credit 20,525 - - - - 20,525

1,218,457 223,223 550,565 424,354 374,596 2,791,195
Derivative financial assets 78,612 92,682 - 182,350 - 353,644
Derivative financial liabilities 75,310 - 94,906 174,466 - 344,682

Up to 1 month 1 month to 3 months 3 months to 1 year 1 year to 5 years Over 5 years 31 December 2013
Total

Amounts due to customers 956,471 132,320 547,930 197,744 53,166 1,887,631 
Amounts due to credit institutions 99,286 2,965 637 1,292 5,810 109,990 
Debt securities issued 2,377 - 20,332 151,928 84,054 258,691 
Other financial liabilities 6,571 307 1,232 138 - 8,248 
Guarantees issued 156,699 - - - - 156,699 
Commercial letters of credit 12,093 - - - - 12,093
Commitments to extend credit 13,810 - - - - 13,810 

1,247,307 135,592 570,131 351,102 143,030 2,447,162
Derivative financial assets 68,517 - 1,212 - - 69,729
Derivative financial liabilities 68,446 - 961 - - 69,407
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Market risk 

Market risk is a risk that Group’s earnings or equity or 
its ability to meet business objectives will be adversely 
affected by changes in market variables such as inter-
est rates, foreign exchange rates, securities prices and 
other basic variables. 

The Group is exposed to market risks which include 
the following components:

•	 Risk of changes in interest rates (interest rate risk);

•	 Risk of changes in foreign exchange rates (currency 
risk); 

•	 Risk of changes in securities prices (price risk).

The objective of market risk management is to opti-
mize risk/return, minimize losses in case of adverse 
events and decrease deviation of factual financial re-
sults from the expected one.

Market risk management includes security portfolio 
management and control of open positions on curren-
cies, interest rates and derivatives. For these purposes 

ALMC fixes limits on security portfolios, open positions, 
stop-loss limits and other limitations. Market risk limits 
are subject to review at least on an annual basis and 
should be monitored continuously. 

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk. Interest rate 
risk is defined as the risk of interest income decrease, 
interest expense increase or negative impact on equity 
resulting from adverse changes of market interest rates.

The Group determines two types of interest rate risk:

•	 Interest rate risk related to securities portfolios chang-
es in fair value of which are reflected through equity;

•	 Interest rate risk resulting from assets and liabilities 
maturity dates (dates of interest rates repricing) mis-
match that are sensitive to the interest rates changes 
(risk of interest rates changes).

ALMC manages interest rate risks and market risks 
through the management of the Group’s position on 
interest rates to reach positive interest margins. Bud-
geting and Controlling Department monitors current 

results of the Group’s financial activity, estimates the 
Group’s sensitivity in relation to interest rates changes 
and influence on the Group’s profits.

The Group manages interest rates by determining the 
Group’s exposure to the interest rate risk using the ap-
proach described by the Basel Committee on the prin-
ciples for the management and supervision of interest 
rate risk. This approach identifies the Group’s exposure 
to the interest rate risk by testing the impact of a par-
allel movement in interest rates on assets and liabilities 
by 200 basis points. 

Sensitivity analysis of interest rate risk

The following table presents a sensitivity analysis of in-
terest rate risk, which has been determined based on 
“reasonably possible changes in the risk variable”. The 
impact on profit before tax is the effect of the assumed 
changes in interest rate on the net interest income for 
one year, based on the floating rate financial assets 
and liabilities held as at 31 December 2014, 2013 and 
2012, and the effect of revaluing instruments with fixed 
rates accounted at fair value. The management of the 
Group believes income tax not to have substantial ef-
fect for the purpose of interest rate risk management.

Up to 1 month 1 month to 3 months 3 months to 1 year 1 year to 5 years Over 5 years 31 December 2012
Total

Amounts due to customers 1,034,737 138,449 442,552 190,069 50,566 1,856,373 
Amounts due to credit institutions 8,911 46 1,260 1,771 6,503 18,491 
Debt securities issued 2,837 - 136,139 162,548 90,452 391,976 
Other financial liabilities 7,269 158 1,092 165 - 8,684
Guarantees issued 117,730 - - - - 117,730 
Commercial letters of credit 20,970 - - - - 20,970
Commitments to extend credit 16,146 - - - - 16,146

1,208,600 138,653 581,043 354,553 147,521 2,430,370
Derivative financial assets 33,728 4,307 - - - 38,035
Derivative financial liabilities 33,619 3,165 - 958 - 37,742
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 Impact on income before tax based on asset values as at 31 December 2014, 2013 and 2012:

31 December 2014 31 December 2013
Interest rate +2% Interest rate -2% Interest rate +2% Interest rate -2% Interest rate +2% Interest rate -2%

FINANCIAL ASSETS: 
Loans to customers 359 (359) 336 (336) 24 (24)

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES:
Amounts due to credit institutions 10 (10) 45 (45) 23 (23)

Net impact on income before tax 349 (349) 291 (291) 1 (1)

The impact on equity is the effect of the assumed changes in interest rate due to changes in retained earnings and the effect of revaluation of available-for-sale investment 
securities with fixed rates.

Impact on equity:

31 December 2014 31 December 2013 31 December 2012
Interest rate +2% Interest rate -2% Interest rate +2% Interest rate -2% Interest rate +2% Interest rate -2%

FINANCIAL ASSETS:
Loans to customers 359 (359) 336 (336) 24 (24)
Available-for-sale investment securities (28,359) 28,359 (19,471) 19,471 (19,346) 19,346

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES:
Amounts due to credit institutions 10 (10) 45 (45) 23 (23)

Net impact on equity (29,010) 28,010 (19,180) 19,180 (19,345) 19,345

Currency Risk 

The Group is exposed to currency risk. Currency risk 
arises from open positions in foreign currencies and 
adverse movements of market exchange rates that 
may have a negative impact on the financial perfor-
mance of the Group.

ALMC controls currency risk by management of the 
open currency position based on the estimations of 
KZT devaluation and other macroeconomic indicators, 
which gives the Group an opportunity to minimize 
losses from significant currency rates fluctuations of 
national and foreign currencies. 

The Treasury Department performs daily monitoring of 
the Group’s open currency position with the aim to com-
ply with the requirements of the regulatory authority.

The Group is exposed to the effects of fluctuation in 
the prevailing foreign currency exchange rates (primar-
ily USD) on its financial position, results of operations 
and cash flows, which are monitored daily. ALMC sets 
limits on the level of exposure by currencies within the 
authority approved by the Board of Directors. These 
limits also comply with the minimum requirements of 
the regulator authority.

The Group’s principal cash flows are generated in KZT 
and USD. As a result, potential movements in the ex-
change rate between KZT and USD will affect the carry-
ing values of the Group’s USD denominated monetary 
assets and liabilities. Currency risk is assessed in relation 
to the consolidated statement of financial position and 
off-balance sheet positions. Current Group’s sensitivity 
to fluctuations in exchange rates is acceptable due to 
the fact that the off balance sheet items significantly 
neutralize the statement of financial position.
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The Group’s exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk follows:

31 December 2014
  USD EURO RUR Other TOTAL foreign currencies KZT TOTAL
FINANCIAL ASSETS: 
Cash and cash equivalents 399,727 44,879 9,395 13,434 467,435 73,102 540,537
Obligatory reserves 29,053 980 333 356 30,722 17,503 48,225
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 578 - - 86 664 15,063 15,727
Amounts due from credit institutions 2,490 - - - 2,490 24,605 27,095
Available-for-sale investment securities 190,531 1,057 1,059 1,617 194,264 192,159 386,423
Loans to customers 427,775 4,289 8,208 9,011 449,283 1,198,730 1,648,013
Other financial assets 1,399 26 76 63 1,564 6,929 8,493
  1,051,553 51,231 19,071 24,567 1,146,422 1,528,091 2,674,513
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 
Amounts due to customers 1,139,993 52,080 3,135 7,976 1,203,184 645,029 1,848,213
Amounts due to credit institutions 11,672 290 802 399 13,163 94,029 107,192
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss - - - - - 3,131 3,131
Debt securities issued 195,266 - - 195,266 115,743 311,009
Other financial liabilities 199 118 32 173 522 9,831 10,353
  1,347,130 52,488 3,969 8,548 1,412,135 867,763 2,279,898
Net position – on balance (295,577) (1,257) 15,102 16,019 (265,713) 660,328 394,615
Net position – off-balance 318,777 (346) (9,171) (13,591) 295,669 (295,669)
Net position 23,200 (1,603) 5,931 2,428 29,956 364,659

31 December 2013
  USD EURO RUR Other TOTAL foreign currencies KZT TOTAL
FINANCIAL ASSETS: 
Cash and cash equivalents 288,851 22,138 8,086 6,858 325,933 160,380 486,313
Obligatory reserves 19,496 582 136 368 20,582 23,694 44,276
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 478 - - 50 528 806 1,334
Amounts due from credit institutions 2,515 - - - 2,515 23,293 25,808
Available-for-sale investment securities 173,354 - 1,826 979 176,159 174,393 350,552
Loans to customers 493,463 3,056 7,103 5,017 508,639 973,606 1,482,245
Other financial assets 247 47 82 32 408 3,571 3,979
  978,404 25,823 17,233 13,304 1,034,764 1,359,743 2,394,507
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 
Amounts due to customers 734,129 25,063 3,653 19,099 781,944 984,704 1,766,648
Amounts due to credit institutions 28,152 474 3 158 28,787 78,608 107,395
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss - - - - - 69 69
Debt securities issued 162,055 - 3,276 - 165,331 24,184 189,515
Other financial liabilities 25 58 14 100 197 8,051 8,248
  924,361 25,595 6,946 19,357 976,259 1,095,616 2,071,875
Net position – on balance 54,043 228 10,287 (6,053) 58,505 264,127 323,632
Net position – off-balance (41,824) 36 (7,989) (5,267) (55,044) 55,044
Net position 12,219 264 2,298 (11,320) 3,461 319,171
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31 December 2012
  USD EURO RUR Other TOTAL foreign currencies KZT TOTAL 
FINANCIAL ASSETS: 
Cash and cash equivalents 443,586 8,154 5,463 5,103 462,306 71,193 533,499
Obligatory reserves 23,426 611 82 25 24,144 24,893 49,037
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 356 - - 135 491 780 1,271
Amounts due from credit institutions 11,594 - - - 11,594 21,205 32,799
Available-for-sale investment securities 156,958 7 1,816 136 158,917 175,445 334,362
Investments held to maturity 5,721 - - 1,025 6,746 19,020 25,766
Loans to customers 339,600 4,927 5,174 3,955 353,656 965,552 1,319,208
Other financial assets 250 41 78 64 433 6,572 7,005
  981,491 13,740 12,613 10,443 1,018,287 1,284,660 2,302,947
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 
Amounts due to customers 635,055 26,909 4,240 2,677 668,881 1,030,301 1,699,182
Amounts due to credit institutions 8,680 862 3 275 9,820 5,382 15,202
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 151 20 15 - 186 253 439
Debt securities issued 277,943 - - - 277,943 23,976 301,919
Other financial liabilities 104 60 15 105 284 8,400 8,684
  921,933 27,851 4,273 3,057 957,114 1,068,312 2,025,426
Net position – on balance 59,558 (14,111) 8,340 7,386 61,173 216,348 277,521
Net position – off-balance (40,356) 1,626 (3,944) (6,709) (49,384) 49,384
Net position 19,202 (12,485) 4,396 677 11,789 265,732

Sensitivity analysis of currency risk

The table below indicates the currencies in which 
the Group had significant exposure at 31 December 
2014, 2013 and 2012, and its forecasted cash flows. The 
analysis calculates the effect of a reasonable possible 
movement of the currency rate with all other variables 

held constant on the consolidated income statement. 
A negative amount in the table reflects a potential net 
reduction in consolidated income statement, while a 
positive amount reflects a net potential increase. Sen-
sitivity of currency risk is assessed based on balance 

sheet and off-balance open currency positions. The 
management of the Group believes income tax not to 
have substantial effect for the purpose of currency risk 
management.

Impact on income before tax based on asset values as at 31 December 2014, 2013 and 2012, calculated using currency rate fluctuations analysis:

31 December 2014 31 December 2013 31 December 2012
+25%
KZT/USD

-25%
KZT/USD

+25%
KZT/USD

-25%
KZT/USD

+25%
KZT/USD

-25% 
KZT/USD

Impact on income before tax 5,800 (5,800) 3,055 (3,055) 4,801 (4,801)
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Impact on equity:

31 December 2014 31 December 2013 31 December 2012
+25%
KZT/USD

-25%
 KZT/USD

+25%
 KZT/USD

-25%
KZT/USD

-25%
 KZT/USD

-25%  
KZT/USD

Impact on equity 5,800 (5,800) 3,055 (3,055) 4,801 (4,801)

31 December 2014 31 December 2013 31 December 2012
+25%
KZT/RUR

-25%
 KZT/RUR

+25%
 KZT/RUR

-25%
KZT/RUR

-25%
 KZT/RUR

-25%  
KZT/RUR

Impact on income before tax 1,483 (1,483) 575 (575) 1,099 (1,099)

31 December 2014 31 December 2013 31 December 2012
+25%
KZT/EURO

-25%
 KZT/EURO

+25%
 KZT/EURO

-25%
KZT/EURO

+25%
 KZT/EURO

-25%  
KZT/EURO

Impact on income before tax (401) 401 66 (66) (3,121) 3,121

31 December 2014 31 December 2013 31 December 2012
+25%
KZT/EURO

-25%
KZT/EURO

+25%
KZT/EURO

-25%
KZT/EURO

-25%
KZT/EURO

-25%  
KZT/EURO

Impact on equity (401) 401 66 (66) (3,121) 3,121

31 December 2014 31 December 2013 31 December 2012
+25%
KZT/RUR

-25%
KZT/RUR

+25%
KZT/RUR

-25%
KZT/RUR

-25%
KZT/RUR

-25%  
KZT/RUR

Impact on equity 1,483 (1,483) 575 (575) 1,099 (1,099)
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Limitations of sensitivity analysis

The above tables demonstrate the effect of a change 
in a key assumption while other assumptions remain 
unchanged. In reality, there is a correlation between 
the assumptions and other factors. 

It should also be noted that these sensitivities are 
non-linear, and larger or smaller impacts should not be 
interpolated or extrapolated from these results.

The sensitivity analyses do not take into consideration 
that the Group’s assets and liabilities are actively man-
aged. Additionally, the financial position of the Group 
may vary at the time that any actual market movement 
occurs. For example, the Group’s financial risk manage-
ment strategy aims to manage the exposure to market 
fluctuations. As investment markets move past various 
trigger levels, management actions could include sell-
ing investments, changing investment portfolio alloca-
tion and taking other protective action. Consequently, 
the actual impact of a change in the assumptions may 

not have any impact on the liabilities, whereas assets 
are held at market value on the consolidated statement 
of financial position. In these circumstances, the differ-
ent measurement bases for liabilities and assets may 
lead to volatility in equity.

Other limitations in the above sensitivity analyses in-
clude the use of hypothetical market movements to 
demonstrate potential risk that only represent the 
Group’s view of possible near-term market changes that 
cannot be predicted with any certainty. 

Price risk

Price risk is the risk that the value of a financial instru-
ment will fluctuate as a result of changes in market pric-
es, where those changes are caused by factors specific 
to the individual security, its issuer, or factors affecting 
all securities traded in the market. The Group is exposed 
to price risks of its products which are subject to gener-
al and specific market fluctuations.

To limit price risk the Group determines limits for max-
imum losses (stop-loss) on each security from trade 
portfolio to minimize potential losses of trade portfolio.

Price risk assessment is also made on the basis of VaR 
method through establishment of Expected Shortfall 
(ES) limits on the level of the expected losses, which 
the Bank is able to undertake within one day in situa-
tion when factual losses may exceed the level of VaR. 

Calculation of VaR is based on the following parame-
ters:

•	 Reporting period – 252 working days;

•	 Confidence interval – 95%;

•	 The method of measurement – historical simulation.

The Group estimates the price risk at 31 December 
2014, 2013 and 2012, to be not material and therefore 
quantitative information is not disclosed.
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35. Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital, which 
is a broader concept than the “equity” on the face of 
consolidated statement of financial position, are as fol-
lows:

•	 To comply with the capital requirements set by the 
NBK;

•	 To safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a go-
ing concern so that it can continue to provide re-
turns for shareholders and benefits for other stake-
holders; and

•	 To maintain a strong capital base to support the de-
velopment of its business.

The required level of capital is determined by taking 
into account the above objectives during the process 

of preparing the annual budget, and is approved by 
the Management Board and the Board of Directors. The 
capital adequacy of the Group is controlled according 
to the principles, methods and coefficients employed 
by Basel Committee. There have been no changes as to 
the way the Group measures capital.

Regulatory capital consists of Tier 1 capital, which com-
prises share capital, share premium, retained earnings 
including current year profit, foreign currency trans-
lation and non-controlling interest less accrued divi-
dends, net long position in own shares and goodwill. 
The other component of regulatory capital is Tier 2 cap-
ital, which includes subordinated long term debt calcu-
lated based on remaining maturities and limited to 50% 
of Tier 1 capital and revaluation reserves.
 

The risk-weighted assets are measured based on a hi-
erarchy of five risk weighting according to the nature 
of – and reflecting an estimate of credit, market and 
other risks associated with – each asset and counter-
party, taking into account any eligible collateral or 
guarantees. A similar treatment is adopted for off-bal-
ance sheet exposure, with some adjustments to reflect 
the more contingent nature of the potential losses.

The table below summarizes the composition of regu-
latory capital and the ratios of the Group for the years 
ended 31 December 2014, 2013 and 2012. During those 
three years, the individual entities within the Group 
and the Group complied with all of the externally im-
posed capital requirements to which they are subject.
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31 December 2014 31 December 2013 31 December 2012
Composition of regulatory capital
Tier 1
Share capital, net of treasury shares 64,701 66,161 62,667
Share premium 1,439 1,415 1,496
Retained earnings and other reserves 409,081 323,670 273,835
Less: property and equipment and available-for-sale investment securities revaluation and translation reserves (7,204) (16,200) (24,802)
Less: goodwill (4,954) (3,085) (3,085)
Non-controlling interest - 933 1,641
Total qualifying tier 1 capital 463,063 372,894 311,752
Tier 2
Subordinated debt 7,760 12,557 16,363
Property and equipment and available-for-sale investment securities revaluation and translation reserves 7,204 16,200 24,802

Total qualifying tier 2 capital 14,964 28,757 41,165
Less: investments in associates (30) (24) (53)

Total regulatory capital 477,997 401,627 352,864

Risk weighted assets 2,271,545 2,170,709 1,923,978

Tier 1 capital ratio 20.4% 17.2% 16.2%
Total capital adequacy ratio 21.0% 18.5% 18.3%

Basel standards set minimum capital adequacy ratio and tier 1 capital at 8% and 4%, respectively
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36. Segment analysis

The Group is managed and reported on the basis of three main operating seg-
ments. The Group’s segments are strategic business units that offer different prod-
ucts and services which are managed separately.

The products and services offered by each segment are:

Retail banking – representing private banking services, private customer current 
accounts, savings, deposits, investment savings products, custody, credit and debit 
cards, consumer loans and mortgages, cash and foreign currency related services 
to individuals.

Corporate banking – representing direct debit facilities, current accounts, deposits, 
overdrafts, loan and other credit facilities, foreign currency and trade finance prod-
ucts to corporate clients and financial organizations.

Small and medium enterprises (hereinafter – SME) banking – representing direct 
debit facilities, current accounts, deposits, overdrafts, loan and other credit facili-
ties, foreign currency and trade finance products to small and medium enterprises 
and sole proprietors. 

Other – representing capital market services.

Unallocated amounts are account balances and classes of transactions, which are 
not allocated to particular segment, not initiated by any business function and relate 
to the current activity of the Group. Unallocated assets include fixed assets, intan-
gible assets, non-current assets held for sale, cash on hand and other unallocated 
assets. Unallocated liabilities include deferred tax liabilities and other unallocated lia-
bilities. Unallocated income includes other income from main and nonoperating ac-
tivities and insurance income. Unallocated expenses include provision on account 
receivables, operating overhead expenses, insurance expenses and income tax. 

The segment information below is presented on the basis used by the Bank’s Chair-
person of the Management Board, who is the Group’s chief operating decision 
maker, to evaluate performance, in accordance with IFRS 8. The Management of 
the Group reviews discrete financial information for each of its segments, including 
measures of operating results, assets and liabilities. The segments are managed pri-
marily on the basis of their results, which excludes certain unallocated costs related 
to interest expense on debt securities issued and amounts due to credit institutions 
and operating expenses other than salaries and other employee benefits.

There were no transactions between business segments during the years ended 31 
December 2014, 2013 and 2012. 
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Segment information for the main reportable business segments of the Group as at 31 December 2014, 2013 and 2012 and for the years then ended, is set out below:

  Retail banking Corporate banking SME banking Other Unallocated Total
As at 31 December 2014 and for the year then ended
External revenues 107,416 108,098 30,341 42,079 26,075 314,009
Total revenues 107,416 108,098 30,341 42,079 26,075 314,009

Total revenues comprise:
Interest income 71,136 97,429 21,982 20,046 - 210,593

Fee and commission income 32,564 5,408 6,205 14,421 40 58,638
Net gain from financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss - - - 7,842 - 7,842
Net realized loss from available-for-sale investment securities - - - (230) - (230)
Net gain on foreign exchange operations 3,716 1,533 1,837 - - 7,086
Insurance underwriting income and other income - - - - 26,044 26,044
Recoveries of other provisions/(other provisions) - 3,728 317 - (9) 4,036
Total revenues 107,416 108,098 30,341 42,079 26,075 314,009

Interest expense (42,278) (32,693) (2,487) - - (77,458)
Impairment charge (1,905) (6,013) 1,111 - (580) (7,387)
Fee and commission expense (7,600) (162) (190) (536) (71) (8,559)
Operating expenses (31,544) (5,182) (7,139) (778) (17,869) (62,512)
Insurance claims incurred, net of reinsurance - - - - (16,195) (16,195)
Segment result 24,089 64,048 21,636 40,765 (8,640) 141,898

Income before income tax expense 141,898
Income tax expense (27,521) (27,521)
Net income 114,377

Total segment assets 441,336 1,508,888 215,783 391,306 252,469 2,809,782
Total segment liabilities 932,673 1,099,850 256,156 3,484 42,398 2,334,561

Other segment items:
Capital expenditures - - - - (16,441) (16,441)
Depreciation and amortization - - - - (5,023) (5,023)
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  Retail banking Corporate banking SME banking Other Unallocated Total
As at 31 December 2013 and for the year then ended
External revenues 90,709 96,031 26,055 32,765 21,216 266,776
Total revenues 90,709 96,031 26,055 32,765 21,216 266,776

Total revenues comprise:
Interest income 59,862 86,241 17,918 18,542 - 182,563
Fee and commission income 28,444 5,429 5,426 12,078 29 51,406
Net gain from financial assets and liabilities  
at fair value through profit or loss - - - 261 - 261
Net realized gain from available-for-sale investment securities - - - 1,884 - 1,884
Net gain on foreign exchange operations 2,717 3,833 2,711 - - 9,261
Insurance underwriting income and other income - - - - 21,191 21,191
(Other provisions)/recoveries of other provisions (314) 528 - - (4) 210

Total revenues 90,709 96,031 26,055 32,765 21,216 266,776

Interest expense (40,444) (33,372) (2,116) - - (75,932)
Impairment charge (2,557) (16,652) (3,746) (80) (2,986) (26,021)
Fee and commission expense (5,576) (466) (197) (884) (16) (7,139)
Operating expenses (27,845) (5,087) (6,220) (489) (15,179) (54,820)
Insurance claims incurred, net of reinsurance - - - - (13,933) (13,933)

Segment result 14,287 40,454 13,776 31,312 (10,898) 88,931

Income before income tax expense 88,931
Income tax expense (16,522) (16,522)

Net income 72,409

Total segment assets 356,555 1,430,688 187,838 351,551 179,782 2,506,414
Total segment liabilities 803,122 968,238 274,878 - 67,997 2,114,235

Other segment items:
Capital expenditures - - - - (6,269) (6,269)
Depreciation and amortization - - - - (5,747) (5,747)
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Retail banking Corporate banking SME banking Other Unallocated Total
As at 31 December 2012 and for the year then ended
External revenues 74,931 86,175 23,976 37,820 20,721 243,623
Total revenues 74,931 86,175 23,976 37,820 20,721 243,623

Total revenues comprise:
Interest income 49,869 76,901 16,362 17,862 - 160,994
Fee and commission income 22,997 4,816 5,084 18,163 22 51,082
Net gain from financial assets and liabilities  
at fair value through profit or loss - - - 169 - 169
Net realized gain from available-for-sale investment securities - - - 1,626 - 1,626
Net gain on foreign exchange operations 2,065 4,458 2,530 - - 9,053
Insurance underwriting income and other income - - - - 20,699 20,699

Total revenues 74,931 86,175 23,976 37,820 20,721 243,623

Interest expense (32,596) (35,851) (1,469) (18) (69,934)
Impairment charge (3,597) (5,502) (5,829) (124) (310) (15,362)
Fee and commission expense (4,177) (768) (187) (846) (13) (5,991)
Operating expenses (25,299) (7,112) (5,232) (475) (13,693) (51,811)
(Other provisions)/recoveries of other provisions 18 (1,476) 496 - - (962)
Share in net loss of associates - (1) - - - (1)
Impairment loss on non-current assets held-for-sale - - - - (2,100) (2,100)
Insurance claims incurred, net of reinsurance - - - - (12,733) (12,733)

Segment result 9,280 35,465 11,755 36,375 (8,146) 84,729

Income before income tax expense 84,729
Income tax expense (14,768) (14,768)

Net income 69,961

Total segment assets 290,446 1,409,865 172,355 360,666 174,666 2,407,998
Total segment liabilities 689,155 1,034,015 291,623 53,566 2,068,359

Other segment items:
Capital expenditures - - - - (8,453) (8,453)
Depreciation and amortization - - - - (7,036) (7,036)
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Geographical information 

Information for the main geographical areas of the Group is set out below as at 31 December 2014, 2013 and 2012, and for the years then ended.

Kazakhstan OECD Non-OECD Total
2014
Total assets 2,547,344 185,108 77,330 2,809,782
External revenues 304,610 3,089 6,310 314,009
Capital expenditure (16,441) - - (16,441)

2013
Total assets 2,071,205 333,259 101,950 2,506,414 
External revenues 256,673 2,995 7,108 266,776 
Capital expenditure (6,269)  -  - (6,269)

2012
Total assets 1,947,751  404,924 55,323 2,407,998 
External revenues 235,582  4,174 3,866 243,622 
Capital expenditure (8,453)  -  - (8,453)

External revenues, assets and credit related commitments have generally been allocated based on domicile of the counterparty. Cash on hand, property and equipment 
and capital expenditure have been allocated based on the country in which they are physically held.
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37. Fair values of financial instruments

IFRS defines fair value as the price that would be re-
ceived to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date.

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial 
liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis 

Some of the Group’s financial assets and financial lia-
bilities are measured at fair value at the end of each re-
porting period. The following table gives information 
about how the fair values of these financial assets and 
financial liabilities are determined (in particular, the val-
uation technique(s) and inputs used).

The following table provides an analysis of financial in-
struments that are measured subsequent to initial rec-
ognition at fair value, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based 
on the degree to which the fair value is observable.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are classified in 
their entirety based on the lowest level of input that 
is significant to the fair value measurements. Manage-
ment assessment of the significance of a particular in-
put to the fair value measurements requires judgment, 
and may affect the valuation of the assets and liabilities 
being measured and their placement within the fair val-
ue hierarchy.

The Group considers that the accounting estimate re-
lated to valuation of financial instruments where quot-
ed markets prices are not available is a key source of 
estimation uncertainty because: (i) it is highly suscep-
tible to change from period to period because it re-
quires management to make assumptions about inter-
est rates, volatility, exchange rates, the credit rating of 
the counterparty, valuation adjustments and specific 
feature of the transactions and (ii) the impact that rec-
ognising a change in the valuations would have on the 
assets reported on its consolidated statement of finan-
cial position as well as its profit/(loss) could be material.



 173 

The tables below summarises the Group’s financial assets and liabilities held at fair value by valuation methodology at 31 December 2014, 2013 and 2012, before any allow-
ances for impairment losses:

Financial Assets/Liabilities Fair value at Fair value 
hierarchy Valuation technique(s) and key input(s) Significant unobservable 

input(s)

Relationship of 
unobservable inputs 
to fair value

31 December 
2014

31 December 
2013

31 December 
2012

Non-derivative financial assets 
at fair value through profit or 
loss (Note 8) 3,633 943 538 Level 1 Quoted bid prices in an active market. Not applicable Not applicable

Derivative financial assets at 
fair value through profit or loss 
excluding options (Note 8) 4,318 140 475 Level 2

Discounted cash flows. 
Future cash flows are estimated based on 
forward exchange rates (from observable 
forward exchange rates at the end of the 
reporting period). Not applicable Not applicable

Derivative financial assets at 
fair value through profit or loss 
excluding options (Note 8) 7,776 - 3 Level 3

Future cash flows in USD discounted using 
LIBOR rate obtained from available sources. 
Future cash flows in KZT discounted using 
internal rate of return, which was calculated 
based on LIBOR and foreign exchange rates 
obtained from available sources. The differ-
ence between net present values of these 
discounted cash flows should be equal to 
zero at initial recognition. KZT implied rate

The greater KZT 
implied rate – the 
smaller fair value

Derivative financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss - 
options (Note 8) - 251 255 Level 2

 
Binominal model with primary data based 
on average price without using maximum 
and minimum values from KASE. Not applicable Not applicable

Derivative financial liabilities at 
fair value through profit or loss 
excluding options  
(Note 8) 3,131 69 439 Level 2

Discounted cash flows. 
Future cash flows are estimated based on 
forward exchange rates (from observable 
forward exchange rates at the end of the 
reporting period). Not applicable Not applicable

Non-derivative available-for-sale 
investment securities (Note 10) 384,327 348,498 301,304 Level 1 Quoted bid prices in an active market. Not applicable Not applicable
Non-derivative available-for-sale 
investment securities included 
in bonds of foreign organiza-
tions  
(Note 10) 172 931 31,816 Level 2

Discounted cash flows. 
Future cash flows discounted using LIBOR 
adjusted for credit risk of the issuer ob-
tained from available sources Not applicable Not applicable

Non-derivative available-for-sale 
investment securities – unquot-
ed equity securities  
(Note 10) 1,924 1,123 1,242 Level 3

Valuation model based on internal rating 
model 

Percentage discount 
The greater dis-
count - the smaller 
fair value
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Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities that 
are not measured at fair value on a recurring basis (but 
fair value disclosures are required)

The following methods and assumptions are used by 
the Group to estimate the fair value of financial instru-
ments not carried at fair value.

Amounts due from and to credit institutions 

For assets and liabilities maturing within one month, 
the carrying amount approximates fair value due to 

the relatively short-term maturity of these financial in-
struments. For the assets and liabilities maturing in over 
one month, the fair value was estimated as the present 
value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the 
appropriate year-end market rates.

Loans to customers 

The estimate was made by discounting the scheduled 
future cash flows of the individual loans through the es-
timated maturity using prevailing market rates as at the 
respective year-end.

The following table sets out the carrying amount and fair values of financial assets and liabilities not carried at their fair values:

31 December 2014 31 December 2013 31 December 2012
Carrying amount Fair value Carrying amount Fair value Carrying amount Fair value

Financial assets
Amounts due from credit institutions 27,095 27,296 25,808 27,757 32,799 35,872 
Loans to customers 1,648,013 1,742,664 1,482,245 1,582,638 1,319,208 1,351,271 
Investments held-to-maturity - - - - 25,766 26,031 

Financial liabilities
Amounts due to customers 1,848,213 1,850,824 1,766,648 1,763,968 1,699,182 1,689,642 
Amounts due to credit institutions 107,192 128,956 107,395 106,350 15,202 15,984 
Debt securities issued 311,009 323,244 189,515 212,827 301,919 331,322

Amounts due to customers 

Interest rates charged to customers closely approxi-
mate market interest rates and accordingly, the carry-
ing amounts approximate fair values.

Debt securities issued 

Market values have been used to determine the fair 
value of debt securities traded on an active market. For 
other debt securities, the fair value was estimated as 
the present value of estimated future cash flows dis-
counted at the year-end market rates.

31 December 2014
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets
Amounts due from credit institutions - 27,296 - 27,296
Loans to customers - - 1,742,664 1,742,664

Financial liabilities
Amounts due to customers - 1,850,824 - 1,850,824
Amounts due to credit institutions - 128,956 - 128,956
Debt securities issued 323,244 - - 323,244
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31 December 2013
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets
Amounts due from credit institutions - 27,757 - 27,757
Loans to customers - - 1,582,638 1,582,638

Financial liabilities
Amounts due to customers - 1,763,968 - 1,763,968
Amounts due to credit institutions - 106,350 - 106,350
Debt securities issued 212,827 - - 212,827

31 December 2012
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets
Amounts due from credit institutions - 35,872 - 35,872
Loans to customers - - 1,351,271 1,351,271
Investments held-to-maturity - 26,031 - 26,031

Financial liabilities
Amounts due to customers - 1,689,642 - 1,689,642 
Amounts due to credit institutions - 15,984 - 15,984 
Debt securities issued 331,322 - - 331,322

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, obligatory reserves, other financial assets and other financial liabilities approximates fair value due to the short-term 
nature of such financial instruments.
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31 December 2014 31 December 2013 31 December 2012
Related party 
balances

Total category as 
per financial state-
ments caption

Related party 
balances

Total category as 
per financial state-
ments caption

Related party 
balances

Total category as 
per financial state-
ments caption

Loans to customers before allowance for impairment losses 4,597 1,934,031 6,852 1,805,556 8,221 1,622,134
- entities with joint control or significant influence over the entity 4,597 5,948 6,738
- other related parties - 904 1,483
Allowance for impairment losses (15) (286,018) (216) (323,311) (298) (302,926)
- entities with joint control or significant influence over the entity (15) (202) (298)
- key management personnel of the entity or its parent - (14) -
Amounts due to customers 105,405 1,848,213 101,562 1,766,648 44,677 1,699,182
- the parent 73,757 60,184 36,457 
- entities with joint control or significant influence over the entity 8,086 33,546 558 
- associates - 27 75 
- key management personnel of the entity or its parent 5,903 2,602 2,057 
- other related parties 17,659 5,203 5,529 

Included in the consolidated income statement for the years ended 31 December 2014, 2013 and 2012, are the following amounts which arose due to transactions with 
related parties:

Year ended 31 December 2014 Year ended 31 December 2013 Year ended 31 December 2012
Related party 
transactions

Total category as 
per financial state-
ments caption

Related party 
transactions

Total category 
as per financial 
statements cap-
tion

Related party 
transactions

Total category as 
per financial state-
ments caption

Interest income 547 210,593 829 182,563 826 160,994
- entities with joint control or significant influence over the entity 547 749 684 
- other related parties - 80 142

Interest expense (3,541) (77,458) (1,973) (75,932) (1,679) (69,934)
- the parent (3,073) (1,792) (1,410)
- key management personnel of the entity or its parent (250) (111) (125)
- other related parties (218) (70) (144)
Key management personnel compensation 1,333 35,767 835 30,899 1,335 29,228
- Salaries and other employee benefits 1,333 835 1,335

The Group had the following transactions outstanding as at 31 December 2014, 2013 and 2012, with related parties:

38. Related party transactions

Related parties or transactions with related parties 
are assessed in accordance with IAS 24 “Related Party 
Disclosures”. Related parties may enter into transac-

tions which unrelated parties might not. Transactions 
between related parties are generally effected on the 
same terms, conditions and amounts as transactions 
between unrelated parties.

Considering each possible related party not only their 
legal status is taken into account but also the sub-
stance of the relationship between these arties. 
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39. Subsequent events

On 12 February 2015, the Bank placed at KASE KZT21.1 
billion (face value) at 94.6354%and on 3 March 2015 
the Bank placed additional KZT30 billion (face value) at 

94.6479%. Both issues are subject to Kazakhstan legisla-
tion, bear a coupon rate of 7.5% bonds and mature in 

February 2025. The Bank plans to utilize the raised funds 
for its liabilities diversification and lending to customers. 
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Joint Stock Company Halyk Savings Bank of Kazakhstan 

Registered address 109”V”, Abay Ave., Almaty, 050008, Kazakhstan

Telephone + 7 727 259 0777

Fax + 7 727 259 0271

Website www.halykbank.kz, http://www.halykbank.kz/ru/about/investors/reports

Registered with

The Ministry of Justice of the Republic of Kazakhstan

Registered number

3898-1900-АО

Date of re-registration 

12 November 2003

Shareholder’s enquiries

Contact information

Holders of common and preferred shares: Holders of GDRs:
JSC The Integrated Securities Registrar Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas
30A/3, Satpayeva St. 60 Wall Street, New York
Kazakhstan NY 10005, USA
Tel: +7 (727) 272 4760 Tel: +1 212 250 2500
Fax: +7 (727) 272 4766 SWIFT: BKTRUS33

Investor relations
Halyk Bank
Holders of GDRs:
Tel: +7 (727) 259 0427
Fax: +7 (727) 259 0464
Holders of common and preferred sheres:
Tel: +7 (727) 259 0599

Auditor
Deloitte LLP
Bldg B, Almaty Financial District, Almaty 
Kazakhstan
Tel: +7 (727) 258 1340
Fax: +7 (727) 258 1341

Registrar Depositary
JSC The Integrated Securities Registrar Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas
30A/3, Satpayeva St. 60 Wall Street, New York
Kazakhstan NY 10005, USA

Tel: +7 (727) 272 4760 Tel: +1 212 250 2500
Fax: +7 (727) 272 4766 SWIFT: BKTRUS33
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Representative offices

Representative office in Beijing, Peoples Republic of China
No.41 East Fourth Ring Road, Chaoyang District, Beijing
Room 2006, A TOWER, Jia Tai International Mansion
Post code: 100026
Tel/Fax: 65047265

Representative office in London, United Kingdom
68 Lombard Street, London EC3V 9LJ, United Kingdom
Tel: +44 (0) 20 7861 9530
Fax: +44 (0) 20 7861 9531

Regional branches

Astana regional branch
17, Kabanbay Batyr St., Astana, 010000
Tel: +7 7172 59 1114
Fax: +7 7172 59 1148

Aktobe regional branch
16B, Microdistrict 12, Aktobe, 030020
Tel: +7 7132 94 2403
Fax: +7 7132 94 2443

Almaty regional branch
101, Rozybakiyev St., Almaty, 050046
Tel: +7 727 259 7271
Fax: +7 727 330 1479

Atyrau regional branch
4, Satpayev Ave., Atyrau, 060011
Tel: +7 7122 27 0145
Fax: +7 7122 27 0143

Eastern Kazakhstan regional branch
57a, Gorky St., Ust-Kamenogorsk, 070004
Tel: +7 7232 59 3538
Fax: +7 7232 26 0888

Zhambyl regional branch
145, Zhambyl Ave., Taraz, 080000
Tel: +7 7262 59 5999, 45 9290, 45 2523
Fax: +7 7262 45 2523

Zheskazgan regional branch
31A, Seifullin Ave., Zheskazgan, 100600
Tel: +7 7102 76 4857
Fax: +7 7102 76 4857

Western Kazakhstan regional branch
194/1, Dostyk Ave., Uralsk, 090000
Tel: +7 7112 59 3920
Fax: +7 7112 59 3996

Karaganda regional branch
56, Teatralnaya St., Karaganda, 100008
Tel: +7 7212 58 9222, 56 3677
Fax: +7 7212 56 3677

Kostanay regional branch
146, Taran St., Kostanay, 110000
Tel: +7 7142 59 3388
Fax: +7 7142 54 0803

Kyzylorda regional branch
5, Kazybek bi, Kyzylorda, 120001
Tel: +7 7242 55 0001
Fax: +7 7242 55 0002

Mangistau regional branch
6, Microdistrict 9, Aktau, 130000
Tel: +7 7292 70 0101
Fax: +7 7292 70 0111

Pavlodar regional branch
1/1, Lermonotov St., Pavlodar, 140008
Tel: +7 7182 59 3685
Fax: +7 7182 32 3760

Northern Kazakhstan regional branch
36, Konstitutsiya St., Petropavlovsk, 150008
Tel/fax: +7 7152 59 5707

Semey regional branch
109, Abaya Kunanbayeva St., Semey, 071400
Tel: +7 7222 55 8803
Fax: +7 7222 55 8805

Southern Kazakhstan regional branch
2B, Beibitshilik St., Shymkent, 160012
Tel: +7 7252 58 9779
Fax: +7 7252 53 6660

Taldykorgan regional branch
22/1, Zhansugurov St., Taldykorgan, 040000
Tel: +7 7282 55 5000
Fax: +7 7282 55 5008

Akmola regional branch
33, Gorky St., Kokshetau, 020000
Tel: +7 7162 59 5472
Fax: +7 7162 31 1857

Baikonyr regional branch
16, Gorky St., Baikonyr, 468320
Tel: +7 33622 7 4654
Fax: +7 33622 7 0233

Zhanaozen regional branch
15, Zhalyn Microdistrict, Zhanaozen, 359900
Tel/fax: +7 729 34 3 4237

Ekibastuz regional branch
49A, Stroitelnaya St., Ekibastuz, 141200
Tel: +7 7187 34 8980
Fax: +7 7187 34 8981

Temirtau regional branch
26A, Respublika Ave., Temirtau, 101403
Tel: + 7 7213 93 3130
Fax: +7 7213 93 3131
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Subsidiaries

Halyk Bank Georgia
40, Shartava St., Tbilisi
Tel: +995 32 224 07 07

Halyk Inkassatsiya
26, Masanchi St., Almaty
Tel: +7 727 292 04 45

Halyk Leasing
96/98, Zheltoksan St., Almaty
Tel: +7 727 239 87 98

Halyk Finance
19/1, Al-Farabi St., Block 3B
Nurly Tau Business Center, Almaty
Tel: +7 727 244 65 40

Kazteleport
23, Bukhar Zhyrau St., Almaty
Tel/Fax: +7 727 392 58 92

Halyk Bank Kyrgyzstan
390, Frunze St., Bishkek, Kyrgyzstan
Tel: +996 312 614 128

Halyk Life
26, Masanchi St., Almaty
Tel: +7 727 244 62 22

NBK Bank
20, Malaya Ordynka St., Moscow
Russian Federation
Tel: +7 495 961 24 70

Kazakhinstrakh
109V, Abay Ave., Almaty
Tel: +7 727 259 98 48

Halyk-Project
96/98, Zheltoksan St., Almaty
Tel: + 7 727 259 65 78

Altyn Bank 
77/7, Al-Farabi St.
Esentay Business Centre, Almaty
Tel: +7 727 356 61 14 



Useful links

National Bank of the Republic of Kazakhstan
www.nationalbank.kz

Kazakhstan Stock Exchange (KASE)
www.kase.kz

London Stock Exchange (LSE)
www.londonstockexchange.com

Financial Conduct Authority (FCA)
www.fca.org.uk

Prudential Regulation Authority (PRA)
http://www.bankofengland.co.uk/pra
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